

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC

(incorporated with limited liability in England & Wales with registered no. 01417162)

£500,000,000 Fixed Rate Reset Perpetual Restricted Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Notes

Issue price: 100 per cent.

The issue of £500,000,000 Fixed Rate Reset Perpetual Restricted Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Notes (the "**Notes**") was (save in respect of any further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 16) authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of Legal & General Group Plc (the "**Issuer**" and "**Legal & General**") passed on 20 May 2020. The Notes will be issued by the Issuer on 24 June 2020 (the "**Issue Date**"). The Notes will constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer. The terms and conditions of the Notes are set out more fully in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*" (the "**Conditions**").

The Notes will bear interest on their principal amount from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) 24 September 2031 (the "First Reset Date") at a fixed rate of 5.625 per cent. per annum and thereafter at a fixed rate of interest which will be reset on the First Reset Date and on each fifth anniversary of the First Reset Date thereafter (each a "Reset Date") as provided in the Conditions. Interest will be payable on the Notes semi-annually in arrear on 24 March and 24 September in each year (each an "Interest Payment Date") commencing on 24 September 2020, subject to cancellation as provided below and as further described in the Conditions.

The Issuer may elect at any time to cancel (in whole or in part) any Interest Payment (as defined herein) otherwise scheduled to be paid on an Interest Payment Date and shall, save as otherwise permitted pursuant to the Conditions, cancel in full an Interest Payment upon the occurrence of a Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event (as defined herein) with respect to that Interest Payment. Any interest accrued in respect of an Interest Payment Date which falls on or after the date on which the Conversion Trigger Event (as defined herein) occurs shall also be cancelled. The cancellation or non-payment of any Interest Payment shall not constitute a default or event of default on the part of the Issuer for any purpose. Any Interest Payment (or part thereof) which is cancelled in accordance with the Conditions shall not accumulate or become due and payable in any circumstances. Subject as provided in the Conditions, all payments in respect of or arising from the Notes will be conditional upon the Issuer being solvent (as defined in the Conditions) at the time for payment and immediately thereafter.

Payments in respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer will be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, taxes of the United Kingdom, unless that withholding or deduction is required by law. In the event that any such withholding or deduction is made in respect of payments of interest (but not in respect of any payments of principal), additional amounts may be payable by the Issuer, subject to certain exceptions, all as more fully described in the Conditions

The Notes will be perpetual securities with no fixed redemption date. The Issuer shall only have the right to redeem or purchase the Notes in accordance with the Conditions. Holders of the Notes ("Noteholders") will have no right to require the Issuer to redeem or purchase the Notes at any time.

UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF A CONVERSION TRIGGER EVENT THE ISSUER'S OBLIGATIONS IN RELATION TO THE NOTES WILL BE PERMANENTLY AND AUTOMATICALLY RELEASED AND THE NOTES WILL BE IRREVOCABLY CONVERTED INTO ORDINARY SHARES OF THE ISSUER AT THE PREVAILING CONVERSION PRICE (AS DEFINED HEREIN).

Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange") for the Notes to be admitted to the London Stock Exchange's International Securities Market ("ISM"). References in this Offering Memorandum to Notes being "admitted to trading" (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes will be admitted to trading on the ISM. The ISM is not a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on Markets in Financial Instruments (as amended, "MIFID II").

The ISM is a market designated for professional investors. Notes admitted to trading on the ISM are not admitted to the Official List of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"). The London Stock Exchange has not approved or verified the contents of this Offering Memorandum.

This Offering Memorandum does not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended or superseded, (the "**Prospectus Regulation**") and, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, no prospectus is required in connection with the listing of the Notes.

The Notes are expected to be rated BBB by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited (UK Branch) ("S&P") and Baa3 by Moody's Investors Service Limited ("Moody's"). S&P is established in the European Union (the "EU") and Moody's is established in the United Kingdom. Both S&P and Moody's are registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 September 2009 on credit rating agencies (the "CRA

Regulation"). A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

The Notes will be issued in registered form in principal amounts of £200,000 and integral multiples of £1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes will be represented by a global certificate (the "Global Certificate") registered in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") on or about the Issue Date. Individual certificates ("Certificates") evidencing holdings of Notes will be available only in certain limited circumstances described under "Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

Potential investors should read the whole of this Offering Memorandum, in particular the section entitled "Risk Factors" set out on pages 27 to 54.

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available, to retail clients, as defined in MiFID II. Prospective investors are referred to the section headed "Prohibition on marketing and sales of Notes to retail investors" of this Offering Memorandum for further information.

Structuring Advisors

J.P. Morgan

HSBC

BofA Securities		Barclays
	Joint Lead Managers	
BofA Securities	Barclays	Citigroup

NatWest Markets

IMPORTANT NOTICES

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Memorandum. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Offering Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

This Offering Memorandum is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference").

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Offering Memorandum in connection with the issue, sale, listing and admission to trading of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of Barclays Bank PLC or Merrill Lynch International acting as structuring advisors and Barclays Bank PLC, Merrill Lynch International, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, HSBC Bank plc, J.P. Morgan Securities plc and NatWest Markets Plc acting as joint lead managers (the "Joint Lead Managers"). Neither the delivery of this Offering Memorandum nor the issue, sale, listing and admission to trading of the Notes in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented, or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented.

Save for the Issuer, no other person has separately verified the information contained herein. To the fullest extent permitted by law, neither the Joint Lead Managers nor The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (the "Trustee") accepts any responsibility for the contents of this Offering Memorandum or for any other statement made or purported to be made by the Trustee or a Joint Lead Manager or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue, sale, listing and admission to trading of the Notes. The Trustee and each Joint Lead Manager disclaims all and any liability to any investor whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Offering Memorandum or any such statement. Neither this Offering Memorandum nor any other information supplied in connection with the Notes is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer, the Trustee or the Joint Lead Managers that any reader of this Offering Memorandum or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Memorandum or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. Neither the Trustee nor the Joint Lead Managers undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Memorandum nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Joint Lead Managers or the Trustee.

Restrictions on marketing and sales

The Notes are complex financial instruments and are not a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors. In some jurisdictions, regulatory authorities have adopted or published laws, regulations or guidance with respect to the offer or sale of securities with features similar to the Notes to retail

investors. In particular, in June 2015, the FCA published the Product Intervention (Contingent Convertible Instruments and Mutual Society Shares) Instrument 2015 (the "PI Instrument"). In addition, (i) on 1 January 2018, the provisions of Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014 on key information documents for packaged and retail and insurance-based investment products ("PRIIPs") became directly applicable in all European Economic Area ("EEA") member states including the United Kingdom and (ii) MiFID II was required to be implemented in EEA member states including the United Kingdom by 3 January 2018. Together the PI Instrument, PRIIPs and MiFID II are referred to as the "Regulations".

Each of the Joint Lead Managers is required to comply with some or all of the Regulations.

The Regulations set out various obligations in relation to (i) the manufacture and distribution of financial instruments and (ii) the offering, sale and distribution of packaged retail and insurance-based investment products and certain contingent write down or convertible securities, such as the Notes. Please also see the section below entitled 'Prohibition on marketing and sales of Notes to retail investors'.

By purchasing, or making or accepting an offer to purchase, any Notes (or a beneficial interest in such Notes) from the Issuer and/or any Joint Lead Manager, each prospective investor represents, warrants, agrees with, and undertakes to, the Issuer and each of the Joint Lead Managers that:

- (A) it is not a retail client (as defined in MiFID II);
- (B) whether or not it is subject to the Regulations, it will not:
 - (i) sell or offer the Notes (or any beneficial interests therein) to retail clients (as defined in MiFID II); or
 - (ii) communicate (including the distribution of this Offering Memorandum, in preliminary or final form) or approve any invitation or inducement to participate in, acquire or underwrite the Notes (or any beneficial interests therein) where that invitation or inducement is addressed to or disseminated in such a way that it is likely to be received by a retail client (in each case within the meaning of MiFID II); and
 - (iii) in selling or offering Notes or making or approving communications relating to the Notes, each prospective investor may not rely on the limited exceptions set out in the PI Instrument; and
- (C) it will at all times comply with all applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance (whether inside or outside the EEA or the UK) relating to the promotion, offering, distribution and/or sale of the Notes (or any beneficial interests therein), including (without limitation) MiFID II and any other applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance relating to determining the appropriateness and/or suitability of an investment in the Notes (or any beneficial interests therein) by investors in any relevant jurisdiction.

Each prospective investor further acknowledges that:

- the identified target market for the Notes (for the purposes of the product governance obligations in MiFID II) is eligible counterparties and professional clients (each as defined in MiFID II); and
- (B) no key information document ("**KID**") under PRIIPs has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor may be unlawful under PRIIPs.

Potential investors in the Notes should inform themselves of, and comply with, any applicable laws, regulations or regulatory guidance with respect to any resale of the Notes (or any beneficial interests therein) including the Regulations. Please also see the risk factor below entitled 'The Notes are complex financial instruments and are not a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors'.

Where acting as agent on behalf of a disclosed or undisclosed client when purchasing, or making or accepting an offer to purchase, any Notes (or any beneficial interest therein) from the Issuer and/or any of the Joint Lead Managers, the foregoing representations, warranties, agreements and undertakings will be given by and be binding on both the agent and its underlying client(s).

Prohibition on marketing and sales of Notes to retail investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available, to any retail investor. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no KID required by PRIIPs for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under PRIIPs.

Professional investors and ECPs only target market

Solely for the purposes of each manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in MiFID II; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturers' target market assessment. However, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturers' target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

Notification under section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018")

In connection with Section 309B of the SFA and the CMP Regulations 2018, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all persons (including all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA)), that the Notes are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in Monetary Authority of Singapore ("MAS") Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Restrictions on marketing and sales in the United States ("U.S." and "United States") and to U.S. persons

The distribution of this Offering Memorandum and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Memorandum comes are required by the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the U.S. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered or sold within the U.S. or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S")).

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the U.S. to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Offering Memorandum, see "Subscription and Sale".

The Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, any State securities commission in the U.S. or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor has any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of Notes or the accuracy or the adequacy of this Offering Memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the U.S.

Notice to prospective investors in Canada

This Offering Memorandum constitutes an "exempt offering document" as defined in and for the purposes of applicable Canadian securities laws. No prospectus has been filed with any securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. No securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada has reviewed or in any way passed upon this Offering Memorandum or on the merits of the Notes and any representation to the contrary is an offence.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide Canadian investors with remedies for rescission or damages if an "offering memorandum" such as this Offering Memorandum (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any

applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

The offer and sale of the Notes in Canada is being made on a private placement basis only and is exempt from the requirement that the Issuer prepares and files a prospectus under applicable Canadian securities laws. The Notes may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and that are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the Notes must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws.

Upon receipt of this document, each Canadian investor hereby confirms that it has expressly requested that all documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of the securities described herein (including for greater certainty any purchase confirmation or any notice) be drawn up in the English language only. Par la réception de ce document, chaque investisseur canadien confirme par les présentes qu'il a expressément exigé que tous les documents faisant foi ou se rapportant de quelque manière que ce soit à la vente des valeurs mobilières décrites aux présentes (incluant, pour plus de certitude, toute confirmation d'achat ou tout avis) soient rédigés en anglais seulement.

General restrictions on marketing and sales

This Offering Memorandum does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

Stabilisation

In connection with the issue of the Notes, the Joint Lead Manager(s) (if any) named as the stabilising manager(s) (the "Stabilising Manager(s)") (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the final terms of the offer of the Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the Issue Date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any stabilisation action or over- allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Forward looking statements

This Offering Memorandum includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, "forward-looking statements". These forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms "believes", "estimates", "plans", "projects", "anticipates", "expects", "intends", "may", "will" or "should" or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy, plans, objectives, goals, future events or intentions. These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this Offering Memorandum and include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the intentions of the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries (the "**Group**"), beliefs or

current expectations concerning, among other things, the Group's business, results of operations, financial position, prospects, dividends, growth and strategies.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and the actual results of the Group's operations, its financial position and dividends, and the development of the markets and the industries in which the Group operates may differ materially from those described in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum. In addition, even if the Group's results of operations and financial position, and the development of the markets and the industries in which the Group operates, are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum, those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.

Forward-looking statements may and often do differ materially from actual results. Any forward-looking statements in this Offering Memorandum reflects the Group's current view with respect to future events and are subject to risks relating to future events and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition, prospects, dividends, growth and strategies. Investors should specifically consider the factors identified in this Offering Memorandum, which could cause actual results to differ, before making an investment decision. Subject to any obligations under admission to trading rules of the ISM (as amended from time to time), the Issuer undertakes no obligation publicly to release the result of any revisions to any forward-looking statements in this Offering Memorandum that may occur due to any change in the Issuer's expectations or to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Offering Memorandum.

Alternative Performance Measures

Certain alternative performance measures ("APMs") are included or referred to in this Offering Memorandum (including the annual report and audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 incorporated by reference). APMs are financial measures of historic or future financial performance, financial position or cash flows, other than financial measures defined under IFRS and "Solvency II" (that is, Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union of 25 November, 2009 on the takingup and pursuit of the business of insurance and reinsurance (the "Solvency II Directive") and any additional measures adopted pursuant to the Solvency II Directive (for the avoidance of doubt, whether implemented by way of regulation (including, without limitation, Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/35 of 10 October 2014 supplementing Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the taking-up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance), directive, application of guidelines issued by the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority ("EIOPA") or otherwise). The Issuer considers that these measures provide useful information to enhance the understanding of financial performance. The APMs should be viewed as complementary to, rather than a substitute for, the figures determined according to other regulatory measures. An explanation of each such metric's components and calculation method can be found at pages 256 to 260 (incorporated by reference herein) of the annual report and audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Currencies

In this Offering Memorandum and the information incorporated by reference herein, references to "£", "pounds sterling" or "GBP" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, references to "USD", "U.S. dollars", "U.S.\$", "\$US", "US¢" or "cents" are to the lawful currency of the United States, and references to "Euro", "euro" or "€" are to the euro, the lawful currency of the member states of the EU that adopted the Euro in Stage Three of the Treaty establishing the Economic and Monetary Union on 1 January 1999.

No profit forecast

No statement in this Offering Memorandum is intended as a profit forecast and no statement in this Offering Memorandum should be interpreted to mean that earnings per ordinary share of the Issuer (a "Share" or "Ordinary Share") for the current or future financial years would necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings per Share.

Table of Contents

Overview of the Principal Features of the Notes	11
Risk Factors	27
Documents Incorporated by Reference	55
Terms and Conditions of the Notes	57
Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form	125
Use of Proceeds	129
Information on the Issuer and the Group	130
Description of the Ordinary Shares	135
Regulatory Overview	149
Taxation	152
Subscription and Sale	154
General Information	158

Overview of the Principal Features of the Notes

The following overview refers to certain provisions of the terms and conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed and is qualified by the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum. Terms which are defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below have the same meaning when used in this overview, and references herein to a numbered "Condition" shall refer to the relevant Condition in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

Issuer Legal & General Group Plc

Group The Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken together.

Structuring Advisors Barclays Bank PLC and Merrill Lynch International

Joint Lead Managers Bark PLC, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, HSBC

Bank plc, J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Merrill Lynch International,

and NatWest Markets Plc

Trustee The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and Transfer Agent Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Registrar Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Conversion Calculation

Agent

Conv-Ex Advisors Limited

Notes £500,000,000 Fixed Rate Reset Perpetual Restricted Tier 1

Contingent Convertible Notes.

Issue Date 24 June 2020

Issue Price 100 per cent.

Perpetual Securities The Notes will be perpetual Notes with no fixed maturity or

redemption date, and the holders of the Notes (the "Noteholders") will have no right to require the Issuer to redeem

or purchase the Notes at any time.

Status and Subordination The Notes will constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated

obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu and without any

preference among themselves.

The rights and claims of the Noteholders against the Issuer will

be subordinated as described in Condition 3 (Status).

Interest Rate

The Notes will bear interest on their principal amount:

- (i) from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) 24 September 2031 (the "First Reset Date") at a fixed rate of 5.625 per cent. per annum; and
- (ii) thereafter at a fixed rate of interest which will be reset on the First Reset Date and on each fifth anniversary of the First Reset Date thereafter (each such date, a "Reset Date") as the sum of the applicable Reset Reference Rate, plus the Margin.

Interest will, subject as described below in "Cancellation of Interest Payments", "Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments" and "Interest Payments Discretionary", be payable on the Notes semi-annually in arrear on 24 March and 24 September (each, an "Interest Payment Date") in each year, commencing on 24 September 2020 (short first Interest Period).

Cancellation of Interest Payments

If the Issuer does not make an Interest Payment (or part thereof) on the relevant Interest Payment Date, such non-payment shall evidence:

- the cancellation of such Interest Payment in accordance with the provisions described under "Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments" below;
- (ii) the cancellation of such Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) in accordance with Condition 6.9 (*Accrued Interest on Conversion*); or
- (iii) the Issuer's exercise of its discretion otherwise to cancel such Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) as described under "Interest Payments Discretionary" below.

Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments

Subject to certain limited exceptions as more fully described in the Conditions, the Issuer shall be required to cancel in full any Interest Payment if:

- the Solvency Condition is not met at the time for payment of such Interest Payment, or would cease to be met immediately following, and as a result of making, such Interest Payment (having regard also to any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto);
- (ii) there is non-compliance with the Solvency Capital Requirement at the time for payment of such Interest Payment, or non-compliance with the Solvency Capital

Requirement would occur immediately following, and as a result of making, such Interest Payment (having regard also to any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto);

- (iii) there is non-compliance with the Minimum Capital Requirement at the time for payment of such Interest Payment, or non-compliance with the Minimum Capital Requirement would occur immediately following, and as a result of making, such Interest Payment (having regard also to any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto);
- (iv) the amount of such Interest Payment, together with any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto, when aggregated together with any interest payments or distributions which have been paid or made or which are scheduled simultaneously to be paid or made on all Tier 1 Own Funds (excluding any such payments which do not reduce the Issuer's Distributable Items and any payments already accounted for by way of deduction in determining the Issuer's Distributable Items) since the end of the latest financial year of the Issuer and prior to, or on, such Interest Payment Date, would exceed the amount of the Issuer's Distributable Items as at the Interest Payment Date in respect of such Interest Payment; or
- (v) the Issuer is otherwise required by the Relevant Regulator or under the Relevant Rules to cancel the relevant Interest Payment.

The Issuer shall not be required to cancel an Interest Payment where a Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event has occurred and is continuing, or would occur if payment of interest on the Notes were to be made, to the extent permitted by the Relevant Rules, where:

- (A) the Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event is of the type described in paragraph (ii) above only;
- (B) the Relevant Regulator has exceptionally waived the cancellation of the Interest Payment;
- (C) payment of the Interest Payment would not further weaken the solvency position of the Issuer or the Group;
 and

(D) the Minimum Capital Requirement will be complied with immediately following such Interest Payment, if made.

Issuer's Distributable Items

With respect to and as at any Interest Payment Date, without double-counting, an amount equal to:

- the Distributable Profits of the Issuer, calculated on an unconsolidated basis, as at the last day of the then most recently ended financial year of the Issuer; either, plus
- (ii) the interim Distributable Profits (if any) of the Issuer, calculated on an unconsolidated basis, for the period from the Issuer's then latest financial year end to (but excluding) such Interest Payment Date; or less
- (iii) the interim net realised losses (if any) of the Issuer, calculated on an unconsolidated basis, for the period from the Issuer's then latest financial year end to (but excluding) such Interest Payment Date.

Interest Payments Discretionary

Interest on the Notes will be due and payable only at the sole and absolute discretion of the Issuer, subject to the additional restrictions set out in the Conditions. Accordingly, the Issuer may at any time elect to cancel any interest payment (or part thereof) which would otherwise be due and payable on any Interest Payment Date.

Solvency Condition

Other than in a winding-up or administration of the Issuer, or in relation to the cash component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, all payments in respect of or arising from the Notes (including any damages for breach of any obligations but excluding any cash component of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) shall be conditional upon the Issuer being solvent at the time for payment by the Issuer and no amount shall be due and payable by the Issuer in respect of or arising from (including any damages for breach of any obligations under) the Notes except to the extent that the Issuer could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter.

The Issuer will be solvent if (i) it is able to pay its debts owed to Pari Passu Creditors and Senior Creditors as they fall due and (ii) its Assets exceed its Liabilities.

Any payment of interest that would have been due and payable but for the Solvency Condition being satisfied shall be cancelled.

For this purpose:

"Assets" means the unconsolidated gross assets of the Issuer as shown in the latest published audited balance sheet of the Issuer, but adjusted for subsequent events, all in such manner as the Directors may determine.

"Liabilities" means the unconsolidated gross liabilities of the Issuer as shown in the latest published audited balance sheet of the Issuer but adjusted for contingent liabilities and for subsequent events, all in such manner as the Directors may determine.

"Pari Passu Creditors" means the holders of securities of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Notes in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital (including, without limitation, shares of any class which may be issued or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Notional Preference Shares in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital).

"Senior Creditors" means creditors of the Issuer:

- (i) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer (including, without limitation, all policyholders of the Issuer and all beneficiaries under contracts of insurance of the Issuer); or
- (ii) other creditors of the Issuer whose claims are, or are expressed to be subordinated to the claims of other creditors of the Issuer (other than those whose claims constitute or would, but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital, constitute (i) Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer, or (ii) claims otherwise ranking, or expressed to rank, pari passu with, or junior to, the claims of the Noteholders in a winding-up or administration of the Issuer occurring prior to a Conversion Trigger Event).

Redemption at the option of the Issuer

Subject to certain conditions, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes, on (i) any day falling in the period commencing on (and including) 24 March 2031 and ending on (and including) the First Reset Date or (ii) any Reset Date thereafter at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

Redemption, substitution or variation at the option

Subject to certain conditions, if:

of the Issuer due to a Tax Event

(i)

- as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction, or any change in the application or official interpretation of the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction (a "Tax Event"), which change or amendment becomes effective after the Relevant Issue Date: (a) the Issuer would (if it were to make a payment of interest on such date) be required to pay Additional Amounts on the next Interest Payment Date; or (b) the Issuer would no longer be entitled to claim a deduction in respect of the payment of interest in computing its taxation liabilities for United Kingdom tax purposes, or such entitlement would be materially reduced; or (c) in respect of the payment of interest, the Issuer would not to any material extent be entitled to have any attributable loss or non-trading deficit set against the profits (assuming there are any) of companies with which it is grouped for applicable United Kingdom tax purposes (whether under the group relief system current as at the Relevant Issue Date or any similar system or systems having like effect as may from time to time exist); or (d) the Issuer would be subject to a tax liability in a Relevant Jurisdiction, or the receipt of income or profit would be subject to tax in a Relevant Jurisdiction, if a Conversion Trigger Event or a Conversion were to occur; or (e) the Issuer suffers or would suffer any other material adverse tax consequence in connection with the Notes in a Relevant Jurisdiction; and
- (ii) the effect of the foregoing cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

the Issuer may, upon notice to the Noteholders either (at its sole discretion):

- (A) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption; or
- (B) substitute at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Qualifying Tier 1 Notes.

Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event

Subject to certain conditions, if at any time a Capital Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing, or, as a result of any change in, or amendment to, or any change in the application or official interpretation of, any applicable law, regulation or other official publication, a Capital Disqualification

Event will occur within the forthcoming period of six months, then the Issuer may, upon notice to Noteholders either (at its sole discretion):

- (i) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption; or
- (ii) substitute at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Qualifying Tier 1 Notes.

A "Capital Disqualification Event" is deemed to have occurred if, as a result of any replacement of or change to (or change to the interpretation by any court or authority entitled to do so of) the Relevant Rules, the whole or any part of the Notes are no longer capable of counting as Tier 1 Capital for the purposes of the Issuer, the Group or any insurance or reinsurance undertaking within the Group whether on a solo, group or consolidated basis (except where such non-qualification is only as a result of any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital).

Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event Subject to certain conditions, if at any time a Ratings Methodology Event has occurred and is continuing, or, as a result of any change in or clarification to the methodology of any Rating Agency (or in the interpretation of such methodology by such Rating Agency), a Ratings Methodology Event will occur within the forthcoming period of six months, then the Issuer may, upon notice to Noteholders either:

- (i) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption; or
- (ii) substitute at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Rating Agency Compliant Notes.

A "Ratings Methodology Event" will be deemed to occur upon a change in methodology of any Rating Agency (or in the interpretation of such methodology) as a result of which the "equity content" (or such other nomenclature as may be used by the Rating Agency from time to time to describe the degree to which the terms of an instrument are supportive of an issuer's senior obligations in terms of either leverage of total capital)

assigned by that Rating Agency to the Notes is, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, materially reduced when compared to the "equity content" assigned by that Rating Agency to the Notes around the Issue Date or (if any further tranche(s) of the Notes has or have been issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues) and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes and the "equity content" assigned by the relevant Rating Agency on the issue date of such tranche is lower than the "equity content" assigned to the Notes on or around the Issue Date) the Relevant Issue Date;

Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer

Subject to certain conditions, if at any time after the Issue Date 80 per cent. or more of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any Further Notes will be deemed to have been originally issued) has been purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and cancelled, then the Issuer may, at its option (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders), redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding, together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

Purchases

Subject to certain conditions, the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes in any manner and at any price.

Conditions to redemption and purchase

To the extent required pursuant to the Relevant Rules at the relevant time, and save as otherwise permitted pursuant to Condition 7.3 (Waiver of Redemption and Purchase Condition relating to Solvency Capital Requirement by the Relevant Regulator), the Issuer may not redeem or purchase any Notes unless each of the following conditions is satisfied:

- (i) in the case of a redemption or purchase of the Notes prior to the fifth anniversary of the Relevant Issue Date, either
 - (A) such redemption or purchase is funded out of the proceeds of a new issuance of, or the Notes are exchanged into, Tier 1 Own Funds of the same or a higher quality than the Notes; or
 - (B) in the case of any redemption following a Tax Event or Capital Disqualification Event, the Relevant Regulator is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement will be exceeded by an appropriate margin immediately after such redemption (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and the Group, including by reference to the Issuer's and

the Group's medium-term capital management plans); and

- (1) in the case of any such redemption following the occurrence of a Tax Event, the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Regulatory that the applicable change in tax treatment is material; or
- (2) in the case of any such redemption following the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event, the Relevant Regulator considers that the relevant change in the regulatory classification of the Notes is sufficiently certain; and
- (3) in either case, the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Regulator that such change was not reasonably foreseeable as at the Relevant Issue Date
- (ii) in respect of any redemption or purchase of the Notes occurring on or after the fifth anniversary of the Relevant Issue Date and before the tenth anniversary of the Relevant Issue Date, the Relevant Regulator has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement is exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and the Group, including by reference to the Issuer's and the Group's medium-term capital management plans) at the time or, and immediately following, such redemption or purchase, unless such redemption or purchase is funded out of the proceeds of a new issuance of, or the Notes are exchanged into, Tier 1 Own Funds of the same or a higher quality than the Notes;
- (iii) the Solvency Condition is met immediately prior to the redemption or purchase of the Notes (as applicable) and the redemption or purchase (as applicable) would not cause the Solvency Condition to be breached;
- (iv) the Solvency Capital Requirement is met immediately prior to the redemption or purchase of the Notes (as applicable) and the redemption or purchase (as applicable) would not cause the Solvency Capital Requirement to be breached;
- (v) the Minimum Capital Requirement is met immediately prior to the redemption or purchase of the Notes (as

applicable) and the redemption or purchase (as applicable) would not cause the Minimum Capital Requirement to be breached;

- (vi) no Insolvent Insurer Winding-up has occurred and is continuing;
- (vii) the Regulatory Clearance Condition is satisfied; and
- (viii) any other additional or alternative requirements or preconditions to which the Issuer is otherwise subject and which may be imposed by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules have (in addition or in the alternative to the foregoing subparagraphs, as the case may be) been complied with (and shall continue to be complied with following the proposed redemption or purchase).

Preconditions to redemption, variation, substitution or purchase

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption, variation or substitution pursuant to Condition 7.7 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event), Condition 7.8 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event) or Condition 7.9 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event) or Condition 7.11 (Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer stating that, as the case may be, the Issuer is entitled to redeem the Notes on the grounds that a Tax Event, a Capital Disqualification Event or a Ratings Methodology Event has occurred and is continuing or, for the purposes of Condition 7.11 (Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer), that 80 per cent. or more of the appropriate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any Further Notes will be deemed to have been originally issued) has been purchased and cancelled, in any such case as at the date of the certificate or, as the case may be, (in the case of a Capital Disqualification Event or a Ratings Methodology Event) will occur within a period of six (6) months and that it would have been reasonable for the Issuer to conclude, judged at the Relevant Issue Date, that such Tax Event, Capital Disqualification Event or Ratings Methodology Event was unlikely to occur.

In the case of a Tax Event, the Issuer shall also deliver to the Trustee an opinion from a nationally recognised law firm or other tax adviser in the applicable Relevant Jurisdiction experienced in such matters to the effect that the relevant requirement or circumstance referred to in Condition 7.7(A) applies or (where applicable) will apply on the next Interest Payment Date (save

that such opinion need not provide any confirmation as to whether the Issuer could avoid the occurrence of the relevant Tax Event by taking measures reasonably available to it).

The Issuer shall not be entitled to amend or otherwise vary the terms of the Notes or substitute the Notes unless:

- (i) it has notified the Relevant Regulator in writing of its intention to do so; and
- (ii) the Regulatory Clearance Condition has been satisfied.

Withholding tax and additional amounts

Payments on the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Relevant Jurisdiction unless the withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In any such event, the Issuer will, subject to certain exceptions set out in Condition 9 (Taxation), pay such additional amounts in respect of Interest Payments, but not in respect of any payments of principal, as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would have been received in respect of the Notes in the absence of the withholding or deduction.

"Relevant Jurisdiction" means the United Kingdom or political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes.

Enforcement

If default is made by the Issuer in the payment of principal in respect of the Notes and such default continues for a period of 14 days or more, the Trustee may at its discretion, and if so requested by Noteholders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by Extraordinary Resolution shall (but in each case subject to it having been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), institute proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer in England and Wales (but not elsewhere), subject to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.

In the event of an Issuer Winding-Up (whether in England and Wales or elsewhere and whether or not instituted by the Trustee), the Trustee may prove in the winding-up of the Issuer and/or (as the case may be) claim in the liquidation or administration of the Issuer, such claim being as provided in, and subordinated in the

manner described in, Condition 3.3 (*Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event*) or Condition 3.4 (*Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event*), as applicable.

The Trustee may at its discretion and without further notice institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any term or Condition binding on the Issuer under the Trust Deed or the Notes (other than any payment obligation of the Issuer under or arising from the Notes or the Trust Deed, or in respect of any damages awarded for breach of any obligations thereunder, but excluding any payments made to the Trustee acting on its own account under the Trust Deed) but in no event shall the Issuer, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or sums, in cash or otherwise, sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

Conversion

If a Conversion Trigger Event occurs, each Note shall be irrevocably released and discharged on a permanent basis in consideration for the issue and delivery of Ordinary Shares by the Issuer, credited as fully paid, to the Conversion Shares Depositary to be held on trust for the Noteholders, as described in the Conditions.

Conversion Trigger Event

A Conversion Trigger Event shall occur if at any time:

- the amount of Own Fund Items eligible and available to cover the Solvency Capital Requirement is equal to or less than 75 per cent. of the Solvency Capital Requirement;
- (ii) the amount of Own Fund Items eligible and available to cover the Minimum Capital Requirement is equal to or less than the Minimum Capital Requirement; or
- (iii) a breach of the Solvency Capital Requirement has occurred and such breach has not been remedied within a period of three months from the date on which the breach was first observed.

Whether the Conversion Trigger Event has occurred at any time shall be determined by the Issuer, and such determination shall (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Trustee and the Noteholders.

Conversion Price

The Conversion Price per Ordinary Share in respect of the Notes is £1.6310, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments.

Conversion Shares Offer

Not later than the 30th Business Day following the Conversion Date, the Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, make an election that the Conversion Shares Depositary (or any agent(s) on its behalf) will make an offer, in the Issuer's sole and absolute discretion, of all or some of the Eligible Conversion Shares to, in the Issuer's sole and absolute discretion, all or some of the Issuer's Shareholders at such time, such offer to be at a price (the "Conversion Shares Offer Price") determined by the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion, provided that the Conversion Shares Offer Price shall not be lower than the Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price. For the avoidance of doubt, the Conversion Shares Offer Price may be lower than the Conversion Price. The Issuer may, on behalf of the Conversion Shares Depositary, appoint one or more Conversion Shares Offer Agents to act as a placement or other agent to facilitate the Conversion Shares Offer.

Following delivery of a Conversion Trigger Notice and prior to the 5th Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer described therein, each Noteholder shall be entitled to give notice to the Conversion Shares Depositary that it elects to receive Conversion Shares such that those Conversion Shares attributable to it are not eligible for inclusion in the Conversion Shares Offer (each such notice being an "Opt-Out Notice").

"Eligible Conversion Shares" means all Conversion Shares in respect of which an Opt-Out Notice has not been received prior to the 5th Business Day preceding the commencement of the relevant Conversion Shares Offer.

The Conversion Shares Offer Period shall commence no earlier than 10 Business Days after the giving of the Conversion Shares Offer Notice by the Issuer and shall end no later than 40 Business Days after the giving of the Conversion Shares Offer Notice by the Issuer.

Upon expiry of the Conversion Shares Offer Period, the Conversion Shares Depositary will provide notice to the Noteholders of the composition of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration (and of the deductions to the cash component, if any, of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration (as set out in the definition of Conversion Shares Offer Consideration)) per Calculation Amount and the amount (if any) of any Excess Amount (as defined in "Conversion Shares Offer Consideration" below). The Conversion Shares Offer Consideration shall be held on trust by the Conversion Shares Depositary for the Noteholders, and any Excess Amount shall be held on trust by the Conversion Shares Depositary for the Issuer until paid to or

to the order of the Issuer. The cash component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration shall be payable by the Conversion Shares Depositary to the Noteholders in Sterling irrespective of whether or not the Solvency Condition is satisfied.

"Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price" means the price per Conversion Share specified as such in the Conversion Shares Offer Notice. The Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price to be so specified shall be:

- if the Ordinary Shares are then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Current Market Price as at the Conversion Date; or
- (ii) if the Ordinary Shares are not then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Fair Market Value of a Conversion Share as at the Conversion Date.

Conversion Shares Offer Consideration

In respect of each Note for which no Opt-Out Notice is received by the Conversion Share Depositary from a Noteholder prior to the fifth Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer and as determined by the Conversion Calculation Agent:

- (i) if all of the Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer, the pro rata share of the cash proceeds from the sale of such Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Note translated, if necessary, into Sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the last day of the Conversion Shares Offer Period (less any foreign exchange transaction costs);
- (ii) if some but not all of such Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer:
 - (A) the pro rata share of the cash proceeds from the sale of such Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Notes translated, if necessary, into Sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the last day of the Conversion Shares Offer Period (less any foreign exchange transaction costs); and
 - (B) the pro rata share of such Eligible Conversion Shares not sold pursuant to the Conversion Shares Offer attributable to such Notes rounded down to the nearest whole number of Ordinary Shares; and
- (iii) if no Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in a Conversion Shares Offer, the relevant Eligible Conversion Shares

attributable to such Notes rounded down to the nearest whole number of Ordinary Shares,

subject, in the case of paragraphs (i) and (ii)(A), to deduction from any such cash proceeds of an amount equal to the pro rata share of any stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, or any other capital, issue, transfer, registration, financial transaction or documentary tax that may arise or be paid as a consequence of the transfer of any interest in such Eligible Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary (or Conversion Shares Offer Agent(s) (if any)) as a consequence of the Conversion Shares Offer;

provided that if the cash component (if any) of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration in respect of a Note determined in accordance with the foregoing (after the deductions referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph) would exceed the product of (a) the principal amount of such Note and (b) the proportion (expressed as a percentage) of the Eligible Conversion Shares sold in the Conversion Shares Offer (such excess, the "Excess Amount"), the Excess Amount shall not form part of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, and shall instead be payable to the Issuer as provided in Condition 6.6(F).

Ordinary Shares

The Conversion Shares issued and delivered on the Share Delivery Date will be fully paid and non-assessable and will in all aspects rank *pari passu* with the fully paid Ordinary Shares in issue on the Share Delivery Date, save as provided in the Conditions.

Form

The Notes will be issued in registered form and represented upon issue by a global certificate (the "Global Certificate") which will be registered in the name of a nominee for a common depositary (the "Common Depositary") for Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") on or about the Issue Date.

Denomination

The Notes will be issued in denominations of £200,000 each and integral multiples of £1,000 in excess thereof.

Meetings of Noteholders

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Conditions may also be amended with Noteholder consent given by way of (i) a written resolution executed, or (ii) electronic consents given through the relevant clearing system(s), in each

case by or on behalf of the holders of 75 per cent. in principal

amount of the Notes outstanding.

Admission to trading Application will be made for the Notes to be admitted to trading

on the ISM.

Ratings The Notes are expected to be assigned a rating of BBB by S&P

and Baa3 by Moody's.

Governing Law The Notes and the Trust Deed, and any non-contractual

obligations arising out of or in connection therewith, will be

governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

ISIN XS2190956941

Common Code 219095694

Clearing Systems Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg

Selling Restrictions The Notes and any Ordinary Shares which may be delivered

upon conversion of the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States. The Notes may be sold in other jurisdictions only in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. See "Subscription and

Sale" below.

Use of Proceeds The net proceeds of the Notes will be used for the general

corporate purposes of the Group.

Risk Factors

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks. The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Any of these risk factors, individually or in the aggregate, could have an adverse effect on the Group and the impact each risk could have on the Group is set out below.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the Issuer may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with the Notes for other reasons, and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum (including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Capitalised terms which are defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" have the same meaning when used in this section.

1. Risks relating to the Group's business activities and industry

This section details certain risk factors which could affect the Group's future results of operations and cause them to be materially different from past results or from expected results. The factors detailed in this section should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties.

1.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group is exposed to loss if another party fails to perform its financial obligations to the Group, particularly where proceeds from its investments or its reinsurance arrangements are not available as expected. A counterparty default could create an immediate loss or a reduction in future profits, depending on where the loss occurred in the business. Such losses could have adverse impacts on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The significant areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are the following:

(A) the Group holds corporate bonds and sovereign debt within its portfolios of investment assets to back its insurance liabilities. There is a risk that the issuers of such bonds may default upon their payment obligations, resulting in financial loss to the Group (although this risk is allowed for in the actuarial valuation of the insurance liabilities, which allow for the probability of default, and is restricted by regulatory limits on the levels of high-risk assets which may be held for the purpose of demonstrating solvency) and operational disruption to the Group's business processes. Systemic corporate sector failures, or a major sovereign debt event, could in extreme scenarios trigger defaults impacting the value of the Group's bond portfolios. A widespread widening of credit spreads and downgrades can also result in a reduction in the Group's Solvency II balance sheet surplus, despite the Group setting aside significant capital for credit risk;

- (B) the Group is exposed to counterparty default risk in connection with the derivatives held to hedge guarantees and other financial risks to which the Group may be exposed;
- (C) the Group limits its exposure to insurance risk by ceding part of the risks it assumes to the reinsurance market. When the Group obtains reinsurance it remains primarily liable for the re-insured risks, regardless of whether the reinsurer meets its reinsurance obligations. Therefore, there is a risk that one or more reinsurers may default upon their reinsurance obligations which could affect the Group's business profitability to the extent any collateral mechanism, if such a mechanism is in place, also fails. Credit risk syndication also exposes the Group to counterparty default risks with the Group being required to carry an element of associated risk capital requirement on its balance sheet should the business not be re-brokered on the same terms;
- (D) the Group holds property lending and sale and leaseback investments and is inherently exposed to the risk of default by a borrower or tenant;
- (E) the Group is exposed to default risk where it undertakes property lending, with exposure to loss if an accrued debt exceeds the value of security taken; and
- (F) the Group is also exposed to the risk of defaults by money market counterparties and providers of investment settlement, banking, custody and other bespoke business services.

1.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group is exposed to financial loss as a direct or indirect result of fluctuations in the value of, or income from, specific assets. The Group holds a broad range of investment assets including equities, bonds, property, cash and direct investments such as property lending and sale and leaseback investments for the purposes of meeting its obligations under contracts of insurance, prudential capital requirements and for generating returns to shareholders. A range of factors influence the value of and income from these investment assets, including the performance and liquidity of investment markets, interest rate movements and inflation. A reduction in the value of these assets relative to contracted obligations or targeted returns will directly or indirectly affect the reported financial results and capital requirements of the Group.

Uncertainty, fluctuations or negative trends in international economic and investment climates could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business and profitability and pose a material risk to the Group's results of operations and financial condition.

Asset values may also be adversely affected by factors such as the temporary closure of markets, uncertainty over the operation of financial instruments and the imposition of capital controls, all of

which could adversely impact the Group's businesses and financial condition. Shocks to financial markets, in the extreme, could also adversely impact the Group's ability to execute hedging strategies that ensure the profiles of the Group's asset and liability cash flows are appropriately matched.

As well as reducing the value of assets backing the obligations and capital of the Group, significant falls in investment asset values can also result in a reduction in earnings from investment management, can affect the flows of funds to and from the Group's Investment Management businesses and can increase the cost of guarantees in certain long term products. Interest rate expectations leading to falls in the risk free yield curve can also create a greater degree of inherent volatility to be managed in the Solvency II balance sheet than the underlying economic position would dictate, potentially impacting capital requirements and surplus capital. The value of, and income generated from, investment assets denominated in currencies other than sterling and the sterling profits and value of holdings in overseas subsidiaries can also be adversely impacted by fluctuations in exchange rates. In addition, lifetime mortgages include a no-negative equity guarantee which transfers to the Group an exposure to loss as a result of low house price inflation and an exposure on specific properties which may underperform.

More broadly, the performance of financial markets and economic conditions can influence the purchase by customers of retail financial services products, and how long they are retained, adversely affecting new business volumes as well as existing business.

1.3 Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk of loss or adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities resulting from differing experience to that assumed within product pricing and provisions or from revision of the assumptions underlying provisions from one period to the next. The pricing of long-term insurance business requires the setting of assumptions for long-term trends in factors such as mortality, morbidity, longevity, lapse rates and persistency, valuation interest rates, expenses and credit defaults, as well as the availability of assets with appropriate returns. Assumptions are determined on actuarial principles. However, the Group is inherently exposed to the risk that actual experience may differ to that assumed, resulting in unanticipated loss or the need to recalibrate these assumptions reducing profitability, which could impact the Group's results of operations and financial condition. Forced changes in assumptions and reserves can also be required because of regulatory or legislative intervention in the way that products are priced, impacting capital requirements and reducing profitability and future earnings.

The Group has made a number of assumptions regarding future rates of mortality, morbidity and longevity determined on actuarial principles. However, projecting future rates and trends cannot be precise and remains subject to inherent uncertainties. In its Annuities business, the Group is exposed to factors such as improvements in medical science beyond those anticipated, leading to unexpected changes in life expectancy. The Group's lifetime mortgage business also has some exposure to the life expectancy of borrowers. If the assumptions underlying the reserving basis were to prove incorrect, the Group may have to increase the amount of its reserves, which could adversely affect the Group's results of operations. In its Protection business, the Group is inherently exposed to loss from events causing widespread mortality, morbidity or significant policy lapse rates, for example as a result of pandemics, the emergence of new diseases or reductions in immunology (see the risk factor below entitled 'COVID-19 and emergence of new diseases' for discussion of COVID-19 (as defined in that risk factor)). The Group is also exposed to lapse risks if its U.S. term policies are not continued in line with its renewal assumptions. Furthermore, legislative intervention in the pricing of

insurance products may potentially increase the costs of insurance products for consumers, reducing their propensity to purchase such products and impacting new business volumes.

The inappropriate acceptance of financial risks associated with the writing of new products, or the incorrect assessment of liabilities once business has been accepted, represents a financial risk to the strength of the Group. Within the area of insurance risk, there are four particular risks to the Group:

- (A) the inappropriate acceptance of certain long-term product design features, such as embedded guarantees, which at the time of launch may appear innocuous but may in the future generate substantial liabilities;
- (B) the concentration of certain types of liability, creating future risks to financial strength should there be significant differences in actual experience (for example, in the mortality rate of annuitants) to underlying design and pricing assumptions;
- (C) the potential incorrect valuation of existing and contingent liabilities due to the inherent complexity of the valuation process and underlying interaction of assumptions; and
- (D) forced changes in reserves could be required as a result of changes in regulations or law which have a retrospective effect.

1.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, though solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due, or can secure them only at excessive cost. This could adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Contingent liquidity risks relate to low probability and typically extreme events that, if not adequately planned for, can result in unanticipated requirements for liquidity. Such events may include a flu pandemic or natural disaster leading to significantly higher levels of claims than would normally be expected or extreme events impacting the timing of cash flows or the ability to realise investments at a given value within a specified timeframe. A limited level of contingent liquidity risk is an accepted element of writing contracts of insurance.

Collateral liquidity risk relates to a failure to hold sufficient cash or suitable liquid assets to meet collateral requirements for financial instruments and other transactions, resulting in unplanned disposals of assets at excessive cost. Within the Group's businesses, the use of financial instruments to hedge default, interest rate, currency and inflation risks can require the posting of collateral with counterparties, and as such an appropriate pool of the asset types specified by counterparties must either be held or readily available. Other transactions can require the posting of collateral should the Group's (or its subsidiaries') credit rating change.

Investment liquidity risk relates to the risk that investment assets are insufficiently liquid to be realised in line with contracted liabilities. Where policyholders have discretion to require early payment of policy proceeds, contractual safeguards are in place to ensure that the fund and remaining policyholders are not disadvantaged should a material number of policyholders exercise this

discretion. Direct lending, sales and leaseback investments and lifetime mortgage business are inherently illiquid forms of investment, with limited secondary markets to realise the value of assets outside agreed redemption terms. The Group sets limits on the overall exposure to illiquid investment types taking account of the nature and type of liabilities that the assets are held to meet.

Wholesale funding liquidity risk relates to the risk of adverse markets conditions limiting the access to funding markets for new funding and refinancing of existing debt. There can be no guarantee that the Group will be able to refinance its existing debt in the future and reduced levels of liquidity could also increase the Group's cost of borrowing.

1.5 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. The Group's plan for growth, together with any regulatory change, will inherently increase the profile of operational risks across its business.

Business process risk

The Group's business processes can be complex, with significant reliance placed upon IT systems and manual processes. A material failure in the Group's business processes or IT systems may result in unanticipated loss or reputational damage which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group has constructed a framework of internal controls to reduce the probability of such business process or IT system failure occurring. However, no system of internal controls can completely eliminate the risk of error, financial loss, fraudulent actions or reputational damage. As the Group develops its housing and property development businesses, it is also exposed to property construction, project delivery and other liability and safety risks.

Cyber security risk

As the Group and its business partners increasingly digitise their businesses, the Group is inherently exposed to the risk that third parties may seek to disrupt the Group's on-line operations, steal customer data or perpetrate acts of fraud using digital media. A significant cyber event could result in reputational damage to and financial loss for the Group. The Group deploys a range of control techniques to evaluate system security and proactively manage emerging threats in order to reduce the probability of a cyber event occurring.

Third party risk

The Group is also exposed to operational risk from reliance on external suppliers of certain administration and IT development services. Dependencies also exist on the provision of banking infrastructure, and the availability of security dealing and custody services. Unforeseen events leading to the loss of any of these services may impact operational effectiveness and lead to financial loss. Similarly, any weakness in administration systems (such as those relating to policyholder records) could result in the loss of confidential or proprietary data (exposing it to potential legal claims and regulatory sanctions) and damage its reputation and relationships with customers, regulators and business partners, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Personnel risk

The Group actively focuses on recruiting and retaining high quality individuals. The success of its operations is dependent on, among other things, the ability to attract and retain highly qualified professional people. It ensures that key dependencies do not arise, through employee training and development programmes, remuneration strategies and succession planning. However, the sudden unanticipated loss of teams of expertise may require substantial expense and could, in the short term, have an adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and prospects. Competition for highly qualified professional people is intense and demands that the Group must offer competitive compensation arrangements, the costs of which may be significant.

Notwithstanding anything in this risk factor, this risk factor should not be taken as implying that the Issuer will be unable to comply with its obligations as a company with securities admitted to the Official List of the FCA or the ISM.

1.6 Market competition

The market in which the Group operates remains attractive to new entrants. As has been seen in other business sectors, it is possible that alternative digitally enabled providers of financial service products emerge with lower cost business models or innovative service propositions and capital structures disrupting the current competitive landscape which could result in the Group losing business to new entrants which could have an adverse impact on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

1.7 Reputation and contagion risks

The Group's earnings and profits are influenced by the perception and confidence of retail and wholesale investors in the United Kingdom financial services sector, financial markets and the broader economic outlook, as well as their confidence in the Group itself.

Factors impacting the perception of the financial services sector include the adverse performance of investment markets, actions by regulators against peer organisations and shock events such as significant market failures. Financial market crisis events, investment performance uncertainties and wider uncertainty in the United Kingdom economy, COVID-19 and the low interest rate environment together with consumers' perceptions of the robustness of financial institutions may also impact consumer attitudes. Regulatory actions may also adversely impact consumers' perception of the value of insurance products and result in changes to the regulatory and legislative environment in which the Group operates, which could have an adverse impact on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group's reputation can be affected by events impacting parties with which the Group has a relationship, internal process failures and the consequences of external events. Additionally, as a consequence of the use of a common brand across the majority of the Group and the provision of intra-group loans and guarantees, the occurrence of a risk in one part of the Group may result in contagion elsewhere in the Group. Such events that cannot be readily controlled may affect the reputation of the Group with potential consequences for the earning streams of the Group.

As well as impacting reputation, the failure of other United Kingdom financial services organisations can have a direct financial impact on the Group through its participation in the Financial Services

Compensation Scheme (the "FSCS"). Under the scheme, in the event of a failure of a significant financial institution, the Group may be obliged to provide additional funding to the FSCS over a sustained period of time, reducing capital available to the Group. Similarly, compensation schemes such as the Pension Protection Fund can result in calls for funds on the Group. This could have an adverse impact on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and/or prospects.

1.8 Litigation

The Group is not currently, but may in the future be, subject to legal proceedings and disputes which are sufficiently significant to have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Legal proceedings and disputes may arise in the future under contracts, regulations or from a course of conduct taken by the Group and may be class actions. Given the large or indeterminate amounts of damages sometimes sought, and the inherent unpredictability of the outcome of litigation and disputes, it is possible that an adverse outcome in material legal proceedings or disputes could, from time to time, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, reputation, ability to offer certain products, customer numbers, results of operations, cashflows and/or financial condition, and could divert management attention.

1.9 Climate change risk

Our exposure to climate change falls into two broad categories. Physical risks, particularly to our property assets arising from severe weather events; and transition risks from the move to a low carbon economy, which will impact the value of those investments associated with higher levels of greenhouse gas emissions. The two risks are linked. Continued emissions will increase physical risks, and limiting the impacts will require substantial emission reductions which will increase transition risks. There are also potential impacts on the health and longevity of those we insure, and although we expect this to be gradual and over the very long term, it will require consideration within our pricing and long term liability matching strategies. There is potential that certain climate change risk factors have also not yet been fully priced in by financial markets with the risk that sudden late government policy action in response to a failure to achieve emission goals, leads to potentially large and unanticipated shifts in asset valuations for industries that are required to rapidly move to a net zero emission position. A failure to identify and limit financial exposures to impacted asset classes could adversely impact our profitability, financial condition and customer perceptions.

1.10 **Joint ventures**

The Group operates in certain markets through joint ventures. This creates reliance upon the operational performance and resilience of these joint venture partners. The Group's ability to exercise management control over its joint venture operations and its investment in them depends on the terms of the joint venture agreements, in particular, the allocation of control among, and continued co-operation between, the joint venture participants. The Group may face financial loss or other exposure in the event the Group fails to adequately oversee such partners or any of its joint venture partners fails to meet its obligations under the joint venture agreement or encounters financial difficulty, which could adversely impact the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

1.11 Credit ratings

The Group's business is dependent on its ability to access the capital markets and its cost of borrowing in these markets is influenced by the credit ratings supplied by ratings agencies. As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Issuer's long term issuer debt ratings are A2 (Moody's), A (S&P), A+ (Fitch Ratings Ltd ("Fitch")) and a (A.M. Best Europe – Rating Services Limited ("A.M. Best")). Any downgrading of these ratings could increase the Group's borrowing cost and consequently may weaken its market position. The Group's financial strength and credit ratings are also used by the market to measure its ability to meet policyholder and counterparty obligations and are important factors affecting public confidence in the Group's products and as a result its competitiveness. Downgrades in the Group's ratings could have an adverse effect on its ability to market products, retain current policyholders and on the Group's financial flexibility. Changes in methodology and criteria used by rating agencies to rate the insurance sector could result in downgrades that do not reflect changes in general economic conditions or the Issuer's financial condition. Any downgrading of these ratings could adversely impact the Group's financial condition and prospects and result in a reduction in the trading value of the Notes.

The credit ratings included or referred to in this Offering Memorandum will be treated for the purposes of the CRA Regulation as having been issued by Moody's, S&P, Fitch or A.M. Best, as the case may be. S&P is established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation and Moody's, Fitch and A.M. Best are each established in the United Kingdom and registered under the CRA Regulation.

1.12 Position of the Issuer within the Group

The Group's operations are generally conducted through direct and indirect subsidiaries which are subject to the risks discussed elsewhere in this "Risk Factors" section. As a holding company the Issuer's principal sources of funds are dividends from its operational subsidiaries and amounts that may be raised through the issue of debt instruments. The Issuer may not necessarily have access to the full amount of cashflows generated by the rest of the Group, due in particular to legal or tax constraints and other arrangements that can limit the subsidiaries' ability to make remittances and/or require the Issuer to make capital or liquidity available to those subsidiaries. In some circumstances this could limit the Issuer's ability to make available funds held in certain subsidiaries and a material change in the financial condition of any its subsidiaries may have a material effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer.

1.13 **COVID-19 and emergence of new diseases**

The outbreak of the novel strain of the coronavirus ("COVID-19") and the shutdowns and other restrictive measures implemented by authorities around the world in an attempt to contain the spread of the disease have led to an economic downturn in many countries, as well as increased volatility in financial and other markets. The severity and duration of the resulting adverse impact on the global economy and on the value of investment assets is currently uncertain and there is no certainty that measures to restrict spread of the disease or to mitigate its impacts will be effective.

Shutdown and other restrictive measures introduced in the United Kingdom and in other countries in which the Group operates have required the Group to invoke contingency plans for remote working, involving the cancellation of physical meetings and changes to working locations. As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Group's most important business services are being maintained.

However, the changes made to the Group's operating model to move to remote working may increase the risk of operational losses arising from sources such as pricing errors, claims processing errors and fraud. In addition, the Group continues to assess the risks posed by COVID-19 and may take further actions required by relevant authorities or that it determines are necessary in the interests of employees, customers, policyholders and other stakeholders. The implementation of such measures (or their insufficiency) could result in reduced personnel availability which could in turn adversely impact the quality and continuity of service to customers and the business and reputation of the Group.

As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, there is significant uncertainty as to the medium and long term effects of government responses to control outbreaks on financial markets and the broader economic outlook, and the degree to which this will impact the Group. If there are recurring outbreaks of COVID-19 or further diseases emerge that give rise to similar effects, macroeconomic conditions may be further materially and adversely affected and may lead to an extended economic downturn in the countries in which the Group operates, with further declines in financial markets and in the value of investment assets (which could in each case be widespread, severe and long-lasting). As an insurer, the Group could also be impacted by recurring or more widespread outbreaks of COVID-19 or other pandemics as a result of increased mortality rates. The above factors could, individually or taken together, materially and adversely impact the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer.

2. Risks relating to the regulation and legislation

2.1 Legal, supervisory and regulatory risks

The Group's business is subject to applicable law and regulations, both within the United Kingdom and internationally. In the United Kingdom, the Group's business is subject to regulation by the FCA and the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority (the "PRA"), which have broad powers under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA"), including the authority to grant, vary the terms of, or cancel a regulated firm's authorisation, to investigate marketing and sales practices and to require the maintenance of adequate capital resources. Each regulator has the power to take a range of disciplinary and enforcement actions, including public censure, restitution, fines or compensation and other sanctions. Regulators in the overseas jurisdictions in which the Group operates have similar powers.

The FCA and the PRA may each make enquiries of the companies which it regulates regarding compliance with regulations governing the conduct and operation of business. Regulated financial services companies face the risk that the FCA or the PRA could find that they have failed to comply with applicable regulations or have not undertaken corrective action as required.

Any legislative or regulatory action (whether in the United Kingdom or elsewhere) could have a negative impact upon the Group's results or on its relations with current and potential customers. Regulatory action against a member of the Group could result in financial penalties, remediation costs and/or adverse publicity for, or negative perceptions regarding, the Group, or could have an adverse effect on the business of the Group, its results of operations or its financial condition.

Legislation and government fiscal policy influence the Group's product design, the period of retention of products and its required reserves for future liabilities. Regulation defines the overall framework for the design, marketing, taxation and distribution of its products, and the prudential capital that it

holds. The Group's activities and strategies are based upon prevailing legislation and regulation. Changes in legislation, and differing interpretation and application of regulation, may increase the Group's cost base, reduce the Group's future revenues and impact profitability or require the Group to hold more capital. Unanticipated and sudden changes in legislation or regulation without adequate prior consultation or engagement with the financial services sector can have a significant impact on the Group's strategy and ultimately can impact the Group's earnings and profitability. Some changes in legislation and regulation can also have a retrospective effect on in-force books of business impacting future cash generation.

The Group's accounts are prepared in accordance with the current IFRS applicable to the insurance industry. Any change or modification of IFRS accounting policies, such as in connection with the implementation of IFRS 17 requirements to amend the reporting standards for insurance entities who prepare accounts to IFRS, may require a change in the reporting basis of future results or a restatement of reported results. The effect of changes required to the Group's accounting policies as a result of implementing the new standard is currently being considered but these changes can be expected to, among other things, alter the timing of IFRS profit recognition.

2.2 Capital adequacy requirements

Firms which are permitted to carry on insurance business in the United Kingdom are required to maintain a minimum level of assets (referred to as regulatory capital) in excess of their liabilities. The relevant companies within the Group satisfy all of their current regulatory requirements in this regard. Fluctuations in the fixed income and equity markets, and other economic factors such as the outlook for interest rates would, however, directly or indirectly, affect levels of regulatory capital held by such Group companies. Significant improvements in human life-span may also impact the level of capital required to be set aside for longevity risks. Management estimates are required in the derivation of Solvency II capital metrics. These include modelling simplifications to reflect that it is not possible to perfectly model the external environment, with adjustment necessitated when new data emerges.

An inability to meet regulatory capital requirements in the future would be likely to lead to intervention by the PRA, which could be expected to require the Group to take steps to restore the level of regulatory capital held to acceptable levels.

Insurance regulation in the United Kingdom is largely based upon the requirements of EU directives. Following the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the EU, whilst the current regulatory regime is expected to remain in place for the short to medium term, aspects of the regime may be subject to change over longer timescales. In addition, changes in the local regulatory regimes of countries in which the Group operates could affect the calculation of the Group's solvency position.

2.3 Taxation law

Changes in the interpretation of existing tax laws, amendments to existing tax rates or the introduction of new tax legislation may adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group. The impact on the Group would depend upon the business undertaken, and other relevant circumstances, at the time of such change.

The design of the Group's products takes into account a number of factors, including taxation. Future changes in tax law may impact the taxation of our customers or policyholders. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and/or financial

condition. The approach to, territory of and level of corporate taxation also continues to be an area of political debate internationally and in the specific jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

3. Risks related to the structure of the Notes

3.1 The Issuer's obligations under the Notes are subordinated

The Issuer's obligations under the Notes will constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves.

The rights and claims of the Noteholders (and of the Trustee on their behalf) will be subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors in that if, at any time prior to the date on which a Conversion Trigger Event occurs an Issuer Winding-Up occurs, there shall be payable by the Issuer in respect of each Note (in lieu of any other payment by the Issuer) such amount, if any, that would have been payable in respect of that Note if, on the day prior to the commencement of the winding-up or liquidation of the Issuer or the Issuer's entry into administration and thereafter, the holder of that Note was the holder of one of a class of preference shares in the Issuer ("Notional Preference Shares"):

- (A) having a preferential right to a return of assets in such winding-up, liquidation or administration to, and so ranking in priority to, the holders of the Ordinary Shares and any other class of shares in issue or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer (other than shares of any class referred to in paragraphs (B) and (C) below); and
- (B) having an equal right to a return of assets in such winding-up, liquidation or administration to, and so rank *pari passu* with, the holders of securities of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to ranking, *pari passu* with the Notes in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital (including, without limitation, shares of any class which may be issued or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Notional Preference Shares in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital); and
- (C) ranking junior to the claims of Senior Creditors and the holders of shares of any class which may be issued or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank senior to the Notional Preference Shares in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital,

on the assumption that the holder of each such Notional Preference Share was entitled (to the exclusion of all other rights and privileges) to receive, in respect of each such Notional Preference Share, as a return of capital in such winding-up, liquidation or administration an amount equal to the principal amount of the relevant Note then outstanding together with, to the extent not otherwise included within the foregoing, any other amounts attributable to the Note, including any accrued but unpaid interest thereon (to the extent not cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) and any damages awarded for breach of any obligations in respect thereof, whether or not the conditions referred to in Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*) are satisfied on the date upon which the same would otherwise be due and payable (and, in the case of an administration, on the assumption that shareholders were entitled to claim and recover in respect of their shares to the same degree as in a winding-up or liquidation).

Furthermore if, at any time on or after the date on which a Conversion Trigger Event occurs, an Issuer Winding-Up occurs but the relevant Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary have not been so delivered, there shall be payable by the Issuer in respect of each Note (in lieu of any other payment by the Issuer) such amount, if any, that would have been payable in respect of that Note if, on the day prior to the commencement of the winding-up, liquidation or administration of the Issuer and thereafter, the holder of that Note was the holder of such number of Ordinary Shares as it would have been entitled to receive on Conversion of that Note in accordance with Condition 6 (Conversion) (ignoring for these purposes the Issuer's right to make an election for a Conversion Shares Offer to be effected in accordance with Condition 6.6 (Conversion Shares Offer)).

Although the Notes may potentially pay a higher rate of interest (subject always to the Issuer's right and, in certain circumstances, obligation to cancel any interest payment under the Conditions) than comparable notes which are not subordinated, there is a significant risk that an investor in the Notes will lose all or some of its investment should the Issuer become insolvent.

Further, subject to applicable law, no holder of the Notes may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, compensation or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Notes and each holder shall, by virtue of being the holder of any Note, be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, compensation or retention.

In addition, investors should be aware that, upon Conversion of the Notes following a Conversion Trigger Event, Noteholders will be effectively further subordinated as they will be treated as, and subsequently become, holders of Ordinary Shares, even if other existing subordinated indebtedness and preference shares remain outstanding. There is a risk that Noteholders will lose the entire amount of their investment, regardless of whether the Issuer has sufficient assets available to settle what would have been the claims of Noteholders or of securities subordinated to the same or greater extent as the Notes, in winding-up proceedings or otherwise.

3.2 As the Issuer is a holding company, Noteholders are structurally subordinated to the creditors of the Issuer's Subsidiaries

The Notes are the obligations of the Issuer alone. The Issuer is a holding company and the Issuer's Subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities with no obligation to pay, or provide funds in respect of, any amounts due and payable in respect of the Issuer's payment obligations under the Notes.

Payments on the Notes are structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of the Issuer's Subsidiaries. Claims of creditors of such Subsidiaries will have priority as to the assets of such Subsidiaries over the Issuer and its creditors, including the Noteholders. Neither the Conditions nor the Trust Deed contain any restrictions on the ability of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries or associates to incur additional unsecured or secured indebtedness.

In the event of a Newco Scheme, the Issuer may without the consent of Noteholders, at its option, procure that Newco is substituted under the Notes as the issuer of the Notes. If such a substitution occurs the claims of Noteholders will be structurally subordinated to the creditors of the Subsidiaries of Newco, including the remaining creditors of the Issuer.

3.3 As a holding company, the level of the Issuer's Distributable Items is affected by a number of factors, and insufficient Distributable Items will restrict the Issuer's ability to make interest payments on the Notes

As a holding company, the level of the Issuer's Distributable Items is affected by a number of factors, principally its ability to receive funds, directly or indirectly, from its operating subsidiaries in a manner which creates Distributable Items. Consequently, the Issuer's future Distributable Items, and therefore the Issuer's ability to make Interest Payments on the Notes, are a function of the Issuer's existing Distributable Items, future Group profitability and performance and the ability to distribute or dividend profits from the Issuer's operating Subsidiaries up the Group structure to the Issuer. In addition, the Issuer's Distributable Items will also be reduced by the servicing of other debt and equity instruments.

The ability of the Issuer's operating Subsidiaries to pay dividends and the Issuer's ability to receive distributions and other payments from the Issuer's investments in other entities is subject to applicable local laws and other restrictions, including their respective regulatory, capital and leverage requirements, statutory reserves, financial and operating performance and applicable tax laws, and any changes thereto. These laws and restrictions could limit the payment of dividends, distributions and other payments to the Issuer by the Issuer's operating Subsidiaries, which could in time restrict the Issuer's ability to fund other operations or to maintain or increase its Distributable Items.

3.4 The Notes have no scheduled maturity date and Noteholders only have a limited ability to exit their investment in the Notes

The Notes are perpetual securities and have no fixed maturity date or fixed redemption date. Although the Issuer may, under certain circumstances described in Condition 7 (Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase), redeem or purchase the Notes, the Issuer is under no obligation to do so and Noteholders have no right to call for the Issuer to exercise any right it may have to redeem or purchase the Notes.

Therefore, Noteholders have no ability to exit their investment, except (i) in the event of the Issuer exercising its right to redeem or purchase the Notes in accordance with the Conditions, (ii) by selling to other market participants their Notes or, following the occurrence of the Conversion Trigger Event and the issue and delivery of Ordinary Shares, their Ordinary Shares (to the extent that their Ordinary Shares are Eligible Conversion Shares and are not all sold to the Issuer's Shareholders pursuant to a Conversion Shares Offer), (iii) through the cash component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, (iv) where the Trustee institutes proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer where the Issuer has exercised its right to redeem the Notes but fails to make payment in respect of such redemption when due, in which limited circumstances the Noteholders may receive some of any resulting liquidation proceeds following payment being made in full to all senior and more senior subordinated creditors, or (v) upon a winding-up, liquidation or administration of the Issuer, in which limited circumstances the Noteholders may receive some of any resulting liquidation proceeds following payment being made in full to all senior and more senior subordinated creditors. The proceeds, if any, realised by of the actions described in (ii) to (v) above may be substantially less than the principal amount of the Notes or amount of the investor's investment in the Notes.

See also "Absence of public markets for the Notes" below.

3.5 Payments by the Issuer are conditional upon the Issuer being solvent

Other than in the circumstances set out in Condition 3.3 (Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event) or Condition 3.4 (Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event), all payments in respect of or arising from the Notes (including, without limitation, any payments in respect of damages awarded for breach of any obligations but excluding any cash component of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) shall be conditional upon the Issuer being solvent at the time for payment by the Issuer and no amount shall be due and payable by the Issuer in respect of or arising from (including any damages for breach of any obligations under) the Notes except to the extent that the Issuer could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For these purposes, the Issuer will be solvent if (i) it is able to pay its debts owed to Pari Passu Creditors and Senior Creditors as they fall due and (ii) its Assets exceed its Liabilities. Any payment of interest that would have been due and payable but for the inability to comply with the Solvency Condition shall be cancelled in full pursuant to Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments).

3.6 Interest Payments on the Notes are discretionary and the Issuer may cancel Interest Payments, in whole or in part, at any time. Cancelled Interest Payments shall not be due and shall not accumulate or be payable at any time thereafter and investors shall have no rights thereto

Interest on the Notes will be due and payable only at the sole and absolute discretion of the Issuer and is subject to Condition 3.2 (Solvency Condition), Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments) and Condition 6.9 (Accrued Interest on Conversion). The Issuer may at any time elect to cancel any Interest Payment, in whole or in part, which would otherwise be due and payable on any Interest Payment Date.

At the time of publication of this Offering Memorandum, it is the intention of the Issuer's directors (the "**Directors**") to take into account the relative ranking in the Issuer's capital structure of its Ordinary Shares and its outstanding restricted Tier 1 securities (including, but not limited to, the Notes) whenever exercising its discretion to declare dividends on the former or to cancel interest on the latter. However, the Directors may depart from this policy at any time in their sole discretion.

Any Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) which is cancelled shall not accumulate and shall not become due and payable at any time thereafter. In the event of such cancellation, Noteholders will have no rights in respect of the Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) which is cancelled. In addition, cancellation or non- payment of Interest in accordance with the Conditions shall not constitute a default or event of default on the part of the Issuer for any purpose.

The cancellation, or any actual or perceived increase in the likeliness of cancellation, of any Interest Payment may affect the market value of an investment in the Notes.

3.7 In addition to the Issuer's right to cancel Interest Payments, in whole or in part, at any time, the Conditions require that Interest Payments must be cancelled under certain circumstances. Cancelled Interest Payments shall not be due and shall not accumulate or be payable at any time thereafter and investors shall have no rights thereto

The Issuer must cancel any Interest Payment on the Notes in full pursuant to Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments) in the event that, inter alia, the Issuer cannot make

the payment (including, if applicable, any Additional Amounts) in compliance with the Solvency Condition, the Solvency Capital Requirement or the Minimum Capital Requirement, or where the Interest Payment would, together with any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto, exceed the amount of the Issuer's Distributable Items as at the time of payment, or if required to cancel any Interest Payment by the Relevant Regulator or under the Relevant Rules.

Any Interest Payment which is cancelled shall not accumulate and shall not become due and payable at any time thereafter. In the event of such cancellation, Noteholders will have no rights in respect of the Interest Payment which is cancelled. In addition, cancellation or non-payment of Interest in accordance with the Conditions shall not constitute a default or event of default on the part of the Issuer for any purpose.

The cancellation, or any actual or perceived increase in the likeliness of cancellation, of any Interest Payment may affect the market value of an investment in the Notes.

3.8 The interest rate on the Notes will be reset on each Reset Date, which may affect the market value of the Notes

The Notes will initially accrue interest at the Initial Fixed Interest Rate to, but excluding, the First Reset Date. From, and including, the First Reset Date, however, the interest rate will be reset on each Reset Date to the Reset Rate of Interest (as described in Condition 4.5 (Determination of Reset Rate of Interest). This Reset Rate of Interest could be less than the Initial Fixed Interest Rate, which could affect the amount of any interest payments under the Notes and the market value of an investment in the Notes.

As the Notes bear interest at a fixed rate (reset from time to time), an investment in the Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

3.9 Redemption payments under the Notes must, under certain circumstances, be deferred

Notwithstanding that a notice of redemption has been delivered to Noteholders, the Issuer must defer redemption of the Notes on any date set for redemption of the Notes pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase) in the event that, inter alia, the Issuer cannot make the redemption payments in compliance with the Solvency Condition, the Solvency Capital Requirement, the Minimum Capital Requirement or the Regulatory Clearance Condition, or an Insolvent Insurer Winding-up has occurred and is continuing.

Further, if a Conversion Trigger Notice is given after a notice of redemption but before the relevant redemption date, such notice of redemption shall automatically be revoked and be null and void and the relevant redemption shall not be made or effected and the Notes shall be converted in accordance with Condition 6 (*Conversion*).

The deferral of redemption of the Notes will not constitute a default under the Notes for any purpose and will not give Noteholders or the Trustee any right to accelerate the Notes or take any enforcement action under the Notes or the Trust Deed. Where redemption of the Notes is deferred, the Notes will be redeemed by the Issuer on the earlier of (a) the date falling 10 Business Days after the date on which the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are (and provided that they continue to be) met or (where capable of waiver) waived pursuant to Condition 7.3 (Waiver of Redemption and Purchase

Condition relating to Solvency Capital Requirement by Relevant Regulator) or (b) the date on which an Issuer Winding-Up occurs.

Any actual or anticipated deferral of redemption of the Notes will likely have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes. In addition, as a result of the redemption deferral provision of the Notes, the market price of the Notes may be more volatile than the market prices of other debt securities without such deferral feature, including dated securities where redemption on the scheduled maturity date cannot be deferred, and the Notes may accordingly be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in the Issuer's financial condition.

3.10 Subject to certain conditions, the Issuer may redeem the Notes at the Issuer's option on certain dates

Subject, *inter alia*, to the solvency of the Issuer, to compliance with the Solvency Capital Requirement and Minimum Capital Requirement and to satisfaction of the Regulatory Clearance Condition, the Issuer may redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with the Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption specified pursuant to the Conditions. Such redemption may occur at the option of the Issuer (i) on any day falling in the period commencing on (and including) 24 March 2031 and ending on (and including) the First Reset Date or any Reset Date thereafter, (ii) at any time in the event of certain changes in the tax treatment of the Notes or payments thereunder due to a Tax Event, (iii) at any time following the occurrence of (or if there will occur within six months) a Capital Disqualification Event or a Ratings Methodology Event, or (iv) if at any time 80 per cent. or more of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any Further Notes will be deemed to have been originally issued) have been purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and cancelled.

The Issuer shall only be entitled to redeem the Notes upon the occurrence of certain changes in the tax treatment of the Notes or payments thereunder due to a Tax Event if a Capital Disqualification Event or a Ratings Methodology Event, if (amongst other conditions) it was reasonable for the Issuer to conclude, judged at the Issue Date or (if any further tranche(s) of the Notes has or have been issued pursuant to Condition 16 (*Further Issues*) and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the Relevant Issue Date, that such event was not reasonably foreseeable.

The Issuer is also entitled to redeem the Notes if 80 per cent. or more of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any Further Notes will be deemed to have been originally issued) have been purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries.

The right of the Issuer to redeem the Notes in certain circumstances may limit the market value of the Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to, is or perceived to be able to redeem the Notes, the market value of the Notes generally will not rise above the price at which they can be redeemed.

An investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

3.11 Notes may be traded with accrued interest which may subsequently be subject to cancellation

The Notes may trade, and/or the prices for the Notes may appear, in trading systems with accrued interest. Purchasers of Notes in the secondary market may pay a price which reflects such accrued interest on purchase of the Notes.

If an Interest Payment is cancelled (in whole or in part) as described above, a purchaser of Notes in the secondary market will not be entitled to the accrued interest (or part thereof) reflected in the purchase price of the Notes.

3.12 Restricted remedy for non-payment when due

The sole remedy against the Issuer available to the Trustee or (where the Trustee has failed to proceed against the Issuer as provided in the Conditions) any Noteholder for recovery of amounts which have become due and payable in respect of the Notes will be the institution of proceedings for the winding-up in England and Wales (but not elsewhere) of the Issuer and/or proving in any winding-up of the Issuer and/or claiming in the liquidation or administration of the Issuer. Any cancellation or non-payment of interest shall not constitute a default or event of default on the part of the Issuer for any purpose.

3.13 Variation or substitution of the Notes without Noteholder consent

Subject as provided in Condition 7 (Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase), the Issuer may, at its option and without the consent or approval of Noteholders, elect to substitute all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Qualifying Tier 1 Notes (i) in the event of certain changes in the tax treatment of the Notes or payments thereunder due to a Tax Event, or (ii) following the occurrence of (or where there will occur within six months) a Capital Disqualification Event or, following the occurrence of (or where there will occur within six months) a Ratings Methodology Event, the Issuer may elect to substitute all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Rating Agency Compliant Notes.

In the event of a Newco Scheme, the Issuer may without the consent of Noteholders, at its option, procure that Newco is substituted under the Notes as the issuer of the Notes. Any such substitution shall be subject to the Issuer having complied with the Regulatory Clearance Condition, as further described in Condition 14.2 (*Newco Scheme*).

3.14 Notes may be mandatorily converted into Ordinary Shares

Following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, the Notes will be mandatorily converted into Ordinary Shares on the Conversion Date. Once the Conversion Shares have been issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary, all of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes (including any payment obligation in respect of principal and/or accrued interest) shall be irrevocably discharged and satisfied. As a result, Noteholders may lose all or part of the value of their investment in the Notes as, following Conversion, they will receive only Conversion Shares and/or (if the Issuer elects that a Conversion Shares Offer be made and the Noteholder has not served an Opt-Out Notice in accordance with the Conditions) the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration.

Although the market value of any Conversion Shares received by Noteholders may increase (or decrease) in value over time, the Conversion Price at the time the Conversion Shares are issued may not reflect the market value of the Ordinary Shares.

In the event that the Issuer elects that a Conversion Shares Offer be made, the Conversion Shares Offer Price relating to any such Conversion Shares Offer shall be at a price (the "Conversion Shares Offer Price") not lower than the Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price. The Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price shall be (a) if the Ordinary Shares are then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Current Market Price as at the Conversion Date; or if the Ordinary Shares are not then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Fair Market Value of a Conversion Share as at the Conversion Date. Accordingly, the Conversion Shares Offer Price may be more or less than the Conversion Price.

Furthermore, if the Issuer elects that a Conversion Shares Offer be made in circumstances where the cash component (if any) of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration in respect of a Note would otherwise exceed the product of (a) the principal amount of such Note and (b) the proportion (expressed as a percentage) of the Eligible Conversion Shares sold in the Conversion Shares Offer (such excess, the "Excess Amount"), the Excess Amount shall not form part of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration. The holders of the Notes will be deemed, by virtue of their holding, to have waived any and all entitlement to any such Excess Amount, and such Excess Amount shall instead be payable to the Issuer for its own account. In such circumstances, the value of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration received by a Noteholder may be less than the market value of the Conversion Shares which it would have been entitled to receive if the Issuer had not elected that a Conversion Shares Offer be made.

Any Conversion of the Notes shall be irrevocable and Noteholders shall not be entitled to any compensation in the event that the value of Ordinary Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration received by them is less than the principal amount of their Notes, or if the solvency position of the Issuer subsequently improves following Conversion (including if the Conversion Trigger Event has ceased to continue). Furthermore, the sole remedy available to Noteholders in the event that the Issuer fails to deliver Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary on or after the Conversion Trigger Event will be to apply to the court to obtain an order requiring the Issuer to issue and deliver such Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary or, where applicable, participate in the liquidation proceeds of the Issuer as if the Conversion Shares had been issued. Once the Conversion Shares to be delivered on Conversion have been issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary, the only claims Noteholders will have will be against the Conversion Shares Depositary for delivery of Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Noteholders will have no right to convert their Notes into Ordinary Shares at their election. Conversion of the Notes will occur only following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event.

3.15 The occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event may depend on factors outside of the Issuer's control

A Conversion Trigger Event shall occur if the Issuer determines at any time that (i) the amount of Own Fund Items eligible and available to cover the Solvency Capital Requirement is equal to or less than 75 per cent. of the Solvency Capital Requirement, (ii) the amount of Own Fund Items eligible

and available to cover the Minimum Capital Requirement is equal to or less than the Minimum Capital Requirement, or (iii) a breach of the Solvency Capital Requirement has occurred and such breach has not been remedied within a period of three months from the date on which the breach was first observed.

The occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event and, therefore, Conversion is to some extent unpredictable and depends on a number of factors, some of which may be outside of the Issuer's control, including actions that the Issuer is required to take at the direction of the Relevant Regulator and regulatory changes. Accordingly, the trading behaviour of the Notes may not necessarily follow the trading behaviour of other types of subordinated securities, including the Issuer's other subordinated debt securities. Any indication that the Issuer or the Group may be at risk of failing to meet its Solvency Capital Requirement or Minimum Capital Requirement may have an adverse effect on the market price and liquidity of the Notes. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily (if at all) or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to other types of subordinated securities, including the Issuer's other subordinated debt securities. In addition, the risk of Conversion could drive down the price of the Ordinary Shares and could have a material adverse effect on the market value of any Conversion Shares received upon Conversion.

3.16 Noteholders must submit a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice to receive delivery of Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration following Conversion

In order to obtain delivery of the relevant Conversion Shares or the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, following a Conversion of the Notes, the relevant Noteholder must deliver, *inter alia*, a duly completed Conversion Shares Settlement Notice to the Conversion Shares Depositary, which must contain specified information. Any Noteholder delivering a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice after the Notice Cut-off Date will have to provide evidence of its entitlement to the relevant Conversion Shares or the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, satisfactory to the Conversion Shares Depositary in its sole and absolute discretion in order to receive delivery of such Conversion Shares or such Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable. The Issuer shall have no liability to any Noteholder for any loss resulting from such Noteholder not receiving any Conversion Shares or the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, or from any delay in the receipt thereof, in each case as a result of such Noteholder failing to submit, *inter alia*, a valid Conversion Shares Settlement Notice, on a timely basis or at all.

3.17 The Notes will remain in existence following Conversion for a period with Noteholders having limited rights

Following Conversion, the Notes will remain in existence until the applicable Settlement Date (or, if earlier, the Final Cancellation Date) for the sole purpose of evidencing each Noteholder's right to receive Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, from the Conversion Shares Depositary. All obligations of the Issuer under the Notes shall be irrevocably released in consideration of the Issuer's issuance and delivery of the Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary on the Conversion Date, and under no circumstances shall such released obligations be reinstated. The Notes shall be cancelled on the applicable Settlement Date (or, if earlier, the Final Cancellation Date). Notwithstanding the foregoing, there can be no assurance that Noteholders will be able to sell any Notes following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event.

Receipt by the Conversion Shares Depositary of the Conversion Shares shall irrevocably discharge and satisfy the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes and a Noteholder shall, with effect on and from the Conversion Date, only have recourse to the Conversion Shares Depositary for the delivery to it of the relevant Conversion Shares or, if the Issuer elects that a Conversion Shares Offer be made, of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration to which such Noteholder is entitled. The Issuer shall not have any liability for the performance of the obligations of the Conversion Shares Depositary. There may, therefore, be a period following Conversion during which the Noteholders remain in possession of their Notes but are owed no obligations thereunder by the Issuer.

3.18 There may be a delay in Noteholders being able to transfer any Conversion Shares following Conversion

Although the Noteholders will become beneficial owners of the Conversion Shares upon the issuance of such Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary and the Conversion Shares will be registered in the name of the Conversion Shares Depositary (or the relevant recipient in accordance with the terms of the Notes), no Noteholder will be able to sell or otherwise transfer any Conversion Shares until such time as they are finally delivered to such Noteholder and registered in its name. In the event of a Conversion Shares Offer, only some – or none – of the Conversion Shares may be delivered to the Noteholders.

3.19 Noteholders are subject to all changes made with respect to Conversion Shares prior to their registration as a holder of such Conversion Shares

Noteholders will be unable to exercise voting rights and other rights related to any Conversion Shares until such Conversion Shares have been issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary following the Conversion Date and subsequently delivered to the Noteholders, and such Noteholder has been registered in the Issuer's share register as a shareholder in accordance with the provisions of, and subject to the limitations provided in, the articles of association of the Issuer. Prior to such registration, Noteholders will be subject to all changes made with respect to the Conversion Shares but will not be entitled to any of the rights of a shareholder.

3.20 Noteholders may be subject to taxes following Conversion

The Issuer will not pay any taxes, capital, stamp, issue and registration or transfer taxes or duties arising upon Conversion or that may arise as a consequence of the issue and delivery of Conversion Shares on Conversion. Noteholders must pay any taxes and capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes or duties arising upon Conversion save that the Issuer intends to make it a condition of any Conversion Shares Offer that any such taxes or duties arising on the transfer and delivery of Conversion Shares pursuant to a Conversion Shares Offer are borne by the relevant purchaser, and such Noteholders must pay all, if any, such taxes or duties arising by reference to any disposal or deemed disposal of its Notes or interest therein.

3.21 Noteholders may be obliged to make a takeover bid following the Conversion Trigger

Upon the occurrence of the Conversion Trigger Event, Noteholders receiving Conversion Shares from the Conversion Shares Depositary may have to make a takeover bid addressed to the shareholders of the Issuer pursuant to the rules of The City Code on Takeovers and Mergers implementing the Takeovers Directive (2004/25/EC) by means of Part 28 of the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 (the "Companies Act 2006") if any Noteholder's aggregate holding in the Issuer

exceeds 30 per cent. of the voting rights in the Issuer as a result of the Conversion of the Notes into Conversion Shares.

3.22 Changes to Solvency II may increase the risk of the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, cancellation of Interest Payments or the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event

Solvency II requirements adopted in the United Kingdom, whether as a result of further changes to Solvency II or changes to the way in which the PRA interprets and applies these requirements to the United Kingdom insurance industry, may change. Any such changes, either individually and/or in aggregate, may lead to further unexpected requirements in relation to the calculation of the Issuer's or the Group's Solvency Capital Requirement, and such changes may make the Issuer's or the Group's regulatory capital requirements more onerous. Such changes that may occur in the application of Solvency II in the United Kingdom subsequent to the date of this Offering Memorandum and/or any subsequent changes to such rules and other variables may individually and/or in aggregate negatively affect the calculation of the Issuer's or the Group's Solvency Capital Requirement and thus increase the risk of cancellation of Interest Payments, the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event and subsequent redemption of the Notes by the Issuer, or a Conversion Trigger Event occurring, which will lead to a Conversion, as a result of which a Noteholder could lose all or part of the value of its investment in the Notes.

3.23 Other capital instruments issued by the Issuer may not absorb losses at the same time, or to the same extent, as the Notes

The terms and conditions of other regulatory capital instruments issued from time to time by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may vary and accordingly such instruments may not convert into equity or be written-down at the same time, or to the same extent, as the Notes, or at all. Further, regulatory capital instruments issued by a member of the Group with terms that require such instruments to be converted into equity and/or written-down when a solvency or capital measure falls below a certain threshold may have different capital or solvency measures for triggering a conversion or write-down to those set out in the definition of Conversion Trigger Event or may be determined with respect to a group or sub-group of entities that is different from the Group, with the effect that they may not be converted into equity and/or written down on the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event. Therefore, the Notes may be subject to a greater degree of loss absorption than would otherwise have been the case had such other instruments been written down or converted at the same time as or prior to the Notes.

3.24 Noteholders may be subject to disclosure obligations and/or may need approval by the Relevant Regulator

As the Notes are mandatorily convertible into Conversion Shares following a Conversion Trigger Event, an investment in the Notes may result in Noteholders, following such Conversion, having to comply with certain disclosure and/or approval requirements pursuant to laws and regulations applicable in the United Kingdom. For example, pursuant to Chapter 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules Sourcebook of the FCA Handbook, the Issuer (and the FCA) must be notified by a person when the percentage of voting rights in the Issuer controlled by that person (together with its concert parties), by virtue of direct or indirect holdings of shares aggregated with direct or indirect holdings of certain financial instruments, reaches or crosses 3 per cent. and every percentage point thereafter.

Furthermore, as the Conversion Shares are of an ultimate parent undertaking of a number of regulated entities, under the laws of the United Kingdom and other jurisdictions, ownership of an interest in the Conversion Shares to be delivered following Conversion above a certain level may require the Noteholder to obtain regulatory approval or subject the Noteholder to additional regulation.

Non-compliance with such disclosure and/or approval requirements may lead to the incurrence by Noteholders of substantial fines and/or suspension of voting rights associated with the Ordinary Shares. Any potential investor should consult its financial, legal and other professional advisers as to the terms of the Notes and the potential consequences for such potential investor if a Conversion Trigger Event were to occur and such potential investor received Conversion Shares. In particular, each potential investor should satisfy themselves, both at the time of investing in the Notes and for so long as such investor remains a Noteholder, that the maximum number of Conversion Shares that it could receive following Conversion, when aggregated with its other relevant holdings of Ordinary Shares, would not give rise to any of the consequences described above, or any other legal or regulatory implications.

3.25 Noteholders may receive Conversion Shares Offer Consideration instead of Ordinary Shares upon Conversion

The Issuer may elect, in its sole and absolute discretion, that a Conversion Shares Offer be conducted by the Conversion Shares Depositary (or any agent(s) on its behalf) upon the occurrence of the Conversion Trigger Event. If the Issuer elects that a Conversion Shares Offer be conducted, the Conversion Shares Depositary (or any agent(s) on its behalf) will make an offer of all or some of the Eligible Conversion Shares to all or some of the Issuer's Shareholders.

The Conversion Shares Offer Price relating to any such Conversion Shares Offer shall be a price determined by the Issuer in its sole discretion, provided that the Conversion Shares Offer Price shall not be lower than the Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price. The Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price shall be (a) if the Ordinary Shares are then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Current Market Price as at the Conversion Date; or (b) if the Ordinary Shares are not then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Fair Market Value of a Conversion Share as at the Conversion Date. Accordingly, the Conversion Shares Offer Price may be more or less than the Conversion Price.

Subject to the provisions of Condition 6 (Conversion), if all of the Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer, Noteholders will be entitled to receive, in respect of each Note for which an Opt-Out Notice is not received by the Conversion Shares Depositary from a Noteholder prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer and as determined by the Conversion Calculation Agent, the pro rata share of the cash proceeds of the sale of the Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Note (less the pro rata share of any foreign exchange transaction costs), subject (in applicable circumstances) to the cap described in the following paragraph. If not all of the Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer, Noteholders shall be entitled to receive, in respect of each such Note and as determined by the Conversion Calculation Agent, (i) the pro rata share of the cash proceeds from the sale of the Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Note (less the pro rata share of any foreign exchange transaction costs), subject (in applicable circumstances) to the cap described in the following paragraph together with (ii) the pro rata share of the Eligible Conversion Shares not sold pursuant to

the Conversion Shares Offer attributable to such Note rounded down to the nearest whole number of Conversion Shares.

If any Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer and the cash component (if any) of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration in respect of a Note would otherwise exceed the product of (a) the principal amount of such Note and (b) the proportion (expressed as a percentage) of the Conversion Shares sold in the Conversion Shares Offer (such excess, the "Excess Amount"), the Excess Amount shall not form part of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration. The holders of the Notes will be deemed, by virtue of their holding, to have waived any and all entitlement to any such Excess Amount, and such Excess Amount shall instead be payable to the Issuer for its own account. In such circumstances, the value of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration received by a Noteholder may be less than the market value of the Conversion Shares which it would have been entitled to receive if the Issuer had not elected that a Conversion Shares Offer be made.

Accordingly, if the Issuer elects that a Conversion Shares Offer be made and a Noteholder does not validly submit an Opt-Out Notice in accordance with the Conditions, that Noteholder may not ultimately receive Conversion Shares, or may receive only some Conversion Shares as part of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration.

No interest or other compensation is payable in respect of the period from the Conversion Date to the date of delivery of the Conversion Shares or the cash proceeds from the sale of the Conversion Shares in the circumstances described above. Furthermore, neither the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event nor, following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, the election (if any) by the Issuer that a Conversion Shares Offer be made, will preclude the Issuer from undertaking a rights issue or other equity issue at any time on such terms as the Issuer deems appropriate in its sole discretion, including, for the avoidance of doubt, but without limitation, the offer of Ordinary Shares at or below the Conversion Shares Offer Price.

Notice of the results of any Conversion Shares Offer will be provided to Noteholders only at the end of the Conversion Shares Offer Period. Accordingly, Noteholders would not know the composition of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration to which they may be entitled until the end of the Conversion Shares Offer Period.

3.26 Notes may be convertible into shares in an entity other than the Issuer where a Qualifying Change of Control occurs, or may be written-down to zero where a Non-Qualifying Change of Control occurs

If a Qualifying Change of Control occurs, the Notes will, following Conversion, become convertible into Relevant Shares of the Approved Entity, as described in Condition 6.15 (*Change in Terms on Change of Control*). The Issuer can provide no assurances as to the nature of any such Approved Entity or the risks associated with becoming an actual or potential shareholder therein. A Qualifying Change of Control may, therefore, have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes.

If a Non-Qualifying Change of Control occurs then the Notes shall not be subject to Conversion at any time but, instead, upon the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event the full principal amount outstanding of each Note will automatically be written down to zero, each Note will be cancelled and each Note will no longer be traded on the ISM. In such circumstances, the Noteholders would not be entitled to receive any Ordinary Shares or other compensation and would lose their entire investment

in the Notes. Therefore, if a Non-Qualifying Change of Control occurs, or if the market anticipates that such an event may occur, this may have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes.

3.27 Conversion Price is fixed at the time of issue of the Notes

Subject to certain limited anti-dilution provisions set out in Condition 6.10 (Adjustment of Conversion Price), the Conversion Price is fixed at the time of issue of the Notes. The Conversion Trigger Event is linked to a deterioration in the regulatory solvency position of the Issuer and, therefore, its occurrence will likely be accompanied and preceded by a deterioration in the market price of the Ordinary Shares. Therefore, if a Conversion Trigger Event were to occur, investors would receive Conversion Shares or, as the case may be, Conversion Shares Offer Consideration at a time when the market price of the Ordinary Shares is diminished. In addition, there may be a delay in a Noteholder receiving its Conversion Shares (if any) following the Conversion Trigger Event, during which time the market price of the Ordinary Shares may further decline. As a result, the realisable value of the Conversion Shares may be below the Conversion Price.

At the time at which the Conversion Shares are issued following Conversion, the Conversion Price may not reflect the market price of the Ordinary Shares, which could be significantly lower than the Conversion Price. Although the market value of such Conversion Shares may increase over time, they may never be equal to the principal amount of the Notes converted.

3.28 Noteholders have limited anti-dilution protection

The number of Conversion Shares to be delivered in respect of the Notes will be determined by dividing the principal amount outstanding of the Notes by the Conversion Price prevailing at the relevant time. Fractions of Conversion Shares will not be delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary or to Noteholders upon a Conversion and no cash payment will be made in lieu thereof.

The Conversion Price will be adjusted in accordance with Condition 6.10 (Adjustment of Conversion Price) in the event that there is a (i) consolidation, reclassification, redesignation or subdivision in relation to the Ordinary Shares which alters the number of Ordinary Shares in issue, (ii) an issuance of Ordinary Shares in certain circumstances by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, (iii) payment of an Extraordinary Dividend (as further discussed below) or (iv) an issue of Ordinary Shares to Shareholders as a class by way of rights in certain circumstances, all as further described in the Conditions.

The definition of 'Extraordinary Dividend' excludes any dividend which is a special dividend payable from surplus capital generated from continuing operations of the Group ("Excluded Dividends"). Accordingly, the declaration and payment of Excluded Dividends will not result in an adjustment to the Conversion Price.

Any New Conversion Price following a Qualifying Change of Control will be similarly adjusted.

There is no requirement that there should be an adjustment for every corporate or other event that may affect the value of the Ordinary Shares. Furthermore, the adjustment events that are included are less extensive than those often included in the terms of other convertible securities. As a result, events in respect of which no adjustment to the Conversion Price is made may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

3.29 Modification and waivers

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. They also provide for resolutions to be passed with the consent of Noteholders given by way of written resolutions or electronic consents. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders, including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting or, as the case may be, who did not execute the written resolution or give electronic consent, and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. The Conditions also provide that, subject to the satisfaction of the Regulatory Clearance Condition, the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to any modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed in the circumstances described in Condition 14 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Authorisation).

3.30 No limitation on issuing senior or pari passu securities

There is no restriction on the amount of securities which the Issuer may issue, which securities rank senior to, or *pari passu*, the Notes. The issue of any such securities may reduce the amount recoverable by Noteholders on a winding-up of the Issuer and/or may increase the likelihood of a cancellation of interest payments under the Notes. Accordingly, in the winding-up of the Issuer, after payment of the claims of senior ranking creditors, there may not be a sufficient amount to satisfy the amounts owing to Noteholders.

3.31 No restriction on dividends

The Conditions do not contain any restriction on the ability of the Issuer to pay dividends on its Ordinary Shares. This could decrease the profits that are available for distribution and therefore increase the likelihood of a cancellation of payments of interest. At the time of publication of this Offering Memorandum, it is the intention of the Directors to take into account the relative ranking in the Issuer's capital structure of its Ordinary Shares and its outstanding restricted Tier 1 securities (including, but not limited to, the Notes) whenever exercising its discretion to declare dividends on the former or to cancel interest on the latter. However, the Directors may depart from this policy at any time in their sole discretion.

3.32 Change of law

The Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the date of issue of the Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the Notes.

3.33 Limitation on gross-up obligation under the Notes

The Issuer's obligation, if any, to pay Additional Amounts in respect of any withholding or deduction in respect of taxes imposed in a Relevant Jurisdiction under the terms of the Notes applies only to Interest Payments and not to payments of principal.

As such, the Issuer would not be required to pay any Additional Amounts under the terms of the Notes to the extent any withholding or deduction applied to payments of principal. Accordingly, if any such withholding or deduction were to apply to any payments of principal under the Notes,

Noteholders will receive less than the full amount which would otherwise be due to them under the Notes, and the market value of the Notes may be adversely affected.

4. Risks related to the market generally

4.1 Absence of public markets for the Notes

The Notes may have no trading market when issued and one may never develop. If a market develops, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable with similar investments that have a developed secondary market. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of the Notes as the Notes are publicly traded securities which may from time to time experience significant price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated to the operating performance of the companies that have issued them. Such volatility may be increased in an illiquid market including in circumstances where a significant proportion of the Notes are held by a limited number of initial investors. If any market in the Notes has developed, or does develop, it may become severely restricted, or may disappear, if the financial condition and/or the solvency position of the Issuer deteriorates such that there is an actual or perceived increased likelihood of the Issue being unable to pay interest on the Notes or of a Conversion Trigger Event occurring.

See also "The market value of the Notes may be influenced by factors beyond the Issuer's control" below.

4.2 Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

Payments of principal and interest on the Notes will be made in Sterling, as will any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration paid following a Conversion Trigger Event. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than Sterling. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of Sterling or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to Sterling would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. Governments and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

4.3 Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

Any credit ratings assigned to the Notes may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

Any rating assigned to the Issuer and/or the Notes may be withdrawn entirely by a credit rating agency, may be suspended or may be lowered, if, in that credit rating agency's judgment, circumstances relating to the basis of the rating so warrant. The credit rating agencies may also

revise the ratings methodologies applicable to issuers within a particular industry or political or economic region. If credit rating agencies perceive there to be adverse changes in the factors affecting the Issuer's credit rating, including by virtue of change to applicable ratings methodologies, the credit rating agencies may downgrade, suspend or withdraw the ratings assigned to the Issuer and/or its securities, which in turn could reduce the liquidity or market value of the Notes.

4.4 The market value of the Notes may be influenced by factors beyond the Issuer's control

Many factors, most of which are beyond the Issuer's control, will influence the market value of the Notes and the price, if any, at which securities dealers may be willing to purchase or sell the Notes in the secondary market. Such factors include any credit ratings assigned to the Issuer and the Notes (and any subsequent downgrading thereof), the creditworthiness of the Issuer and in particular the Issuer and the Group's compliance with the Solvency Capital Requirement and the Minimum Capital Requirement, supply and demand for the Notes, the Interest Rate applicable to the Notes from time to time, exchange rates and macro-economic, political, regulatory or judicial events which affect the Issuer or the markets in which it operates.

4.5 Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) the Notes and any Conversion Shares which may be delivered upon conversion of the Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) the Notes and any Conversion Shares which may be delivered upon conversion of the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of the Notes and any Conversion Shares which may be delivered upon conversion of the Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes and any Conversion Shares which may be delivered upon conversion of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

4.6 The Notes are complex financial instruments and are not a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors

The Notes are complex financial instruments and are not a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors. In particular, but without limitation, the Notes are not intended to be sold and should not be sold to retail clients in the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom, as defined in the rules set out in the PI Instrument, as amended or replaced from time to time, other than in circumstances that would not (were the Notes within the scope of such rules) give rise to a contravention of those rules by any person. Prospective investors are referred to the section headed "Prohibition on marketing and sales of Notes to retail investors" in this Offering Memorandum for further information.

Further, each potential investor in the Notes should determine the suitability of such investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(A) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum;

- (B) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (C) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes, such as the provisions governing a Conversion (including, in particular, the circumstances under which the Conversion Trigger Event may occur) and the situations in which interest payments may be cancelled or deemed cancelled (including that the Issuer may cancel any interest payment in its sole and absolute discretion); and
- (D) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

This Offering Memorandum has been prepared on the basis that any purchaser of Notes is a person or entity having sufficient knowledge and experience of financial matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the purchase. Before making any investment decision with respect to the Notes, prospective investors should consult their own counsel, accountants or other advisers and carefully review and consider their investment decision in the light of the foregoing. An investment in the Notes is only suitable for financially sophisticated investors who are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses which may result therefrom.

4.7 Investors must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer

The Notes will be represented by the Global Certificate upon issue. The Global Certificate will be registered in the name of a nominee for the Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstances described in the Global Certificate, investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Notes. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. While the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and will receive and provide any notices only through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to or to the order of the registered holder as nominee for the Common Depositary for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg for distribution to their accountholders. A holder of a beneficial interest in the Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive payments under the Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Certificate.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

This Offering Memorandum should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents:

- (1) the annual report and the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, together with the audit report thereon https://www.legalandgeneralgroup.com/media/15278/242100698_lg_ar18_290419_web_re-ady.pdf (the "2018 Annual Report and Accounts");
- (2) the annual report and the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, together with the audit report thereon https://www.legalandgeneralgroup.com/media/17715/240101077 Ig ar2019 webready lo-1.pdf (the "2019 Annual Report and Accounts");
- (3) the Solvency and Financial Condition Report of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 https://www.legalandgeneralgroup.com/media/17749/sfcr-legal-generalgroup-plc.pdf (the "2019 Solvency and Financial Condition Report"); and
- (4) the announcement entitled "L&G plans to capitalise on favourable market conditions to issue RT1 debt; opportunity to reinforce balance sheet strength and underpin growth role in uncertain post-COVID-19 economy" which was published via the London Stock Exchange's Regulatory News Service and on the website of the Issuer on 16 June 2020 https://www.legalandgeneralgroup.com/investors/investor-news/lg-plans-to-capitalise-on-favourable-market-conditions-to-issue-rt1-debt-opportunity-to-reinforce-balance-sheet-strength-and-underpin-growth-role-in-uncertain-post-covid-19-economy/ (the "Announcement"),

each of which has been previously published or is published simultaneously with this Offering Memorandum and which has been filed with the London Stock Exchange.

The documents referred to above shall be incorporated in, and form part of this Offering Memorandum, save that any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Offering Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Offering Memorandum.

Following the publication of this Offering Memorandum a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer. Statements contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Offering Memorandum. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute part of this Offering Memorandum.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum can be obtained from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified offices of the Paying Agents for the time being in London. Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum are also available for viewing on the website of the Issuer at

<u>https://www.legalandgeneralgroup.com/investors/debt-investors/</u>. The website of the Issuer does not form part of this Offering Memorandum.

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum shall not form part of this Offering Memorandum.

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for an investor or are otherwise covered elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum.

Terms and Conditions of the Notes

The following is the text of the terms and conditions of the Notes (as defined below) that, save for the text in italics, shall be applicable to the Certificates (as defined below) in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Certificate representing the Notes. The full text of these terms and conditions shall be endorsed on the Certificates relating to such Notes. Provisions in italics do not form part of the Conditions (as defined below).

The £500,000,000 Fixed Rate Reset Perpetual Restricted Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Notes (the "Notes", which expression shall in these terms and conditions (the "Conditions"), unless the context otherwise requires, include any Further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues)) of Legal & General Group plc (the "Issuer") are constituted by a trust deed dated 24 June 2020 (as modified and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Trust Deed") between the Issuer and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the holders of the Notes.

These Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the forms of the Certificates referred to below. An agency agreement dated 24 June 2020 (as modified and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") has been entered into in relation to the Notes between the Issuer, the Trustee, Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG as registrar, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as principal paying and conversion agent, transfer agent and interest calculation agent and the other agents named in it. The principal paying and conversion agent, the other paying and conversion agents, the registrar, the transfer agent and the interest calculation agent for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Principal Paying and Conversion Agent", the "Paying and Conversion Agents" (which expression shall include the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent), the "Registrar", the "Transfer Agent" and the "Interest Calculation Agent". A conversion calculation agency agreement dated 24 June 2020 (as modified from time to time, the "Conversion Calculation Agency Agreement") has been entered into in relation to the Notes between the Issuer and Conv-Ex Advisors Limited as conversion calculation agent (the "Conversion Calculation Agent" which expression shall include any successor as conversion calculation agent).

Copies of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Conversion Calculation Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours by the Noteholders at the specified offices of the Paying and Conversion Agents and the Transfer Agent.

The Noteholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

Capitalised terms and expressions used in these Conditions but not otherwise defined herein shall, unless the context requires otherwise, have the meanings give to them in the Trust Deed.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

1.1 Form and Denomination

The Notes are issued in registered form in specified denominations of £200,000 and integral multiples of £1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes are represented by registered certificates

("Certificates") and each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of the Notes by the same holder.

1.2 Title

Title to the Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the "Register"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder. In these Conditions, "Noteholder" and (in relation to a Note) "holder" means the person in whose name a Note is registered in the Register.

2. Transfers of Notes and Issue of Certificates

2.1 Transfers

One or more Notes may, subject to Condition 2.4 (Closed periods), be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. A Note may not be transferred unless the principal amount of the Notes transferred (and where not all of the Notes held by a Noteholder are transferred, the principal amount of the balance of the Notes not transferred) is equal to a specified denomination. In the case of a transfer of Notes to a person who is already a Noteholder, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding may be issued but only against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding of such person. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request.

2.2 Delivery of new Certificates

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2.1 (*Transfers*) shall be available for delivery within 3 (three) Business Days of receipt of the form of transfer and surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom delivery of such form of transfer and surrender of the relevant Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery and surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant form of transfer or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless

such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2.2, "**Business Day**" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

2.3 Transfers free of charge

Transfers of Notes and the issue of new Certificates on transfer shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges by the person submitting such Notes or Certificates that may be imposed in relation to the transfer or its registration (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).

2.4 Closed periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Note to be registered (i) during the period of 15 days ending on (and including) any date on which Notes may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 7.6 (*Redemption at the Option of the Issuer*), (ii) after that Note has been called for redemption, (iii) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any record date (as defined in Condition 8.1 (*Payments in respect of Notes*)), or (iv) at any time after the second Business Day following the giving of a Conversion Trigger Notice by the Issuer.

3. Status

3.1 Status of the Notes

The Notes constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves. The rights and claims of the Noteholders are subordinated as described in this Condition 3.

3.2 Solvency Condition

Other than where Condition 3.3 (Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event) or Condition 3.4 (Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event) applies, and subject as provided in Condition 3.6 (Trustee's fees), all payments under or arising from the Notes and the Trust Deed (including, without limitation, any payments in respect of damages awarded for breach of any obligations but excluding any cash component of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) shall be conditional upon the Issuer being solvent at the time for payment by the Issuer and no amount shall be payable under or arising from the Notes or the Trust Deed (including, without limitation, any payments in respect of damages awarded for breach of any obligations) unless and until such time as the Issuer could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter (referred to herein as the "Solvency Condition").

For the purposes of this Condition 3.2, the Issuer will be solvent if:

- (A) it is able to pay its debts owed to Pari Passu Creditors and Senior Creditors as they fall due; and
- (B) its Assets exceed its Liabilities.

A certificate as to the solvency of the Issuer signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer or, if there is a winding-up or administration of the Issuer, the liquidator or, as the case may be, the administrator of the Issuer shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without further investigations and without liability to any person for doing so.

Any payment of interest that would have been due and payable but for the operation of this Condition 3.2 shall be cancelled pursuant to Condition 5.2 (*Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments*).

3.3 Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event

If at any time prior to the date on which a Conversion Trigger Event occurs:

- (A) an order is made, or an effective resolution is passed, for the winding-up or liquidation of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up); or
- (B) an administrator of the Issuer is appointed and such administrator declares, or gives notice that it intends to declare and distribute, a dividend,

(the events in (A) and (B) each being an "Issuer Winding-Up") there shall be payable by the Issuer in respect of each Note (in lieu of any other payment by the Issuer) such amount, if any, that would have been payable in respect of that Note if, on the day prior to the commencement of the winding-up or liquidation of the Issuer or the Issuer's entry into administration and thereafter, the holder of that Note was the holder of one of a class of preference shares in the capital of the Issuer ("Notional Preference Shares"):

- (i) having a preferential right to a return of assets in such winding-up, liquidation or administration to, and so ranking ahead of, the holders of the Ordinary Shares and shares of any other class which may be issued or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer (other than shares of any class referred to in paragraphs (ii) and (iii) below);
- (ii) having an equal right to a return of assets in such winding-up, liquidation or administration to, and so ranking *pari passu* with, the holders of securities of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Notes in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital (including, without limitation, shares of any class which may be issued or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Notional Preference Shares in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital) (the holders of such securities being "Pari Passu Creditors"); and

(iii) ranking behind the claims of Senior Creditors and the holders of shares of any class which may be issued or deemed to be in issue for the time being in the capital of the Issuer which, by their terms, rank or are expressed to rank ahead of the Notional Preference Shares in a winding-up, liquidation or other return of capital,

on the assumption that the holder of each such Notional Preference Share was entitled (to the exclusion of all other rights and privileges) to receive, in respect of each such Notional Preference Share, as a return of capital in such winding-up, liquidation or administration an amount equal to the principal amount of the relevant Note then outstanding together with, to the extent not otherwise included within the foregoing, any other amounts attributable to the Note, including any accrued but unpaid interest thereon (to the extent not cancelled in accordance with these Conditions) and any damages awarded for breach of any obligations in respect thereof, whether or not the conditions referred to in Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*) are satisfied on the date upon which the same would otherwise be due and payable (and, in the case of an administration, on the assumption that shareholders were entitled to claim and recover in respect of their shares to the same degree as in a winding-up or liquidation).

3.4 Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event

If, at any time on or after the date on which a Conversion Trigger Event occurs, an Issuer Winding-Up occurs but the relevant Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary on Conversion in accordance with Condition 6 (*Conversion*) have not been so delivered, there shall be payable by the Issuer in respect of each Note (in lieu of any other payment by the Issuer) such amount, if any, that would have been payable in respect of that Note if, on the day prior to the commencement of the winding-up or liquidation of the Issuer or the Issuer's entry into administration and thereafter, the holder of that Note was the holder of such number of Ordinary Shares as it would have been entitled to receive following Conversion of that Note in accordance with Condition 6 (*Conversion*) (ignoring for these purposes the Issuer's right to make an election for a Conversion Shares Offer to be effected in accordance with Condition 6.6 (*Conversion Shares Offer*)), whether or not the conditions referred to in Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*) are satisfied on the date upon which the same would otherwise be due and payable (and, in the case of an administration, on the assumption that shareholders were entitled to claim and recover in respect of their shares to the same degree as in a winding-up or liquidation).

3.5 Set-off and counterclaim

Subject to applicable law, no holder of the Notes may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, compensation or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Notes and each holder shall, by virtue of being the holder of any Note, be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, compensation or retention. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, if any of the amounts owing to any holder of the Notes by the Issuer in respect of, or arising under or in connection with, the Notes is discharged by set-off, such holder shall, unless such payment is prohibited by applicable law, immediately pay an amount equal to the amount of such discharge to the Issuer or, in the event of its winding-up or administration, the liquidator or administrator, as appropriate, of the Issuer for payment to the Senior Creditors in respect of amounts owing to them by the Issuer and, until such time as payment is made, shall hold an amount equal to such amount

in trust for the Issuer, or the liquidator or administrator, as appropriate, of the Issuer for payment to the Senior Creditors in respect of amounts owing to them by the Issuer, and accordingly any such discharge shall be deemed not to have taken place. The perpetuity period for each trust created pursuant to this Condition 3.5 shall be 125 years from the date such trust becomes constituted.

3.6 Trustee's fees

Nothing in the Trust Deed or these Conditions shall affect, subordinate or prejudice the payment of the costs, fees, charges, expenses, liabilities or remuneration of the Trustee under the Trust Deed or the rights and remedies of the Trustee in respect thereof.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility for, or liability or obligation in respect of, any loss, claim or demand incurred as a result of or in connection with any non-payment of interest, principal or other amounts by reason of Conditions 3.2 (Solvency Condition), 3.3 (Windingup prior to a Conversion Trigger Event), 3.4 (Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event), 5 (Interest Cancellation), 6 (Conversion) or 7 (Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase).

4. Interest

4.1 Interest Rate

(A) Each Note bears interest on its principal amount outstanding at the applicable Interest Rate from (and including) the Issue Date in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 4.

Subject to Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*), Condition 5 (*Interest Cancellation*) and Condition 6 (*Conversion*), interest shall be payable on the Notes semi-annually in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, in each case as provided in this Condition 4, save that the interest payable on the first Interest Payment Date shall be in respect of the period from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date as provided below.

Interest in respect of the Notes shall be calculated per £1,000 in principal amount outstanding of the Notes (the "Calculation Amount").

(B) In respect of each Interest Period, the amount of interest payable (subject as aforesaid) per Calculation Amount shall be equal to the product of the Calculation Amount and the relevant Interest Rate in respect of such Interest Period and the Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest penny (half a penny being rounded upwards).

In these Conditions, "Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of any relevant period, (a) the actual number of days in the period from and including the date from which interest begins to accrue (the "Accrual Date") to but excluding the date on which it falls due divided by (b) (i) twice the actual number of days from and including the Accrual Date to but excluding the next following Interest Payment Date or, (ii) in the case of any period falling within the short first Interest Period, 365.

The first Interest Period shall be a short first Interest Period for the period from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and the amount of interest payable in respect of each Calculation Amount on the first Interest Payment Date will, subject to Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*), Condition 5 (*Interest Cancellation*) and Condition 6 (*Conversion*), if paid in full be £14.178.

4.2 Interest Accrual

Without prejudice to Condition 3.2 (Solvency Condition), Condition 5 (Interest Cancellation) and Condition 6 (Conversion), interest shall cease to accrue on each Note from (and including) the date of redemption thereof pursuant to Condition 7 (Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase) unless payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (in each case, both before and after judgment) as provided in the Trust Deed.

4.3 Initial Interest Rate

For each Interest Period falling within the period from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the First Reset Date (such period being the "Initial Fixed Rate Interest Period"), the Notes bear interest at the rate of 5.625 per cent. per annum (the "Initial Fixed Interest Rate").

Accordingly, the amount of interest which will, subject to Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*), Condition 5 (*Interest Cancellation*) and Condition 6 (*Conversion*), be payable on each Interest Payment Date up to (and including) the First Reset Date will (if paid in full) be £28.125 per Calculation Amount, subject as provided in paragraph (B) of Condition 4.1 (*Interest Rate*) in respect of the first Interest Payment Date.

4.4 Reset Rate of Interest

The Interest Rate will be reset in accordance with this Condition 4 on each Reset Date. The Reset Rate of Interest applicable in respect of each Reset Period will be determined by the Interest Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date.

4.5 Determination of Reset Rate of Interest

The Interest Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after 11:00 a.m. (London time) on each Reset Determination Date, determine the applicable Reset Rate of Interest in respect of the Reset Period commencing immediately following each Reset Determination Date and shall promptly notify the Issuer, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and the Trustee thereof.

4.6 Publication of Reset Rate of Interest

Once the Issuer, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and the Trustee have been notified of an applicable Reset Rate of Interest by the Interest Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 4.5 (*Determination of Reset Rate of Interest*), the Issuer shall cause notice of such Reset Rate of Interest, and the amount of interest which will, subject to Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*), Condition 5 (*Interest Cancellation*) and Condition 6

(Conversion), be payable per Calculation Amount on each Interest Payment Date in respect of which such Reset Rate of Interest applies, to be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices) as soon as reasonably practicable after the determination of such Reset Rate of Interest in accordance with Condition 4.5 (Determination of Reset Rate of Interest) and in any event no later than the fourth (4th) Business Day thereafter.

4.7 Determinations and calculation

If the Interest Calculation Agent does not at any relevant time and for any reason determine any applicable Reset Rate of Interest in accordance with this Condition 4, the Issuer shall (with the prior approval of the Trustee) appoint another leading financial institution (which may or may not be an institution which is also appointed to replace the Interest Calculation Agent pursuant to Condition 4.8 (*Interest Calculation Agent*) below) to act in its place and to determine that Reset Rate of Interest. Following such appointment, the relevant leading financial institution shall determine the relevant Reset Rate of Interest (being such rate as, in its absolute discretion (having such regard as it deems fit to the procedures prescribed in this Condition 4), it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances) and such determination shall be deemed to be a determination thereof by the Interest Calculation Agent.

4.8 Interest Calculation Agent

Unless the Issuer has given notice that it intends to redeem the Notes on or before the First Reset Date pursuant to Condition 7 (*Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase*), with effect from the date falling no later than five (5) days prior to the First Reset Date and for so long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, the Issuer shall appoint and maintain an Interest Calculation Agent. If the Issuer has given notice that it intends to redeem the Notes on or before the First Reset Date pursuant to Condition 7 (*Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase*) but such redemption is, as determined on or after the fifth day prior to the First Reset Date, required to be suspended or to continue to be suspended in accordance with Condition 7.4 (*Suspension of Redemption*), the Issuer shall appoint an Interest Calculation Agent as soon as reasonably practicable following the determination that such redemption is to be suspended or to continue to be suspended and shall maintain the same so long as any of the Notes remains outstanding.

The Issuer may, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, from time to time replace the Interest Calculation Agent with another leading financial institution in London. If the Interest Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to continue to act as the Interest Calculation Agent, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint another leading financial institution in London approved in writing by the Trustee to act as such in its place. The Interest Calculation Agent may not resign its duties or be removed without a successor having been appointed.

4.9 Determinations binding

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 4, by the Interest Calculation Agent or any leading financial institution appointed pursuant to Condition 4.7 (*Determinations and calculation*), shall (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Interest Calculation Agent, the Trustee, the Paying and Conversion Agents, the

Conversion Calculation Agent and all Noteholders and (in the absence of wilful default and gross negligence) no liability to the Noteholders or the Issuer shall attach to the Interest Calculation Agent or any leading financial institution appointed pursuant to Condition 4.7 (*Determinations and calculation*) in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by them of any of their powers, duties and discretions.

5. Interest Cancellation

5.1 Interest Payments Discretionary

Interest on the Notes is due and payable only at the sole and absolute discretion of the Issuer and is subject to the provisions of Condition 3.2 (Solvency Condition), Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments) and Condition 6.9 (Accrued Interest on Conversion). Accordingly, the Issuer may at any time elect to cancel any Interest Payment (or any part thereof) which would otherwise be due and payable on any Interest Payment Date.

If the Issuer does not make an Interest Payment or part thereof on the relevant Interest Payment Date, such non-payment shall evidence the non-payment and cancellation of such Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) by reason of it not being due in accordance with Condition 3.2 (*Solvency Condition*), the cancellation of such Interest Payment in accordance with Condition 5.2 (*Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments*) or Condition 6.9 (*Accrued Interest on Conversion*) or, as appropriate, the Issuer's exercise of its discretion otherwise to cancel such Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) in accordance with this Condition 5.1, and accordingly such interest shall not in any such case be due and payable.

5.2 Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments

To the extent required by the Relevant Rules from time to time and save as otherwise permitted pursuant to Condition 5.3 (*Waiver of Cancellation of Interest Payments by the Relevant Regulator*), the Issuer shall cancel in full any Interest Payment on the Notes in accordance with this Condition 5 if:

- (A) the Solvency Condition is not met at the time for payment of such Interest Payment, or would cease to be met immediately following, and as a result of making, such Interest Payment (having regard also to any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto);
- (B) there is non-compliance with the Solvency Capital Requirement at the time for payment of such Interest Payment, or non-compliance with the Solvency Capital Requirement would occur immediately following, and as a result of making, such Interest Payment (having regard also to any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto);
- (C) there is non-compliance with the Minimum Capital Requirement at the time for payment of such Interest Payment, or non-compliance with the Minimum Capital Requirement would occur immediately following, and as a result of making, such Interest Payment (having regard also to any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto);

- (D) the amount of such Interest Payment, together with any Additional Amounts payable with respect thereto, when aggregated together with any interest payments or distributions which have been paid or made or which are scheduled simultaneously to be paid or made on all Tier 1 Own Funds (excluding any such payments which do not reduce the Issuer's Distributable Items and any payments already accounted for by way of deduction in determining the Issuer's Distributable Items) since the end of the latest financial year of the Issuer and prior to, or on, such Interest Payment Date, would exceed the amount of the Issuer's Distributable Items as at the Interest Payment Date in respect of such Interest Payment; or
- (E) the Issuer is otherwise required by the Relevant Regulator or under the Relevant Rules to cancel the relevant Interest Payment,

each of the events or circumstances described in paragraphs (A) to (E) (inclusive) above being a "Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event".

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming that: (i) a Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event has occurred and is continuing, or would occur if payment of interest on the Notes were to be made; or (ii) a Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event has ceased and is no longer continuing and/or payment of interest on the Notes would not result in a Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event occurring, shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

5.3 Waiver of Cancellation of Interest Payments by the Relevant Regulator

Notwithstanding Condition 5.2 (*Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments*), the Issuer shall not be required to cancel an Interest Payment where a Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event has occurred and is continuing, or would occur if payment of interest on the Notes were to be made (to the extent permitted by the Relevant Rules) where:

- (A) the Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event is of the type described in paragraph (B) of Condition 5.2 (*Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments*) only;
- (B) the Relevant Regulator has exceptionally waived the cancellation of the Interest Payment;
- (C) payment of the Interest Payment would not further weaken the solvency position of the Issuer or the Group; and
- (D) the Minimum Capital Requirement will be complied with immediately following such Interest Payment, if made.

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming that the conditions set out in this Condition 5.3 are met, shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof,

shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

5.4 Effect of Cancellation of Interest Payments

Any Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) which is cancelled in accordance with this Condition 5 or which is otherwise not due and payable in accordance with Condition 3.2 (Solvency Condition) or which is cancelled in accordance with Condition 6.9 (Accrued Interest on Conversion) shall not become due and shall not accumulate or be payable at any time thereafter, and Noteholders shall have no rights in respect thereof (whether in a winding-up of the Issuer or otherwise) and any such cancellation or non-payment shall not constitute a default or event of default on the part of the Issuer for any purpose.

5.5 Notice of Cancellation of Interest Payments

If practicable, the Issuer shall provide notice of any cancellation of any Interest Payment (or any part thereof) pursuant to Condition 5.1 (*Interest Payments Discretionary*) or Condition 5.2 (*Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments*) to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), and to the Trustee in a certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer, and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, at least five (5) Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date (or, if the determination that such Interest Payment (or any part thereof) is to be cancelled is made after such fifth (5th) Business Day, as soon as is practicable following the making of such determination). However, any failure to provide such notice will not invalidate the cancellation of the relevant Interest Payment (or relevant part thereof) and shall not constitute a default or event of default on the part of the Issuer for any purpose.

6. Conversion

6.1 Notes not convertible at the option of Noteholders or the Trustee

The Notes are not convertible at the option of Noteholders or the Trustee at any time.

6.2 Conversion upon Conversion Trigger Event

- (A) If a Conversion Trigger Event occurs, the Issuer's obligation to repay the principal amount outstanding of each Note and (to the extent applicable) to pay interest on the Notes shall, subject to and as provided in this Condition 6 and without any further action required on the part of the Issuer or the Trustee, be irrevocably released and discharged on a permanent basis in consideration for an undertaking on the part of the Issuer to issue and deliver Ordinary Shares, credited as fully paid, in the manner and in the circumstances described below to the Conversion Shares Depositary, to be held on trust (on terms permitting a Conversion Shares Offer in accordance with Condition 6.6 (Conversion Shares Offer)) for the Noteholders, as provided below.
- (B) On the Share Delivery Date the Issuer shall issue and deliver to the Conversion Shares Depositary a number of Ordinary Shares determined by dividing the aggregate principal amount outstanding of the Notes by the Conversion Price

prevailing on the last Dealing Day immediately preceding the Share Delivery Date (subject to Condition 6.16 (*Fractions*)).

The **"Conversion Price"** per Ordinary Share in respect of the Notes is £1.6310, subject to adjustment in the circumstances described in Condition 6.10 (*Adjustment of Conversion Price*).

- (C) Upon the issue and delivery of the Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary on the Share Delivery Date, the Issuer shall be deemed to have redeemed the Notes on the Conversion Date in an amount equal to their principal amount outstanding and the Noteholders shall be deemed irrevocably to have directed and authorised the Issuer to apply such sum on their behalf in paying up the Conversion Shares issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary on the Share Delivery Date.
- (D) Once a Note has been converted into Ordinary Shares, there is no provision for the reconversion of such Ordinary Shares back into Notes.
- (E) Immediately upon the issue and delivery by the Issuer of the Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary in accordance with these Conditions, the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall irrevocably be released and discharged in full and no Noteholder will have any rights against the Issuer with respect to such obligations. Provided that the Issuer so issues and delivers the Conversion Shares, from (and including) the Share Delivery Date Noteholders shall have recourse only to the Conversion Shares Depositary for the delivery to them of such Conversion Shares or, subject to and as provided in Condition 6.6 (*Conversion Shares Offer*), the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration.
- (F) Subject to Condition 3.4 (*Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event*), if the Issuer fails to issue and deliver the Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary on the Share Delivery Date, a Noteholder's only right under the Notes against the Issuer for any such failure will be to claim to have such Conversion Shares so issued and delivered.

6.3 Notification of the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event

(A) Whether the Conversion Trigger Event has occurred at any time shall be determined by the Issuer, and such determination shall (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Trustee and the Noteholders. Following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, the Issuer shall promptly notify the Relevant Regulator and shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming that a Conversion Trigger Event has occurred. The certificate shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

- (B) Following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, but only after delivery to the Trustee of the certificate referred to in paragraph (A) of this Condition 6.3, the Issuer shall promptly (and, in any event, within such period as the Relevant Regulator may require) give notice thereof to the Noteholders (a "Conversion Trigger Notice") in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices), and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, stating (to the extent applicable):
 - (i) details of the Conversion Trigger Event;
 - the date on which the Conversion Trigger Event occurred (the "Conversion Date");
 - (iii) the Conversion Price prevailing on the Conversion Date (which shall remain subject to any subsequent adjustment pursuant to Condition 6.10 (Adjustment of Conversion Price) up to the last Dealing Day immediately preceding the Share Delivery Date);
 - (iv) the Share Delivery Date or expected Share Delivery Date;
 - (v) the Notice Cut-off Date and the Final Cancellation Date;
 - (vi) details of the Conversion Shares Depositary and details of how notices may be delivered to such Conversion Shares Depositary;
 - (vii) that:
 - (1) the Issuer has the option, at its sole and absolute discretion, to elect that a Conversion Shares Offer be conducted and that the Issuer will issue a Conversion Shares Offer Notice in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices) within thirty (30) Business Days following the Conversion Date notifying Noteholders of its decision as to such election; and
 - (2) each Noteholder shall be entitled to deliver an Opt-Out Notice in respect of any Conversion Shares Offer, as described in Condition 6.7 (*Eligible Conversion Shares*); and
 - (viii) that the Notes shall remain in existence until the applicable Settlement Date (or, if earlier, the Final Cancellation Date) for the sole purpose of evidencing the relevant Noteholder's right to receive Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, from the Conversion Shares Depositary.

Whilst, as provided in Condition 2.4(iv), Noteholders may not require the transfer of a Note to be registered at any time after the second Business Day following the giving of a Conversion Trigger Notice, interests in the Notes may still be traded in the Clearing Systems up to the Suspension Date – see "Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form – Suspension Date following Conversion".

(C) Failure by the Issuer to deliver a certificate to the Trustee or to give notice to Noteholders, the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent of the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event pursuant to this Condition 6.3 shall in no way invalidate or otherwise affect the automatic Conversion of the Notes pursuant to Condition 6.2 (Conversion upon Conversion Trigger Event).

6.4 Waiver of Conversion by the Relevant Regulator

- (A) To the extent permitted by and in accordance with the Relevant Rules in force as at the relevant time, a Conversion may be exceptionally waived by the Relevant Regulator at any time prior to the Conversion Date if such a Conversion (taking into account the write-down or conversion of any other Own Fund Items on or around the Conversion Date) would give rise to a tax liability that would have a significant adverse effect on the solvency or capital position of the Issuer and/or the Group. If a Conversion is so waived, such Conversion shall not occur (but without prejudice to the cancellation of any Interest Payment or part thereof pursuant to Condition 5(Interest Cancellation)). The Issuer shall give notice to the Trustee, any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading and, in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices), the Noteholders of the grant of any such waiver as soon as practicable following its receipt from the Relevant Regulator.
- (B) A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming that Relevant Regulator has waived any Conversion as described in the immediately preceding paragraph shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without further investigations and without liability to any person for doing so.

Under the Relevant Rules in force as at the Issue Date, the Relevant Regulator is permitted (but not required) exceptionally to waive a Conversion in certain limited circumstances (being that it was triggered only by limb (c) of the definition of "Conversion Trigger Event" and not by either of limbs (a) or (b) of such definition) where it has received, prior to the Conversion Date (i) projections provided by the Issuer and/or the Group when it submits its recovery plan required by the Relevant Rules, that demonstrate that triggering the principal loss absorption mechanism in such case would be very likely to give rise to a tax liability that would have a significant adverse effect on the Issuer's and/or the Group's solvency position; and (ii) a certificate issued by the Issuer's or the Group's auditors certifying that all of the assumptions used in the projections are realistic.

6.5 Conversion Shares Depositary

- (A) The Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to appoint a Conversion Shares Depositary as soon as reasonably practicable following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event.
- (B) If the Issuer is unable to appoint a Conversion Shares Depositary, it shall make such other arrangements for the issuance and delivery of the Conversion Shares as it shall consider reasonable in the circumstances, which may include issuing and

delivering the Conversion Shares to another independent nominee to be held on trust (on terms permitting a Conversion Shares Offer in accordance with Condition 6.6 (*Conversion Shares Offer*)) for the Noteholders or to the Noteholders directly. The issuance and delivery of the Conversion Shares pursuant to such other arrangements shall be in consideration of the irrevocable release and discharge of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes on a permanent basis as though the relevant Conversion Shares had been issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary and, in which case, where the context so admits, references in these Conditions to the issue and delivery of Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary, and all references herein regarding matters to be undertaken by, or in respect of, the Conversion Shares Depository shall be construed as though they were references to such other arrangements and apply *mutatis mutandis* (including, without limitation, for the purposes of the delivery of Conversion Shares Settlement Notices by Noteholders and the receipt by them of the Conversion Shares or, as the case may be, Conversion Shares Offer Consideration to which they are entitled).

- (C) The Conversion Shares shall (except where the Issuer has been unable to appoint a Conversion Shares Depositary as contemplated in paragraph (B) of this Condition 6.4) initially be registered in the name of the Conversion Shares Depositary, which (subject to the provisions of paragraph (B) of this Condition 6.4) shall hold such Conversion Shares on trust for the Noteholders. By virtue of its holding of any Note, each Noteholder shall be deemed to have irrevocably directed the Issuer to issue and deliver such Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary.
- (D) For so long as the Conversion Shares are held by the Conversion Shares Depositary, the Noteholders shall be entitled to direct the Conversion Shares Depositary to exercise on their behalf all rights of an ordinary shareholder (including voting rights and rights to receive dividends) except that Noteholders shall not be able to sell or otherwise transfer such Conversion Shares unless and until such time as they have been delivered to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 6.8 (Settlement Procedure).
- (E) Following the issuance and delivery of the Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary on the Share Delivery Date, the Notes shall remain in existence until the applicable Settlement Date (or, if earlier, the Final Cancellation Date) for the purpose only of evidencing the Noteholders' right as aforesaid to receive the Conversion Shares or the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as the case may be, to be delivered by the Conversion Shares Depositary.

6.6 Conversion Shares Offer

(A) Subject to this Condition 6.6, the Issuer shall be entitled to elect, in its sole and absolute discretion, that the Conversion Shares Depositary (or any agent(s) on its behalf) will make an offer, in the Issuer's sole and absolute discretion, of all or some of the Eligible Conversion Shares to, in the Issuer's sole and absolute discretion, all or some of the Issuer's Shareholders at such time, such offer to be at a price (the "Conversion Shares Offer Price") determined by the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion, provided that the Conversion Shares Offer Price shall not be lower than the Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price, all in accordance with this Condition 6.6

- (the "Conversion Shares Offer"). For the avoidance of doubt, the Conversion Shares Offer Price may be lower than the Conversion Price.
- (B) Not later than the thirtieth (30th) Business Day following the Conversion Date, the Issuer shall give notice (a "Conversion Shares Offer Notice") to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices), and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, stating whether or not it has elected that a Conversion Shares Offer be conducted and specifying the other information referred to in paragraph 6.6(D) below. If the Issuer fails to give such notice on or before such thirtieth (30th) Business Day, the Issuer shall be treated as having elected not to make a Conversion Shares Offer.
- (C) The Issuer may, on behalf of the Conversion Shares Depositary, appoint one or more Conversion Shares Offer Agents to act as a placement or other agent to facilitate the Conversion Shares Offer. The Issuer may not purchase any Eligible Conversion Shares for its own account pursuant to a Conversion Shares Offer.
- (D) A Conversion Shares Offer Notice shall specify the Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price and the period of time for which the Conversion Shares Offer will be open (the "Conversion Shares Offer Period"). The Conversion Shares Offer Period shall commence no earlier than ten (10) Business Days after the giving of the Conversion Shares Offer Notice by the Issuer and shall end no later than forty (40) Business Days after the giving of the Conversion Shares Offer Notice by the Issuer. A Conversion Shares Offer Notice may also specify a final or indicative Conversion Shares Offer Price and/or the basis on which the final Conversion Shares Offer Price will be determined (which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be wholly within the Issuer's discretion) and/or communicated to persons who are eligible to participate in the Conversion Shares Offer.
- Upon expiry of the Conversion Shares Offer Period, the Conversion Shares (E) Depositary will provide notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices), and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, of the composition of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration (and of the deductions to the cash component, if any, of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration (as set out in the definition of "Conversion Shares Offer Consideration")) per Calculation Amount and the amount (if any) of any Excess Amount per Calculation Amount. The Conversion Shares Offer Consideration shall be held on trust by the Conversion Shares Depositary for the Noteholders, and any Excess Amount shall be held on trust by the Conversion Shares Depositary for the Issuer until paid to or to the order of the Issuer. In accordance with paragraph (F) of Condition 6.8 (Settlement Procedure), the cash component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration shall be payable by the Conversion Shares Depositary to the Noteholders in Sterling irrespective of whether or not the conditions referred to in Condition 3.2 (Solvency Condition) are satisfied.
- (F) The Issuer reserves the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to elect that the Conversion Shares Depositary terminate the Conversion Shares Offer at any time during the Conversion Shares Offer Period. If the Issuer makes such election, it will promptly provide notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13

(*Notices*), and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, and the Conversion Shares Depositary may then, in its sole and absolute discretion, take steps to deliver to Noteholders the Conversion Shares at a time that is earlier than the time at which they would have otherwise received the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration had the Conversion Shares Offer been completed.

- (G) By virtue of its holding of any Note, each Noteholder acknowledges and agrees that if the Issuer elects, in its sole and absolute discretion, that a Conversion Shares Offer be conducted by (or on behalf of) the Conversion Shares Depositary, such Noteholder shall be deemed to have: (i) irrevocably consented to any Conversion Shares Offer taking place subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Notes (including, without limitation, the ability of Noteholders to opt out of the Conversion Shares Offer pursuant to Condition 6.7 (Eligible Conversion Shares)) and, notwithstanding that such Conversion Shares are held by the Conversion Shares Depositary on trust for the Noteholders, to the Conversion Shares Depositary using the Eligible Conversion Shares to settle any Conversion Shares Offer; (ii) irrevocably consented to the transfer of the interest such Noteholder has in the Eligible Conversion Shares (if any) to one or more purchasers identified by the Conversion Shares Depositary in connection with the Conversion Shares Offer; (iii) irrevocably agreed that the Issuer and the Conversion Shares Depositary may take any and all actions necessary to conduct the Conversion Shares Offer in accordance with the terms of the Notes; (iv) irrevocably waived any and all entitlement to Excess Amounts (if any) and instructed that any such Excess Amounts be paid to the Issuer; and (v) irrevocably agreed that none of the Issuer, the Trustee or the Conversion Shares Depositary shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, incur any liability to the Noteholders in respect of the Conversion Shares Offer (except for the obligations of the Conversion Shares Depositary in respect of the Noteholders' entitlement to, and the subsequent delivery of, any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration).
- (H) Any Conversion Shares Offer shall be made subject to applicable laws and regulations in effect at the relevant time and shall be conducted, if at all, only to the extent that the Issuer, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines that the Conversion Shares Offer is practicable. The purchasers of Eligible Conversion Shares sold in any Conversion Shares Offer shall bear the costs and expenses of any Conversion Shares Offer (other than the taxes and foreign exchange transaction costs referred to in Condition 6.17 (Taxes and Duties) and in the definition of Conversion Shares Offer Consideration), including the fees of the Conversion Shares Offer Agent, if any. Neither the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event nor, following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, the election (if any) by the Issuer to undertake a Conversion Shares Offer on the terms set out herein, shall preclude the Issuer from undertaking a rights issue at any time on such terms as the Issuer deems appropriate, at its sole discretion (including, for the avoidance of doubt but without limitation, the offer of Ordinary Shares at or below the Conversion Shares Offer Price).
- (I) The Trustee shall not be responsible for monitoring any Conversion Shares Offer, nor for monitoring or enforcing the obligations of the Conversion Shares Depositary in respect thereof. Following Conversion and delivery of the Conversion Shares to

the Conversion Shares Depositary, Noteholders must look to the Conversion Shares Depositary for any Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration due to them at the relevant time.

(J) Nothing in this Condition 6.6 shall entitle the Issuer to elect that a Conversion Shares Offer be undertaken unless, at least 10 (ten) days (or such shorter period as the Relevant Regulator may accept) prior to making such election, the Issuer has delivered to the Relevant Regulator a properly reasoned, independent tax opinion from an appropriately qualified person, taking into account HM Revenue and Customs' precedent, statements and guidance, to the effect that, under the law applicable at the time of such election, the exercise of the Conversion Shares Offer should not, before the set-off of any prior year losses, be an action that would create a United Kingdom tax charge for the Issuer.

6.7 Eligible Conversion Shares

Following delivery of a Conversion Trigger Notice and prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer described therein, each Noteholder shall be entitled to give notice to the Conversion Shares Depositary that it elects to receive Conversion Shares such that those Conversion Shares attributable to it are not eligible for inclusion in the Conversion Shares Offer (each such notice being an "Opt-Out Notice"). If an Opt-Out Notice in respect of a Note is received by the Conversion Shares Depositary prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer, the Conversion Shares attributable to that Note (rounded down, if necessary, to the nearest whole number of Conversion Shares) shall not constitute Eligible Conversion Shares. If no Opt-Out Notice is received by the Conversion Shares Depositary from a Noteholder prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer, such Noteholder shall be treated as having not given an Opt-Out Notice.

6.8 Settlement Procedure

- (A) To obtain delivery from the Conversion Shares Depositary of Conversion Shares or, as applicable, the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, Noteholders will be required to deliver a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice and the relevant Certificate representing the relevant Note to the Conversion Shares Depositary (or an agent designated for the purpose in the Conversion Trigger Notice) on or before the Notice Cut-off Date.
- (B) If such Conversion Shares Settlement Notice or Certificate is delivered after the end of normal business hours at the specified office of the Conversion Shares Depositary, such delivery shall be deemed for all purposes to have been made or given on the following Business Day.
- (C) If a Noteholder fails to deliver a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice or Certificate on or before the Notice Cut-off Date, or the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice is otherwise determined by the Conversion Shares Depositary to be null and void, then the Conversion Shares Depositary shall continue to hold the relevant Conversion Shares or the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as the

case may be, on trust for that Noteholder until a valid Conversion Shares Settlement Notice (and the Certificate representing the relevant Notes) is so delivered. If any such Conversion Shares or the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration (as applicable) have not been claimed for 12 years after the Final Cancellation Date as aforesaid, the Issuer may, at any time after such time and in its sole and absolute discretion, instruct the Conversion Shares Depositary (or an agent on its behalf) to sell for cash all or some of any such Conversion Shares or any Conversion Share component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration (as applicable) and any such cash proceeds from such sale(s) and any such cash component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration will, in each case, be forfeited and will be transferred to the Issuer for its own account unless the Issuer decides, in its sole and absolute discretion, otherwise and the Issuer will not be a trustee of any such cash and the Issuer shall have no liability to any Noteholder for any loss resulting from such Noteholder not receiving any Conversion Shares, the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration or the cash proceeds from any such sale(s) as aforesaid (as applicable).

- (D) Any determination as to whether any Conversion Shares Settlement Notice has been properly completed and delivered together with the relevant Certificate(s) as provided in these Conditions, or whether any evidence of entitlement to Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, is satisfactory, shall be made by the Conversion Shares Depositary in its sole and absolute discretion and shall be conclusive and binding on the relevant Noteholders.
- (E) Subject as otherwise provided herein, the relevant Conversion Shares (or the Conversion Shares component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) will be delivered on the applicable Settlement Date by or on behalf of the Conversion Shares Depositary in accordance with the instructions given in the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice.
- (F) Any cash component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration shall be paid by or on behalf of the Conversion Shares Depositary on the applicable Settlement Date by transfer to a Sterling account with a bank capable of processing payments in Sterling (as may be specified in the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice) in accordance with the instructions contained in the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice.
- (G) If not previously cancelled on the applicable Settlement Date, the Notes shall be cancelled in full on the Final Cancellation Date and any Noteholder delivering a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice after the Notice Cut-off Date will have to provide evidence of its entitlement to the relevant Conversion Shares or the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, satisfactory to the Conversion Shares Depositary in its sole and absolute discretion in order to receive delivery of such Conversion Shares or such Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable. Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have any liability to any Noteholder for any loss resulting from such Noteholder not receiving any Conversion Shares or the relevant Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, or from any delay in the receipt thereof, in each case as a result of such Noteholder

failing to submit a valid Conversion Shares Settlement Notice and the relevant Certificate, on a timely basis or at all.

6.9 Accrued Interest on Conversion

Any interest in respect of an Interest Payment Date which falls on or after the date of a Conversion Trigger Event shall, without any action required on the part of the Issuer or any other person, be immediately, irrevocably and automatically cancelled and the Issuer's obligation to pay such interest (if any) shall be irrevocably and permanently released in full upon the occurrence of such Conversion Trigger Event and shall not under any circumstances become due and payable.

6.10 Adjustment of Conversion Price

Upon the happening of any of the events described below, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by the Conversion Calculation Agent as follows:

(A) If and whenever there shall be a consolidation, reclassification, redesignation or subdivision in relation to the Ordinary Shares which alters the number of Ordinary Shares in issue, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately prior to the date on which such consolidation, reclassification, redesignation or subdivision takes effect by the following fraction:

A/B

where:

- A is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before such consolidation, reclassification, redesignation or subdivision, as the case may be; and
- B is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately after, and as a result of, such consolidation, reclassification, redesignation or subdivision, as the case may be.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date the consolidation, reclassification, redesignation or subdivision, as the case may be, takes effect.

(B) If and whenever the Issuer shall issue any Ordinary Shares to Shareholders as a class credited as fully paid by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves (including any share premium account or capital redemption reserve) other than: (i) where any such Ordinary Shares are or are to be issued instead of the whole or part of a Cash Dividend which the Shareholders would or could otherwise have elected to receive; (ii) where the Shareholders may elect to receive a Cash Dividend in lieu of such Ordinary Shares; or (iii) where any such Ordinary Shares are or are expressed to be issued in lieu of a dividend (whether or not a Cash Dividend equivalent or amount is announced or would otherwise be payable to the Shareholders, whether at their election or otherwise), the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the

Conversion Price in force immediately prior to the date on which such Ordinary Shares are issued by the following fraction:

A/B

where:

- A is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before such issue; and
- B is the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately after such issue.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Ordinary Shares.

In these Conditions, "Cash Dividend" means any dividend or distribution in respect of the Ordinary Shares which is to be paid or made to Shareholders as a class in cash (in whatever currency) and however described and whether payable out of the share premium account, profits, retained earnings or any other capital or revenue reserve or account, and including a distribution or payment to Shareholders upon or in connection with a reduction of capital.

(C) If and whenever the Issuer shall pay any Extraordinary Dividend to the Shareholders, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately prior to the Effective Date by the following fraction:

(A-B)/A

where:

- A is the Current Market Price of one (1) Ordinary Share on the Effective Date; and
- B is the portion of the Fair Market Value (as at the Effective Date) of the aggregate Extraordinary Dividend attributable to one (1) Ordinary Share, with such portion being determined by dividing the aggregate Extraordinary Dividend by the number of Ordinary Shares entitled to receive the relevant Extraordinary Dividend.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date.

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this paragraph (C) of this Condition 6.10, the first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex-the Extraordinary Dividend on the Relevant Stock Exchange.

"Extraordinary Dividend" means any Cash Dividend that is expressly declared by the Issuer to be a capital distribution, extraordinary dividend, extraordinary distribution, special dividend, special distribution or return of value to Shareholders

as a class or any analogous or similar term, in which case the Extraordinary Dividend shall be such Cash Dividend, provided that any Cash Dividend that is a special dividend or distribution payable from surplus capital generated from continuing operations of the Group shall not constitute an Extraordinary Dividend.

(D) If and whenever the Issuer shall issue Ordinary Shares to Shareholders as a class by way of rights, or the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or (at the direction or request or pursuant to arrangements with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries) any other company, person or entity shall issue or grant to Shareholders as a class by way of rights, any options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase Ordinary Shares, or any Relevant Securities which by their terms of issue carry (directly or indirectly) rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for, any Ordinary Shares (or shall grant any such rights in respect of existing Relevant Securities so issued), in each case at a price per Ordinary Share which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the Effective Date, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately prior to the Effective Date by the following fraction:

$$(A + B)/(A + C)$$

- A is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue on the Effective Date;
- B is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration (if any) receivable for the Ordinary Shares issued by way of rights, or for the Relevant Securities issued by way of rights, or for the options or warrants or other rights issued by way of rights and for the total number of Ordinary Shares deliverable on the exercise thereof, would purchase at such Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the Effective Date; and
- C is the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued or, as the case may be, the maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued upon exercise of such options, warrants or rights calculated as at the date of issue of such options, warrants or rights or upon conversion or exchange or exercise of rights of subscription or purchase in respect thereof at the initial conversion, exchange, subscription or purchase price or rate,

provided that if, on the Effective Date, such number of Ordinary Shares is to be determined by reference to the application of a formula or other variable feature or the occurrence of any event at some subsequent time, then for the purposes of this paragraph (D) of this Condition 6.10, "C" shall be determined by the application of such formula or variable feature or as if the relevant event occurs or had occurred as at the Effective Date and as if such conversion, exchange, subscription, purchase or acquisition had taken place on the Effective Date.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the Effective Date.

"Effective Date" means, in respect of this paragraph (D) of this Condition 6.10, the first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded ex-rights, ex-options or exwarrants on the Relevant Stock Exchange.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, where the events or circumstances giving rise to any adjustment pursuant to this Condition 6.10 have already resulted or will result in an adjustment to the Conversion Price, or where the events or circumstances giving rise to any adjustment arise by virtue of any other events or circumstances which have already given or will give rise to an adjustment to the Conversion Price or where more than one event which gives rise to an adjustment to the Conversion Price occurs within such a short period of time that, in the opinion of the Issuer, a modification to the operation of the adjustment provisions is required to give the intended result:

- (i) such modification shall be made to the operation of the adjustment provisions as may be determined in good faith by an Independent Adviser to be in its opinion appropriate to give the intended result; and
- (ii) such modification shall be made to the operation of these Conditions as may be determined in good faith by an Independent Adviser to be in its opinion appropriate: (a) to ensure that an adjustment to the Conversion Price or the economic effect thereof shall not be taken into account more than once; (b) to ensure that the economic effect of an Extraordinary Dividend is not taken into account more than once; and (c) to reflect a redenomination of the issued Ordinary Shares for the time being into a new currency.

For the avoidance of doubt, the issue of Ordinary Shares on the Share Delivery Date or upon any conversion or exchange in respect of any other securities or the exercise of any other options, warrants or other rights shall not result in an adjustment to the Conversion Price.

6.11 Determination of Consideration Receivable

For the purpose of any calculation of the consideration receivable or price pursuant to paragraph (D) of Condition 6.10 (*Adjustment of Conversion Price*), the following provisions shall apply:

- (A) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares issued for cash shall be the amount of such cash:
- (B) (x) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made available upon the conversion or exchange of any Relevant Securities shall be deemed to be the consideration or price received or receivable for any such Relevant Securities and (y) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made available upon the exercise of rights of subscription attached to any Relevant Securities or upon the exercise of any options, warrants or rights shall be deemed to be that part (which may be the whole) of the consideration or price received or receivable for such Relevant Securities or, as the case may be, for such options, warrants or rights which are attributed by the Issuer to such rights of subscription or, as the case may be, such options, warrants or rights or, if no part of such consideration or price is so attributed, the Fair Market Value of such rights of subscription or, as the case may be, such options, warrants or rights as at the relevant Effective Date, plus in the case of each of (x) and (y) above, the additional minimum consideration receivable or

price (if any) upon the conversion or exchange of such Relevant Securities, or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription attached thereto or, as the case may be, upon exercise of such options, warrants or rights and (z) the consideration receivable or price per Ordinary Share upon the conversion or exchange of, or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription attached to, such Relevant Securities or, as the case may be, upon the exercise of such options, warrants or rights shall be the aggregate consideration or price referred to in (x) or (y) above (as the case may be) divided by the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued upon such conversion or exchange or exercise at the initial conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate;

- (C) if the consideration or price determined pursuant to paragraph (A) of this Condition 6.11 or paragraph (B) of this Condition 6.11 (or any component thereof) shall be expressed in a currency other than the Relevant Currency, it shall be converted into the Relevant Currency at the Prevailing Rate on the relevant Effective Date;
- (D) in determining the consideration or price pursuant to the above, no deduction shall be made for any commissions or fees (howsoever described) or any expenses paid or incurred for any underwriting, placing or management of the issue of the relevant Ordinary Shares or Relevant Securities or options, warrants or rights, or otherwise in connection therewith; and
- (E) the consideration or price shall be determined as provided above on the basis of the consideration or price received, receivable, paid or payable, regardless of whether all or part thereof is received, receivable, paid or payable by or to the Issuer or another entity.

6.12 Decision of the Conversion Calculation Agent or an Independent Adviser

Adjustments to the Conversion Price shall be calculated by the Conversion Calculation Agent upon request from the Issuer and/or, to the extent so specified in the Conditions, in good faith by an Independent Adviser. Adjustments to the Conversion Price calculated by the Conversion Calculation Agent or, where applicable, an Independent Adviser and any other determinations made by the Conversion Calculation Agent or, where applicable, an Independent Adviser, or an opinion of an Independent Adviser, pursuant to these Conditions shall in each case be made in good faith and shall be final and binding (in the absence of manifest error) on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders, the Interest Calculation Agent, the Paying and Conversion Agents and (in the case of a determination by an Independent Adviser) the Conversion Calculation Agent. Subject to the provisions of the Conversion Calculation Agency Agreement, the Conversion Calculation Agent may consult on any matter (including, but not limited to, any legal matter), any legal or other professional adviser and it shall be able to rely upon, and it shall not be liable and shall incur no liability as against the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders, the Interest Calculation Agent or the Paying and Conversion Agents in respect of anything done, or omitted to be done, relating to that matter in good faith in accordance with that adviser's opinion.

The Conversion Calculation Agent shall act solely upon the request from, and exclusively as agent of, the Issuer. Neither the Conversion Calculation Agent (acting in such capacity) nor any Independent Adviser appointed in connection with the Notes (acting in such capacity) will thereby assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust with, and shall

not be liable and shall incur no liability in respect of anything done, or omitted to be done in good faith, in accordance with the Conditions as against the Trustee, the Noteholders, the Interest Calculation Agent or the Paying and Conversion Agents.

So long as any Notes remain outstanding, the Issuer will maintain a Conversion Calculation Agent, which may be the Issuer or another person appointed by the Issuer to serve in such capacity.

The Issuer may at any time with the prior written approval of the Trustee, but without prior notice to or consent from the Interest Calculation Agent, the Paying and Conversion Agents or the Noteholders, replace the Conversion Calculation Agent with itself or an independent financial institution or an independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise.

If any doubt shall arise as to whether an adjustment falls to be made to the Conversion Price or as to the appropriate adjustment to the Conversion Price, the Issuer may at its discretion appoint an Independent Adviser and, following consultation between the Issuer and such Independent Adviser, a written opinion of such Independent Adviser in respect thereof shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Noteholders, save in the case of manifest error.

6.13 Share Option Schemes

No adjustment will be made to the Conversion Price where Ordinary Shares or other Relevant Securities (including rights, warrants and options) are issued, offered, exercised, allotted, purchased, appropriated, modified or granted to, or for the benefit of, employees or former employees (including directors holding or formerly holding executive office or the personal service company of any such person) or their spouses or relatives, in each case, of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or any associated company or to a trustee or trustees to be held for the benefit of any such person, in any such case pursuant to any share or option scheme.

6.14 Rounding Down and Notice of Adjustment to the Conversion Price

On any adjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant to these Conditions, if the resultant Conversion Price is not an integral multiple of £0.0001, it shall be rounded down to the nearest integral multiple of £0.0001. No adjustment shall be made to the Conversion Price where such adjustment (rounded down if applicable) would be less than one (1) per cent. of the Conversion Price then in effect. Any adjustment not required to be made, and/or any amount by which the Conversion Price has been rounded down, shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment, and such subsequent adjustment shall be made on the basis that the adjustment not required to be made had been made at the relevant time and/or, as the case may be, that the relevant rounding down had not been made.

The Conversion Price shall not in any event be reduced to below the nominal value of an Ordinary Share for the time being. The Issuer undertakes that it shall not take any action, and shall procure that no action is taken, that would otherwise result in an adjustment to the Conversion Price to below such nominal value.

In the event the Conversion Price is required to be adjusted pursuant to this Condition 6, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate promptly after the occurrence of the event giving rise to such adjustment, setting forth, inter alia, a brief description of such event and (if then known) the adjusted Conversion Price and the date on which the adjustment takes effect (and if not then known, the Issuer shall deliver a further certificate to the Trustee specifying the same promptly following the determination thereof). Such event and adjustment to the Conversion Price shall be notified by the Issuer to the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and, in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), to Noteholders promptly after delivery of the relevant certificate to the Trustee.

6.15 Change in Terms on Change of Control

- (A) If a Qualifying Change of Control occurs, the Notes shall, where the Share Delivery Date (if any) falls on or after the New Conversion Condition Effective Date, be converted on such Share Delivery Date into Relevant Shares of the Approved Entity (save as provided below in this Condition 6.15) at a Conversion Price that shall be the New Conversion Price, and the provisions of this Condition 6 shall apply mutatis mutandis to such conversion as though references herein to the Ordinary Shares comprising the Conversion Shares were instead to the Relevant Shares of the Approved Entity. Such conversion shall be effected by the delivery by the Issuer of such number of Ordinary Shares as is determined in accordance with paragraph (B) of Condition 6.2 (Conversion upon Conversion Trigger Event) to, or to the order of, the Approved Entity. Such delivery shall irrevocably release, discharge and satisfy all of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes on a permanent basis (but shall be without prejudice to the rights of the Trustee and the Noteholders against the Approved Entity in connection with its undertaking to deliver Relevant Shares as provided in the definition of "New Conversion Condition" in paragraph (F) of this Condition 6.15). Such delivery shall be in consideration of the Approved Entity irrevocably undertaking, for the benefit of the Noteholders, to deliver the Relevant Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary as aforesaid. For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer may elect that a Conversion Shares Offer be made by the Conversion Shares Depositary in respect of the Relevant Shares.
- (B) The New Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment in the circumstances provided in this Condition 6 (with such modifications and amendments as an Independent Adviser acting in good faith shall determine to be appropriate) and the Issuer shall give notice to Noteholders of the New Conversion Price and of any such modifications and amendments in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing.
- (C) In the case of a Qualifying Change of Control:
 - (i) the Issuer shall, on or prior to the New Conversion Condition Effective Date, enter into such agreements and arrangements, which may include deeds supplemental to the Trust Deed, and such amendments and modifications to the Trust Deed, Agency Agreement or Conversion Calculation Agency Agreement shall be made to ensure that, with effect from the New Conversion Condition Effective Date, the Notes shall (following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event) be convertible into, or

exchangeable for, Relevant Shares of the Approved Entity, *mutatis mutandis* in accordance with, and subject to, this Condition 6 (as may be so supplemented, amended or modified) at the New Conversion Price; and

(ii) the Issuer shall, where the Share Delivery Date falls on or after the New Conversion Condition Effective Date, procure the issue and/or delivery of the relevant number of Relevant Shares in the manner provided in this Condition 6, as may be supplemented, amended or modified as provided above.

Prior to, or simultaneously with, the entry into such agreements and arrangements, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer stating that the amendments and modifications to the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Conversion Calculation Agency Agreement (as applicable) are in accordance with Condition 6.15(C)(i) above. The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person and without further enquiry. Subject to receipt thereof, the Trustee shall be obliged (at the expense of the Issuer) to concur with the Issuer in making any such amendments and modifications to the Trust Deed, and to execute any such deeds supplemental to the Trust Deed, provided that the Trustee shall not be bound to do so if any such amendments, modifications or deeds would, in the opinion of the Trustee, have the effect of: (i) exposing the Trustee to any liability against which it is not indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction; (ii) changing, increasing or adding to the obligations or duties of the Trustee; or (iii) removing or amending any protection or indemnity afforded to, or any other provision in favour of, the Trustee under the Trust Deed, the Conditions and/or the Notes.

(D) If a Non-Qualifying Change of Control occurs then, with effect from the occurrence of such Non-Qualifying Change of Control and unless the Share Delivery Date shall have occurred prior to such date, the Notes shall not be subject to Conversion at any time notwithstanding the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event but, instead, upon the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event in such circumstances the full principal amount outstanding of each Note will automatically be written down to zero, each Note will be cancelled, the Noteholders will be automatically deemed to have irrevocably waived their right to receive, and no longer have any rights against the Issuer with respect to, repayment of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes written down pursuant to this Condition 6 and all accrued but unpaid interest and any other amounts payable on each Note will be cancelled, irrespective of whether such amounts have become due and payable prior to the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event. For the avoidance of doubt, once the full principal amount outstanding of each Note has been written down, it will not be restored under any circumstances, including where the relevant Conversion Trigger Event has ceased to continue. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph (D) of this Condition 6.15 shall affect or prejudice the payment of the costs, charges, expenses, liabilities or remuneration of the Trustee or the rights and remedies of the Trustee in respect thereof.

(E) Within ten (10) days following the occurrence of a Change of Control, the Issuer shall give notice thereof to the Noteholders (a "Change of Control Notice") in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*) and to the Trustee.

The Change of Control Notice shall specify:

- (i) the identity of the Acquiror;
- (ii) whether the Change of Control is a Qualifying Change of Control or a Non-Qualifying Change of Control;
- (iii) in the case of a Qualifying Change of Control, the New Conversion Price; and
- (iv) in the case of a Non-Qualifying Change of Control, that, with effect from the occurrence of the Change of Control and unless a Conversion Trigger Event has occurred prior to the date of such Change of Control and the Share Delivery Date in respect thereof shall have occurred prior to such date, outstanding Notes shall not be subject to Conversion at any time notwithstanding the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event but that, instead, upon the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event in such circumstances, the full principal amount of each Note will automatically and permanently be written down to zero, each Note will be irrevocably cancelled, the Noteholders will be automatically deemed to have irrevocably waived their right to receive, and no longer have any rights against the Issuer with respect to, repayment of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes written down pursuant to this Condition 6.15 and all accrued but unpaid interest and any other amounts payable on each Note will be cancelled, irrespective of whether such amounts have become due and payable prior to the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event.
- (F) As used in this Condition 6.15:

"Acquiror" means the person which, following a Change of Control, controls the Issuer.

"Approved Entity" means a body corporate which, on the occurrence of the Change of Control, has in issue Relevant Shares.

a "Change of Control" shall occur if any person or persons acting in concert (as defined in the Takeover Code of the United Kingdom Panel on Takeovers and Mergers) acquires control of the Issuer (other than as a result of a Newco Scheme), where "control" means: (a) the acquisition or holding of legal or beneficial ownership of more than 50 per cent. of the issued Ordinary Shares of the Issuer; or (b) the right to appoint and/or remove all or the majority of the members of the board of directors of the Issuer, whether obtained directly or indirectly and whether obtained by ownership of share capital, contract or otherwise.

"Change of Control Notice" shall have the meaning given to such term in paragraph (E) of Condition 6.15 (*Change in Terms on Change of Control*) above.

"EEA Regulated Market" means a market as defined by Article 4.1(21) of Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments.

The "New Conversion Condition" shall be satisfied if by not later than seven (7) days following the occurrence of a Change of Control where the Acquiror is an Approved Entity, the Issuer shall have entered into arrangements to its satisfaction with the Approved Entity pursuant to which the Approved Entity irrevocably undertakes to the Trustee, for the benefit of the Noteholders, to deliver the Relevant Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary upon a Conversion of the Notes, all as contemplated in paragraph (A) of Condition 6.15 (Change in Terms on Change of Control).

"New Conversion Condition Effective Date" means the date with effect from which the New Conversion Condition shall have been satisfied.

"New Conversion Price" means the amount determined by the Conversion Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

$$NCP = ECP \times \frac{VWAPRS}{VWAPOS}$$

where:

"NCP" is the New Conversion Price.

"ECP" is the Conversion Price in effect on the Dealing Day immediately prior to the New Conversion Condition Effective Date.

"VWAPRS" means the average of the Volume Weighted Average Price of the Relevant Shares (translated, if necessary, into Sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the relevant Dealing Day) on each of the 10 Dealing Days ending on the Dealing Day prior to the date the Change of Control shall have occurred (and where references in the definition of "Volume Weighted Average Price" to "Ordinary Shares" shall be construed as a reference to the Relevant Shares and in the definition of "Dealing Day", references to the "Relevant Stock Exchange" shall be to the primary Regulated Market on which the Relevant Shares are then listed, admitted to trading or accepted for dealing).

"VWAPOS" is the average of the Volume Weighted Average Price of the Ordinary Shares (translated, if necessary, into Sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the relevant Dealing Day) on each of the 10 Dealing Days ending on the Dealing Day prior to the date the Change of Control shall have occurred.

"Non-Qualifying Change of Control" means a Change of Control that is not a Qualifying Change of Control.

"Qualifying Change of Control" means a Change of Control where:

- (i) the Acquiror is an Approved Entity; and
- (ii) the New Conversion Condition is satisfied.

"Regulated Market" means an EEA Regulated Market or another regulated, regularly operating, recognised stock exchange or securities market in the United Kingdom or an OECD member state.

"Relevant Shares" means ordinary share capital of the Approved Entity that constitutes equity share capital or the equivalent (or depositary or other receipts representing the same) which is listed and admitted to trading on a Regulated Market.

6.16 Fractions

Fractions of Ordinary Shares will not be delivered to or for the benefit of the Conversion Shares Depositary on the Share Delivery Date nor to Noteholders on the applicable Settlement Date and no cash payment will be made in lieu thereof. However, if one or more Conversion Shares Settlement Notices and relevant Certificates are delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary such that any Ordinary Shares (or any Ordinary Share component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable) to be issued and delivered to or for the benefit of a Noteholder on Conversion are to be registered in the same name, the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered in respect thereof shall be calculated by the Conversion Calculation Agent on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of such Notes to be converted.

6.17 Taxes and Duties

None of the Issuer, any other member of the Group or the Trustee shall be liable for any taxes, including any capital, stamp, issue and registration or transfer taxes or duties, arising on or as a result of Conversion or that may arise or be paid as a consequence of the issue and delivery of Ordinary Shares on Conversion or their transfer in any Conversion Shares Offer. A Noteholder must pay any taxes, including any capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes or duties, arising on Conversion in connection with the issue and delivery of the Conversion Shares whether to the Conversion Shares Depositary on behalf of such Noteholder or otherwise to or for the benefit of such Noteholder in accordance with Condition 6.5(B) and such Noteholder must pay all, if any, taxes or duties arising by reference to any disposal or deemed disposal of such Noteholder's Notes or interest therein. Any capital, stamp, issue, registration and transfer taxes or duties arising on delivery or transfer of Conversion Shares to a purchaser in any Conversion Shares Offer shall be payable by the relevant purchaser of those Ordinary Shares.

6.18 Delivery

- (A) Conversion Shares (or the Conversion Shares component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) will be delivered to Noteholders in uncertificated form through the dematerialised securities trading system operated by Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited, known as CREST, unless at the relevant time the Conversion Shares are not a participating security in CREST, in which case Conversion Shares will be delivered either through the primary electronic trading system (if any) in which the Ordinary Shares are, at such time, traded or in certificated form. Where any Conversion Shares (or the Conversion Shares component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) are to be delivered to Noteholders by the Conversion Shares Depositary through CREST or any other electronic trading system, they will be delivered to the account specified by the relevant Noteholder in the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice, on the applicable Settlement Date. Where any Conversion Shares (or the Conversion Shares component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) are to be delivered to Noteholders in certificated form, a certificate in respect thereof will be dispatched by mail free of charge to the relevant Noteholder or as it may direct in the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice (in each case uninsured and at the risk of the relevant recipient) within twentyeight (28) days following the date of the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice.
- (B) The Conversion Shares (or the Conversion Shares component of any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) will not be available for issue or delivery (i) to, or to a nominee for, Euroclear Bank SA/NV or Clearstream Banking S.A. or any other person providing a clearance service within the meaning of Section 96 of the Finance Act 1986 of the United Kingdom or (ii) to a person, or nominee or agent for a person, whose business is or includes issuing depositary receipts within the meaning of Section 93 of the Finance Act 1986 of the United Kingdom, in each case at any time prior to the "abolition day" as defined in Section 111(1) of the Finance Act 1990 of the United Kingdom or, if earlier, such other time at which the Issuer, in its absolute discretion, determines that no charge under Section 67, 70, 93 or 96 of the Finance Act 1986 or any similar charge (under any successor legislation) would arise as a result of such delivery or (iii) to the CREST account of such a person described in (i) or (ii).

6.19 Ordinary Shares

The Conversion Shares issued and delivered on the Share Delivery Date will be fully paid and non-assessable and will in all respects rank *pari passu* with the fully paid Ordinary Shares in issue on the Share Delivery Date, except in any such case for any right excluded by mandatory provisions of applicable law, and except that any Conversion Shares so issued and delivered will not rank for (or, as the case may be, the relevant Noteholder shall not be entitled to receive) any rights, distributions or payments the record date or other due date for the establishment of entitlement for which falls prior to the Share Delivery Date.

6.20 Purchase or Redemption of Ordinary Shares

The Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer may, subject to paragraph (C) of Condition 6.6 (*Conversion Shares Offer*) exercise such rights as it may from time to time enjoy to purchase or redeem or buy back any shares of the Issuer (including Ordinary Shares) or any depositary or other receipts or certificates representing the same without the consent of Noteholders.

6.21 Covenants

Whilst any Note remains outstanding, the Issuer shall (if and to the extent permitted by the Relevant Rules from time to time and only to the extent that such covenant would not cause a Capital Disqualification Event to occur), save with the approval of an Extraordinary Resolution:

- (A) not make any issue, grant or distribution or take or omit to take any other action if the effect thereof would be that, on the Share Delivery Date, Ordinary Shares could not, under any applicable law then in effect, be legally issued as fully paid;
- (B) in the event of a Newco Scheme, take (or shall procure that there is taken) all necessary action to ensure that the Newco Scheme is an Exempt Newco Scheme and that immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement such amendments are made to these Conditions as are necessary to ensure that the Notes may, following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, be converted into or exchanged for ordinary shares or units or the equivalent in Newco mutatis mutandis in accordance with and subject to these Conditions.

The Trustee shall be obliged (at the expense of the Issuer) to concur in effecting such amendments, provided that the Trustee shall not be bound so to concur if to do so would, in the opinion of the Trustee, have the effect of: (i) exposing the Trustee to any liability against which it is not indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction; (ii) changing, increasing or adding to the obligations or duties of the Trustee; or (iii) removing or amending any protection or indemnity afforded to, or any other provision in favour of, the Trustee under the Trust Deed, the Conditions and/or the Notes;

- (C) use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the Ordinary Shares delivered on the Share Delivery Date shall be admitted to listing and trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange;
- (D) notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 6.6 (*Conversion Shares Offer*), at all times keep available for issue or allotment, free from any pre-emptive or other preferential rights, sufficient Ordinary Shares to enable the issue of all Conversion Shares as would be necessary to satisfy in full the obligation of the Issuer to issue and deliver Conversion Shares following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event; and
- (E) where these Conditions require or provide for a determination by an Independent Adviser, use all reasonable endeavours promptly to appoint an Independent Adviser for such purpose.

7. Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase

7.1 No Redemption Date

The Notes are perpetual securities in respect of which there is no fixed redemption date and the Issuer shall only have the right to redeem or purchase the Notes in accordance with the following provisions of this Condition 7. The Notes are not redeemable at the option of the Noteholders at any time.

7.2 Conditions to Redemption and Purchase

To the extent required pursuant to the Relevant Rules at the relevant time, and save as otherwise permitted pursuant to Condition 7.3 (*Waiver of Redemption and Purchase Condition relating to Solvency Capital Requirement by the Relevant Regulator*), the Issuer may not redeem or purchase any Notes unless each of the following conditions is satisfied:

- (A) in the case of a redemption or purchase of the Notes prior to the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Relevant Issue Date, either:
 - such redemption or purchase is funded out of the proceeds of a new issuance of, or the Notes are exchanged into, Tier 1 Own Funds of the same or a higher quality than the Notes; or
 - (ii) in the case of any redemption pursuant to Condition 7.7 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event) or 7.8 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event), the Relevant Regulator is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement will be exceeded by an appropriate margin immediately after such redemption (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and the Group, including by reference to the Issuer's and the Group's medium-term capital management plans); and
 - (1) in the case of any such redemption following the occurrence of a Tax Event, the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Regulator that the applicable change in tax treatment is material; or
 - (2) in the case of any such redemption following the occurrence of a Capital Disqualification Event, the Relevant Regulator considers that the relevant change in the regulatory classification of the Notes is sufficiently certain; and
 - (3) in either case, the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Regulator that such change described in sub-paragraph (1) or(2) above was not reasonably foreseeable as at the Relevant Issue Date;
- (B) in respect of any redemption or purchase of the Notes occurring on or after the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Relevant Issue Date and before the tenth (10th) anniversary of the Relevant Issue Date, the Relevant Regulator has confirmed to the Issuer that

it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement is exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and the Group, including by reference to the Issuer's and the Group's medium-term capital management plans) at the time of, and immediately following, such redemption or purchase, unless such redemption or purchase is funded out of the proceeds of a new issuance of, or the Notes are exchanged into, Tier 1 Own Funds of the same or a higher quality than the Notes;

- (C) the Solvency Condition is met immediately prior to the redemption or purchase of the Notes (as applicable) and the redemption or purchase (as applicable) would not cause the Solvency Condition to be breached;
- (D) the Solvency Capital Requirement is met immediately prior to the redemption or purchase of the Notes (as applicable) and the redemption or purchase (as applicable) would not cause the Solvency Capital Requirement to be breached;
- (E) the Minimum Capital Requirement is met immediately prior to the redemption or purchase of the Notes (as applicable) and the redemption or purchase (as applicable) would not cause the Minimum Capital Requirement to be breached;
- (F) no Insolvent Insurer Winding-up has occurred and is continuing;
- (G) the Regulatory Clearance Condition is satisfied; and
- (H) any other additional or alternative requirements or pre-conditions to which the Issuer is otherwise subject and which may be imposed by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules have (in addition or in the alternative to the foregoing subparagraphs, as the case may be) been complied with (and shall continue to be complied with following the proposed redemption or purchase),

the conditions set out in paragraphs (A) to (H) (inclusive) above (to the extent required pursuant to the Relevant Rules at the relevant time as aforesaid) being the "Redemption and Purchase Conditions".

If on the proposed date for redemption of the Notes the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are not met, redemption of the Notes shall instead be suspended and such redemption shall occur only in accordance with Condition 7.4 (Suspension of Redemption).

7.3 Waiver of Redemption and Purchase Condition relating to Solvency Capital Requirement by the Relevant Regulator

Notwithstanding Condition 7.2 (*Conditions to Redemption and Purchase*), the Issuer shall be entitled to redeem or purchase Notes (to the extent permitted by the Relevant Rules) where:

(A) all Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met other than that described in paragraph (D) of Condition 7.2 (Conditions to Redemption and Purchase);

- (B) the Relevant Regulator has exceptionally waived the cancellation or suspension of redemption or, as the case may be, purchase of the Notes;
- (C) all (but not some only) of the Notes being redeemed or purchased at such time are exchanged for a new issue of Tier 1 Own Funds of the same or higher quality than the Notes or being funded out of the proceeds of one or more issues of Tier 1 Own Funds of the same or higher quality than the Notes; and
- (D) the Minimum Capital Requirement will be complied with immediately following such redemption or purchase, if made.

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming that the conditions set out in this Condition 7.3 are met, shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

7.4 Suspension of Redemption

The Issuer shall notify the Trustee, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*) no later than five (5) Business Days prior to any date set for redemption of the Notes if such redemption is to be suspended in accordance with this Condition 7.4, provided that if an event occurs or is determined less than five (5) Business Days prior to the date set for redemption that results in the Redemption and Purchase Conditions ceasing to be met, the Issuer shall notify the Trustee, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*) as soon as reasonably practicable following the occurrence or determination (as the case may be) of such event.

If redemption of the Notes does not occur on the date specified in the notice of redemption by the Issuer under Conditions 7.6 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer), 7.7 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event), 7.8 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event), 7.9 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event) or 7.11 (Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer) as a result of the operation of Condition 7.2 (Conditions to Redemption and Purchase), the Issuer shall redeem the Notes at their principal amount outstanding together with any accrued and unpaid interest (in each case, to the extent that such amounts have not previously been cancelled pursuant to these Conditions), upon the earlier of:

(A) the date falling ten (10) Business Days after the date on which the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met or redemption of the Notes is otherwise permitted pursuant to Condition 7.3 (Waiver of Redemption and Purchase Condition relating to Solvency Capital Requirement by the Relevant Regulator) (unless on such tenth (10th) Business Day the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are again not met or the redemption of the Notes on such date would result in the Redemption and Purchase Conditions ceasing to be met (in each case save for the Redemption and Purchase Condition at paragraph (D) of Condition 7.2 to the extent waived under

Condition 7.3), in which case the provisions of Condition 7.2 (*Conditions to Redemption and Purchase*) and this paragraph (A) of this Condition 7.4 will apply *mutatis mutandis* to determine the rescheduled due date for redemption of the Notes); or

(B) the date on which an Issuer Winding-Up occurs.

The Issuer shall notify the Trustee, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*) no later than five (5) Business Days prior to any such date set for redemption pursuant to (A) or (if reasonably practicable in the circumstances) (B) above.

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming that: (i) the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are not met or would cease to be met if the proposed redemption or purchase were to be made; or (ii) the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met and would continue to be met if the proposed redemption or purchase were to be made, shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

7.5 Suspension of Redemption and Cancellation of Purchases Not a Default

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions or in the Trust Deed, the suspension of redemption of the Notes and any cancellation of any purchases of any Notes in accordance with Condition 7.2 (Conditions to Redemption and Purchase) and Condition 7.4 (Suspension of Redemption) will not constitute a default by the Issuer and will not give Noteholders or the Trustee any right to accelerate the Notes or take any enforcement action under the Notes or the Trust Deed.

7.6 Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

Provided that the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met, the Issuer may, having given:

- (A) not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*) (which notice shall (save as provided in Condition 7.15 (*Notices Final*) below) be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption); and
- (B) notice to the Registrar, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and the Trustee not less than three (3) days before the giving of the notice referred to in (A),

redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes, on (i) any day falling in the period commencing on (and including) 24 March 2031 and ending on (and including) the First Reset Date or (ii) any Reset Date thereafter at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with these Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

7.7 Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event

Provided that the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met, and subject to Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution*), if:

- (A) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction, or any change in the application or official interpretation of the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction (a "Tax Event"), which change or amendment becomes effective after the Relevant Issue Date:
 - (i) the Issuer would (if it were to make a payment of interest on such date) be required to pay Additional Amounts on the next Interest Payment Date; or
 - (ii) the Issuer would no longer be entitled to claim a deduction in respect of the payment of interest in computing its taxation liabilities for United Kingdom tax purposes, or such entitlement would be materially reduced; or
 - (iii) in respect of the payment of interest, the Issuer would not to any material extent be entitled to have any attributable loss or non-trading deficit set against the profits (assuming there are any) of companies with which it is grouped for applicable United Kingdom tax purposes (whether under the group relief system current as at the Relevant Issue Date or any similar system or systems having like effect as may from time to time exist); or
 - (iv) the Issuer would be subject to a tax liability in a Relevant Jurisdiction, or the receipt of income or profit would be subject to tax in a Relevant Jurisdiction, if a Conversion Trigger Event or a Conversion were to occur; or
 - (v) the Issuer suffers or would suffer any other material adverse tax consequence in connection with the Notes in a Relevant Jurisdiction; and
- (B) the effect of the foregoing cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

the Issuer may at its option (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders) and having given not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days' notice in writing to the Trustee, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and, in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), the Noteholders (which notice shall (save as provided in Condition 7.15 (*Notices Final*) below) be irrevocable) either (at its sole discretion):

(i) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes, at any time at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with these Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than ninety (90) days prior to the earliest date on which: (i) with respect to (A)(i), the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Amounts; (ii) with respect to (A)(ii), the payment of interest would no longer be deductible for United Kingdom tax purposes or such deduction would be materially reduced; (iii) with respect to (A)(iii), the Issuer would not to any material extent be entitled to have

the loss or non-trading deficit set against the profits as provided in (A)(iii), in each case were a payment in respect of the Notes then due; (iv) with respect to (A)(iv), such change would occur; or (v) with respect to (A)(v), the relevant adverse tax consequence would arise or be suffered; or

(ii) substitute at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Qualifying Tier 1 Notes, and the Trustee shall (subject as provided in Condition 7.10 (*Trustee role on redemption, variation* or substitution; Trustee not obliged to monitor) and to the receipt by it of the certificates referred to in Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or* substitution) below and in the definition of "Qualifying Tier 1 Notes") agree to such substitution or variation.

7.8 Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event

- (A) Provided that the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met, and subject to Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution*), if at any time a Capital Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing, or, as a result of any change in, or amendment to, or any change in the application or official interpretation of, any applicable law, regulation or other official publication, a Capital Disqualification Event will occur within the forthcoming period of six (6) months, then the Issuer may, having given not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, which notice shall (save as provided in Condition 7.15 (*Notices Final*) below) be irrevocable, either (at its sole discretion):
 - (i) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with these Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption; or
 - (ii) substitute at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Qualifying Tier 1 Notes, and the Trustee shall (subject as provided in Condition 7.10 (*Trustee role on redemption, variation or substitution; Trustee not obliged to monitor*) and to the receipt by it of the certificates referred to in Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution*) below and in the definition of "Qualifying Tier 1 Notes") agree to such substitution or variation.
- (B) For the purposes of this Condition 7.8, "Notice Period" means the twelve (12) month period commencing on the date on which the relevant Capital Disqualification Event first occurs (or, as applicable, the date on which the Issuer certifies that the same will occur within a period of twelve (12) months), provided that if the Issuer has, during such twelve-month period, made such application or notification to the Relevant Regulator as is then required under the Relevant Rules for the purposes of initiating the process for satisfying the Regulatory Clearance Condition, the Notice Period shall extend to the thirtieth (30th) calendar day following satisfaction of the

Regulatory Clearance Condition in respect of the redemption, substitution or variation which is the subject of the notice to which the Notice Period relates.

7.9 Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event

- (A) Provided that the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met, and subject to Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution*), if at any time a Ratings Methodology Event has occurred and is continuing, or, as a result of any change in or clarification to, the methodology of any Rating Agency (or in the interpretation of such methodology by such Rating Agency), a Ratings Methodology Event will occur within the forthcoming period of six (6) months, then the Issuer may, having given not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), and to the Trustee and the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in writing, which notice shall (save as provided in Condition 7.15 (*Notices Final*) below) be irrevocable, either:
 - (i) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding, together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with these Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption; or
 - (ii) substitute at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become or remain, Rating Agency Compliant Notes, and the Trustee shall (subject as provided in Condition 7.10 (*Trustee role on redemption, variation or substitution; Trustee not obliged to monitor*) and to the receipt by it of the certificates referred to in Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution*) below and in the definition of "Rating Agency Compliant Notes") agree to such substitution or variation.
- (B) For the purposes of this Condition 7.9, "Notice Period" means the twelve (12) month period commencing on the date on which the relevant Ratings Methodology Event first occurs (or, as applicable, the date on which the Issuer certifies that the same will occur within a period of twelve (12)), provided that if the Issuer has, during such twelve-month period, made such application or notification to the Relevant Regulator as is then required under the Relevant Rules for the purposes of initiating the process for satisfying the Regulatory Clearance Condition, the Notice Period shall extend to the thirtieth (30th) calendar day following satisfaction of the Regulatory Clearance Condition in respect of the redemption, substitution or variation which is the subject of the notice to which the Notice Period relates.

7.10 Trustee role on redemption, variation or substitution; Trustee not obliged to monitor

The Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer) use its reasonable endeavours to co-operate with the Issuer (including, but not limited to, entering into such documents or deeds as may be necessary) to give effect to substitution or variation of the Notes for or into Qualifying Tier 1 Notes pursuant to Condition 7.7 (*Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event*) or Condition 7.8 (*Redemption, substitution or variation at the*

option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event) or Rating Agency Compliant Notes (as the case may be) pursuant to Condition 7.9 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event), provided that the Issuer delivers to the Trustee a certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer certifying that the Issuer is entitled to effect such substitution or variation. The Trustee shall not be obliged to co-operate in or agree to any such substitution or variation of the terms if the securities into which the Notes are to be substituted or are to be varied or the co-operation in such substitution or variation would, in the Trustee's opinion, have the effect of: (i) exposing the Trustee to any liability against which it is not indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction; (ii) changing, increasing or adding to the obligations or duties of the Trustee; or (iii) removing or amending any protection or indemnity afforded to, or any other provision in favour of, the Trustee under the Trust Deed, the Conditions and/or the Notes. If the Trustee does not so co-operate or agree as provided above, the Issuer may, subject as provided above, redeem the Notes as provided above.

The Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance has happened or exists for the purposes of this Condition 7 and will not be responsible to Noteholders for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so. Unless and until the Trustee has express notice of the occurrence of any event or circumstance within this Condition 7, it shall be entitled to assume that no such event or circumstance exists.

7.11 Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer

Provided that the Redemption and Purchase Conditions are met, and subject to Condition 7.12 (*Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution*), if at any time after the Issue Date 80 per cent. or more of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any Further Notes will be deemed to have been originally issued) has been purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and cancelled, then the Issuer may, at its option (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders), having given not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Trustee, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and, in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*), the Noteholders (which notice shall (save as provided in Condition 7.15 (Notices Final) below) be irrevocable), redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their principal amount outstanding, together with (to the extent that such interest has not been cancelled in accordance with these Conditions) any accrued and unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

7.12 Preconditions to redemption, variation or substitution

(A) Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption, variation or substitution pursuant to Condition 7.7 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event), Condition 7.8 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event) or Condition 7.9 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event) or 7.11 (Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer stating that, as the case may be, the Issuer is entitled to redeem the Notes on the grounds that a Tax Event, a

Capital Disqualification Event or a Ratings Methodology Event has occurred and is continuing or, for the purposes of Condition 7.11 (*Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer*), that 80 per cent. or more of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any Further Notes will be deemed to have been originally issued) has been purchased and cancelled, in any such case as at the date of the certificate or, as the case may be (in the case of a Capital Disqualification Event or a Ratings Methodology Event), will occur within a period of six (6) months and that it would have been reasonable for the Issuer to conclude, judged at the Relevant Issue Date, that such Tax Event, Capital Disqualification Event or Ratings Methodology Event was unlikely to occur.

In the case of a Tax Event, the Issuer shall also deliver to the Trustee an opinion from a nationally recognised law firm or other tax adviser in the applicable Relevant Jurisdiction experienced in such matters to the effect that the relevant requirement or circumstance referred to in Condition 7.7(A) applies or (where applicable) will apply on the next Interest Payment Date (save that such opinion need not provide any confirmation as to whether the Issuer could avoid the occurrence of the relevant Tax Event by taking measures reasonably available to it).

- (B) The Issuer shall not be entitled to amend or otherwise vary the terms of the Notes or substitute the Notes unless:
 - (i) it has notified the Relevant Regulator in writing of its intention to do so not less than one (1) month (or such other period as may be required by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules at the relevant time) prior to the date on which such amendment, variation or substitution is to become effective; and
 - (ii) the Regulatory Clearance Condition has been satisfied in respect of such proposed amendment, variation or substitution.

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming the requirements set out above are met shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

7.13 Purchases

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes in any manner and at any price subject to the Redemption and Purchase Conditions being met prior to, and at the time of, such purchase. All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or of any Subsidiary of the Issuer may be held, reissued, resold or, at the option of the Issuer and the relevant purchaser, surrendered for cancellation to the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent but whilst held may not be treated as outstanding for various purposes set out in the Trust Deed.

7.14 Cancellations

All Notes redeemed or substituted by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 7, and all Notes purchased and surrendered for cancellation pursuant to Condition 7.13 (*Purchases*), will forthwith be cancelled. Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

7.15 Notices Final

Subject and without prejudice to Conditions 3.2 (Solvency Condition), 7.2 (Conditions to Redemption and Purchase) and 7.4 (Suspension of Redemption), any notice of redemption as is referred to in Condition 7.6 (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer) or Condition 7.11 (Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer) and any notice of redemption, variation or substitution as is referred to in Condition 7.7 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event), Condition 7.8 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event) and Condition 7.9 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Ratings Methodology Event) above shall, except in the circumstances described in the following paragraph of this Condition 7.15, be irrevocable and on the redemption, variation or (as the case may be) substitution date specified in such notice, the Issuer shall be bound to redeem or, as the case may be, vary or substitute the Notes in accordance with the terms of the relevant Condition.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer may not give a notice of redemption, substitution or variation of the Notes pursuant to this Condition 7 if a Conversion Trigger Notice has been given. If a Conversion Trigger Notice is given after a notice of redemption, substitution or variation has been given by the Issuer but before the relevant redemption, substitution or (as the case may be) variation date, such notice of redemption, substitution or variation (as applicable) shall automatically be revoked and be null and void and the relevant redemption, substitution or variation (as applicable) shall not be made or effected and the Notes shall be converted in accordance with Condition 6 (*Conversion*).

8. Payments

8.1 Payments in respect of Notes

Payment of principal and interest will be made by transfer to the registered account of the relevant Noteholder. Payments of principal, and payments of interest due at the time of redemption of the Notes, will only be made against surrender of the relevant Certificate at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents. Save as provided in the previous sentence, interest due for payment on the Notes will be paid to the holder shown on the Register at the close of business on the date (the **"record date"**) being the second day before the due date for the relevant payment.

For the purposes of this Condition 8.1, a Noteholder's registered account means the Sterling account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank that processes payments in Sterling, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business, in the case of principal, and of interest due at the time of redemption of the Notes, on the second Business Day before

the due date for payment and, in the case of any other payment of interest, on the relevant record date.

8.2 Payments subject to applicable laws

Payments will be subject in all cases to:

- (i) without prejudice to Condition 9 (*Taxation*), any other applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment or other laws and regulations to which the Issuer or its respective Paying Agents agree to be subject and the Issuer will not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations or agreements; and
- (ii) any withholding or deduction imposed or required pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code"), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code, or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code (or any law implementing such an intergovernmental agreement) (a "FATCA Withholding Tax"), and the Issuer will not be required to pay Additional Amounts on account of any FATCA Withholding Tax.

8.3 No commissions

No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of any payments made in accordance with this Condition 8.

8.4 Payment on Business Days

Where payment is to be made by transfer to a registered account, payment instructions (for value the due date or, if that is not a Business Day, for value the first following day which is a Business Day) will be initiated on the Business Day preceding the due date for payment or, in the case of a payment of principal, or of a payment of interest due at the time of redemption of the Notes, if later, on the Business Day on which the relevant Certificate is surrendered at the specified office of a Paying Agent.

Noteholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due if the due date is not a Business Day or if the Noteholder is late in surrendering its Certificate (in circumstances where it is required to do so).

8.5 Partial payments

If the amount of principal or interest which is due on the Notes is not paid in full, the Registrar will annotate the Register with a record of the amount of principal or interest in fact paid. With respect to the amount of any interest payment due, the Registrar shall be entitled to have regard to the provisions of Condition 5.1 (*Interest Payments Discretionary*).

8.6 Agents

The names of the initial Paying and Conversion Agents and their initial specified offices are set out at the end of these Conditions. The Issuer reserves the right, subject to the prior written approval of the Trustee, at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent and to appoint additional or other Agents, provided that they will at all times maintain:

- (A) a Principal Paying and Conversion Agent; and
- (B) a Registrar.

In addition, the Issuer shall appoint and maintain an Interest Calculation Agent in accordance with the provisions of Condition 4.8 (*Interest Calculation Agent*) and a Conversion Calculation Agent in accordance with the provisions of Condition 6.12 (*Decision of the Conversion Calculation Agent or an Independent Adviser*). Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes in specified offices of any of the Agents will be given to the Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*).

9. Taxation

9.1 Payment without withholding

All payments in respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed or levied by or on behalf of the Relevant Jurisdiction unless the withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In any such event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts in respect of Interest Payments but not in respect of any payments of principal ("Additional Amounts") as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would have been received in respect of the Notes in the absence of the withholding or deduction; except that no Additional Amounts shall be payable in relation to any payment in respect of any Note:

- (A) the holder of which is liable to the Taxes in respect of the Note by reason of his having some connection with the Relevant Jurisdiction other than the mere holding of the Note; and/or
- (B) in circumstances where such withholding or deduction would not be required or to the extent that it would have been reduced if the holder or any person acting on his behalf had obtained and/or presented any form or certificate or had made a declaration of non-residence or similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority upon the making of which the holder would have been able to avoid or reduce such withholding or deduction; and/or
- (C) surrendered for payment (where surrender is required) more than thirty (30) days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that a holder would have been entitled to Additional Amounts on surrendering the same for payment on the last day of the period of thirty (30) days assuming (whether or not such is in fact the case) that day to have been a Business Day.

Notwithstanding the above, any amounts to be paid by the Issuer on the Notes will be paid net of any deduction or withholding imposed or required pursuant to any FATCA Withholding Tax, and the Issuer will not be required to pay any Additional Amounts on account of any FATCA Withholding Tax.

9.2 Additional Amounts

Any reference in these Conditions to any amounts payable in respect of the Notes shall be deemed also to refer to any Additional Amounts which may be payable under this Condition or under any undertakings given in addition to, or in substitution for, this Condition pursuant to the Trust Deed.

10. Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest will become prescribed unless made within ten (10) years (in the case of principal) and five (5) years (in the case of interest) from the Relevant Date.

11. Non-payment when due

11.1 Proceedings for Winding-up

If default is made by the Issuer in the payment of principal in respect of the Notes and such default continues for a period of fourteen (14) days or more, the Trustee may at its discretion, and if so requested by Noteholders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by Extraordinary Resolution shall (but in each case subject to it having been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), institute proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer in England and Wales (but not elsewhere).

In the event of an Issuer Winding-Up (whether in England and Wales or elsewhere and whether or not instituted by the Trustee), the Trustee may prove in the winding-up of the Issuer and/or (as the case may be) claim in the liquidation or administration of the Issuer, such claim being as provided in, and subordinated in the manner described in, Condition 3.3 (Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event) or Condition 3.4 (Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event), as applicable.

11.2 Enforcement

Without prejudice to Condition 11.1 (*Proceedings for Winding-up*), the Trustee may (subject to having been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction) at its discretion and without further notice institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any term or Condition binding on the Issuer under the Trust Deed or the Notes (other than any payment obligation of the Issuer under or arising from the Notes or the Trust Deed, or in respect of any damages awarded for breach of any obligations thereunder, but excluding any payments made to the Trustee acting on its own account under the Trust Deed) but in no event shall the Issuer, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or sums, in cash or otherwise, sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

Nothing in this Condition 11.2 shall, however, prevent the Trustee, subject to Condition 11.1 (*Proceedings for Winding-up*), from instituting proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer in England and Wales and/or proving in any winding-up or administration of the Issuer (whether in England and Wales or elsewhere) and/or claiming in any liquidation of the Issuer in respect of any payment obligation of the Issuer (whether in England and Wales or elsewhere, and such claim being as provided in, and subordinated in the manner described in, Condition 3.3 (*Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event*) or Condition 3.4 (*Winding-up on or after a Conversion Trigger Event*)), as applicable, where such payment obligation arises from the Notes or the Trust Deed (including, without limitation, payment of any principal or other amounts due in respect of the Notes or any damages awarded for breach of any obligations under the Notes or the Trust Deed).

11.3 Entitlement of Trustee

The Trustee shall not be bound to take any of the actions referred to in Condition 11.1 (*Proceedings for Winding-up*) or Condition 11.2 (*Enforcement*) above against the Issuer to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the Notes or any other action under or pursuant to the Trust Deed unless:

- it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding; and
- (B) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.

11.4 Right of Noteholders

No Noteholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer or to institute proceedings for the winding-up or claim in the liquidation or administration of the Issuer or to prove in such winding-up unless the Trustee, having become so bound to proceed or being able to prove in such winding-up or claim in such liquidation or administration, fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure shall be continuing, in which case the Noteholder shall have only such rights against the Issuer as those which the Trustee is entitled to exercise as set out in this Condition 11.

11.5 Extent of Noteholders' remedy

No remedy against the Issuer, other than as referred to in this Condition 11, shall be available to the Trustee or the Noteholders, whether for the recovery of amounts owing in respect of the Notes or under the Trust Deed or in respect of any breach by the Issuer of any of its other obligations under or in respect of the Notes or under the Trust Deed.

12. Replacement of Certificates

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified office of the Registrar upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with the replacement and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13. Notices

All notices to the Noteholders will be valid if mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register maintained by the Registrar. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly given or published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed. Any notice shall be deemed to have been given on the second day after being so mailed or on the date of publication or, if so published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication.

14. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Authorisation

14.1 Meetings of Noteholders

Any modification to, or waiver in respect of, these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed will be subject to satisfaction of the Regulatory Clearance Condition.

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the modification or abrogation by Extraordinary Resolution of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Trustee (subject to it having been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction) or Noteholders holding not less than ten (10) per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The quorum at any meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one (1) or more persons present holding or representing more than fifty (50) per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one (1) or more persons present whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented by it or them, except that, at any meeting the business of which includes the modification or abrogation of certain of the provisions of these Conditions and certain of the provisions of the Trust Deed (in each case as specified in the Trust Deed), the necessary quorum for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one (1) or more persons present holding or representing not less than seventy five (75) per cent., or at any adjourned such meeting not less than twenty five (25) per cent., of the principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Noteholders will be binding on all Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting.

The Trust Deed also provides that (i) a written resolution executed, or (ii) consent given by way of electronic consents through the relevant clearing system(s) (in a form satisfactory to the Trustee), in each case by or on behalf of the holders of seventy five (75) per cent. in principal amount of the Notes outstanding who would have been entitled to vote upon it if it had been proposed at a meeting at which they were present shall take effect as if it were an Extraordinary Resolution.

The agreement or approval of the Noteholders shall not be required in the case of any variation of these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed required to be made in connection with the substitution or variation of the Notes pursuant to Condition 7.7 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event), Condition 7.8 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Capital Disqualification Event) or Condition 7.9 (Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a

Ratings Methodology Event) or any consequential amendments to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed approved by the Trustee in connection with Qualifying Change of Control pursuant to Condition 6.15 (Change in Terms on Change of Control).

14.2 Newco Scheme

In the event of a Newco Scheme, the Issuer may, without the consent of Noteholders, at its option, procure that Newco is substituted under the Notes as the Issuer.

At the written request of the Issuer, the Trustee shall (subject to and in accordance with the Trust Deed), without the requirement for any consent or approval of the Noteholders, concur with the Issuer in the substitution of Newco in place of the Issuer (or any previous substituted company) as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes, subject to the provisions set out in paragraph (B) of Condition 6.21 (*Covenants*).

The Issuer shall not be entitled to substitute Newco in place of the Issuer (or any previous substitute) as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes unless:

- (A) it has notified the Relevant Regulator in writing of its intention to do so not less than one (1) month (or such other period as may be required by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules at the relevant time) prior to the date on which such proposed substitution is to become effective; and
- (B) the Regulatory Clearance Condition has been satisfied in respect of such proposed substitution,

in each case only if and to the extent required by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules at the relevant time.

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming the requirements set out above are met, shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

14.3 Modification, waiver and authorisation

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to (i) any modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed) of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed (provided that, in any such case, it is not, in the opinion of the Trustee, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders) or (ii) any modification which, in its opinion, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated.

The Issuer shall not be entitled to amend or otherwise vary the terms of the Notes unless:

- (A) it has notified the Relevant Regulator in writing of its intention to do so not less than one (1) month (or such other period as may be required by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules at the relevant time) prior to the date on which such proposed amendment or variation is to become effective; and
- (B) the Regulatory Clearance Condition has been satisfied in respect of such proposed amendment or variation,

in each case only if and to the extent required by the Relevant Regulator or any Relevant Rules at the relevant time.

A certificate signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer confirming the requirements set out above are met, shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct and sufficient evidence thereof, shall be binding on all such persons and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate without liability to any person.

14.4 Trustee to have regard to interests of Noteholders as a class

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its trusts, powers, authorities and discretions (including, without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation, determination or substitution of obligor), the Trustee shall have regard to the general interests of the Noteholders as a class but shall not have regard to any interests arising from circumstances particular to individual Noteholders (whatever their number) and, in particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of any such exercise for individual Noteholders (whatever their number) resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders except to the extent already provided for in Condition 9 (*Taxation*) and/or any undertaking given in addition to, or in substitution for, Condition 9 (*Taxation*) pursuant to the Trust Deed.

14.5 Notification to the Noteholders

Any modification, abrogation, waiver, authorisation, determination or substitution effected in accordance with these Conditions or the Trust Deed shall be binding on the Noteholders and shall be notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*).

15. Indemnification of the Trustee and its contracting with the Issuer

15.1 Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking action unless indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.

The Trust Deed provides that, when determining whether an indemnity or any security or pre-funding is satisfactory to it, the Trustee shall be entitled (i) to evaluate its risk in any given circumstance by considering the worst-case scenario and (ii) to require that any indemnity or security given to it by the Noteholders or any of them be given on a joint and several basis and be supported by evidence satisfactory to it as to the financial standing and creditworthiness of each counterparty and/or as to the value of the security and an opinion as to the capacity, power and authority of each counterparty and/or the validity and effectiveness of the security.

The Trustee may rely without liability to Noteholders on a report, confirmation or certificate or opinion or any advice of any accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or other expert, whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report, opinion, confirmation or certificate or advice without liability to any person and such report, opinion, confirmation, or certificate or advice shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Noteholders.

15.2 Limitation on Trustee actions

The Trustee may refrain from taking any action in any jurisdiction if the taking of such action in that jurisdiction would, in its opinion based upon appropriate legal advice, be contrary to any law of that jurisdiction. Furthermore, the Trustee may also refrain from taking such action if it would otherwise render it liable to any person in that jurisdiction or if, in its opinion based upon such legal advice, it would not have the power to do the relevant thing in that jurisdiction by virtue of any applicable law in that jurisdiction or if it is determined by any court or other competent authority in that jurisdiction that it does not have such power.

15.3 Trustee contracting with the Issuer

The Trust Deed also contains provisions pursuant to which the Trustee is entitled, *inter alia*: (i) to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and/or any of the Issuer's Subsidiaries and to act as trustee for the holders of any other securities issued by, or relating to, the Issuer and/or any of the Issuer's Subsidiaries; (ii) to exercise and enforce its rights, comply with its obligations and perform its duties under or in relation to any such transactions or, as the case may be, any such trusteeship without regard to the interests of, or consequences for, the Noteholders; and (iii) to retain and not be liable to account for any profit made or any other amount or benefit received thereby or in connection therewith.

15.4 Regulatory Clearance Condition

Wherever in these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed there is a requirement for the Regulatory Clearance Condition to be satisfied, the Trustee shall be entitled to assume without enquiry and without liability to any person that the Regulatory Clearance Condition has been satisfied unless notified in writing to the contrary by the Issuer.

16. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders, create and issue further notes ranking *pari passu* in all respects (or in all respects save for the first payment of interest thereon) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Notes ("**Further Notes**"). Any such Further Notes shall be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed.

17. Governing Law

The Trust Deed and the Notes, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed and/or the Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

18. Rights of Third Parties

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term or Condition of the Notes, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

19. Defined Terms

In these Conditions:

"Additional Amounts" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 9.1 (*Payment without withholding*);

"Agency Agreement" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions:

"Agents" means the Registrar, the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent, the Interest Calculation Agent, the Transfer Agent and the other Paying Agents appointed from time to time under the Agency Agreement;

"Approved Winding-up" means a solvent winding-up of the Issuer solely for the purpose of a reconstruction or amalgamation or the substitution in place of the Issuer of a successor in business of the Issuer the terms of which reconstruction, amalgamation or substitution: (i) have previously been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution; and (ii) do not provide that the Notes or any amount in respect thereof shall thereby become payable;

"Assets" means the unconsolidated gross assets of the Issuer as shown in the latest published audited balance sheet of the Issuer, but adjusted for subsequent events, all in such manner as the Directors may determine;

"Business Day" means:

(a) except for the purposes of Conditions 2 (*Transfers of Notes and Issue of Certificates*), 6.8(B) (*Settlement Procedure*), 8.4 (*Payment on Business Days*) and

- 9.1(C) (*Payment without withholding*) a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in London;
- (b) (for the purposes of Condition 2 (*Transfers of Notes and Issue of Certificates*), a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Transfer Agent with whom a Certificate is deposited in connection with a transfer is located;
- (c) for the purposes of Condition 6.8(B) (Settlement Procedure), a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Conversion Shares Depositary is located; and
- (d) for the purposes of Conditions 8.4 (Payment on Business Days) and 9.1(C) (Payment without withholding), a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in London and, in the case of surrender of a Certificate, in the place in which the Certificate is surrendered;

"Calculation Amount" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 4.1 (Interest Rate);

a "Capital Disqualification Event" is deemed to have occurred if, as a result of any replacement of or change to (or change to the interpretation by any court or authority entitled to do so of) the Relevant Rules the whole or any part of the Notes are no longer capable of counting as Tier 1 Capital for the purposes of the Issuer, the Group, or any insurance or reinsurance undertaking within the Group whether on a solo, group or consolidated basis (except where such non-qualification is only as a result of any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital);

"Certificate" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 1 (Form, Denomination and Title);

"Closing Price" means, in respect of a Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right on any Dealing Day, the official closing price of such Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right on the Relevant Stock Exchange on such Dealing Day as published by or derived from Bloomberg page "HP" (or any successor page) (using the setting "Last Price", or any successor setting) in respect of such Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right for the Relevant Stock Exchange in respect thereof on such Dealing Day or, if such price is not available from Bloomberg as aforesaid, in any such case, such other source as shall be determined in good faith to be appropriate by an Independent Adviser on such Dealing Day, provided that if on any such Dealing Day such price is not available or cannot otherwise be determined as provided above, the Closing Price of a Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right, as the case may be, in respect of such Dealing Day shall be the Closing Price, determined as provided above, on the immediately preceding Dealing Day on which the same can be so determined, or if such price cannot be determined as provided above, the Closing Price shall be determined as an Independent Adviser might otherwise determine in good faith to be appropriate;

"Conditions" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Conversion" means the conversion of the Notes into Ordinary Shares pursuant to Condition 6 (*Conversion*), and "convert" and "converted" shall be construed accordingly;

"Conversion Date" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 6.3 (*Notification of the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event*);

"Conversion Price" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (B) of Condition 6.2 (Conversion upon Conversion Trigger Event);

"Conversion Shares" means the Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary (or to the relevant recipient in accordance with these Conditions) by the Issuer on the Share Delivery Date on and subject to the terms set out in Condition 6 (Conversion);

"Conversion Shares Depositary" means a reputable financial institution, trust company or similar entity (which in each such case is wholly independent of the Issuer) to be appointed by the Issuer on or prior to any date when a function ascribed to the Conversion Shares Depositary in these Conditions is required to be performed to perform such functions and that will hold the Conversion Shares (and any Conversion Shares Offer Consideration) on trust for the Noteholders of the Notes in one or more segregated accounts, unless otherwise required to be transferred out of such accounts for the purposes of the Conversion Shares Offer, and otherwise on terms consistent with these Conditions;

"Conversion Shares Offer" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (A) of Condition 6.6 (Conversion Shares Offer);

"Conversion Shares Offer Agent" means the agent(s), if any, to be appointed on behalf of the Conversion Shares Depositary by the Issuer, in its sole and absolute discretion, to act as placement or other agent of the Conversion Shares Depositary to facilitate a Conversion Shares Offer:

"Conversion Shares Offer Consideration" means:

- (a) in respect of each Note for which no Opt-Out Notice is received by the Conversion Shares Depositary from a Noteholder prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer and as determined by the Conversion Calculation Agent:
 - (i) if all of the Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer, the pro rata share of the cash proceeds from the sale of such Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Note translated, if necessary, into Sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the last day of the Conversion Shares Offer Period (less any foreign exchange transaction costs);
 - (ii) if some but not all of such Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in the Conversion Shares Offer:
 - (A) the *pro rata* share of the cash proceeds from the sale of such Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Notes translated, if

necessary, into Sterling at the Prevailing Rate on the last day of the Conversion Shares Offer Period (less any foreign exchange transaction costs); and

- (B) the pro rata share of such Eligible Conversion Shares not sold pursuant to the Conversion Shares Offer attributable to such Notes rounded down to the nearest whole number of Ordinary Shares; and
- (iii) if no Eligible Conversion Shares are sold in a Conversion Shares Offer, the relevant Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Notes rounded down to the nearest whole number of Ordinary Shares,

subject, in the case of paragraphs (i) and (ii)(A) above, to deduction from any such cash proceeds of an amount equal to the *pro rata* share of any stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, or any other capital, issue, transfer, registration, financial transaction or documentary tax that may arise or be paid as a consequence of the transfer of any interest in such Eligible Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary (or Conversion Shares Offer Agent(s) (if any)) as a consequence of the Conversion Shares Offer;

provided that if the cash component (if any) of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration in respect of a Note determined in accordance with the foregoing (after the deductions referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph) would exceed the product of (a) the principal amount of such Note and (b) the proportion (expressed as a percentage) of the Eligible Conversion Shares sold in the Conversion Shares Offer (such excess, the "Excess Amount"), the Excess Amount shall not form part of the Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, and shall instead be payable to the Issuer as provided in Condition 6.6(F); and

(b) in respect of each Note for which an Opt-Out Notice is received by the Conversion Shares Depositary from a Noteholder prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the Conversion Shares Offer and as determined by the Conversion Calculation Agent, the Eligible Conversion Shares attributable to such Note rounded down to the nearest whole number of Ordinary Shares;

"Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price" means the price per Conversion Share specified as such in the Conversion Shares Offer Notice. The Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price to be so specified shall be:

- (a) if the Ordinary Shares are then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Current Market Price as at the Conversion Date; or
- (b) if the Ordinary Shares are not then admitted to trading on a Relevant Stock Exchange, the Fair Market Value of a Conversion Share as at the Conversion Date;

"Conversion Shares Offer Notice" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (B) of Condition 6.6 (Conversion Shares Offer);

"Conversion Shares Offer Period" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (D) of Condition 6.6 (Conversion Shares Offer);

"Conversion Shares Offer Price" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (A) of Condition 6.6 (Conversion Shares Offer);

"Conversion Shares Settlement Notice" means a notice in the form for the time being currently available from the specified office of any Paying and Conversion Agent and which is required to be delivered to the Conversion Shares Depositary (or its agent(s) designated for the purpose in the Conversion Trigger Notice) in connection with a Conversion of the Notes;

a "Conversion Trigger Event" shall occur if at any time:

- (a) the amount of Own Fund Items eligible and available to cover the Solvency Capital Requirement is equal to or less than seventy-five (75) per cent. of the Solvency Capital Requirement;
- (b) the amount of Own Fund Items eligible and available to cover the Minimum Capital Requirement is equal to or less than the Minimum Capital Requirement; or
- (c) a breach of the Solvency Capital Requirement has occurred and such breach has not been remedied within a period of three (3) months from the date on which the breach was first observed;

"Conversion Trigger Notice" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (B) of Condition 6.3 (Notification of the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event);

"Current Market Price" means, in respect of an Ordinary Share at a particular date, the average of the daily Volume Weighted Average Prices of an Ordinary Share on each of the five (5) consecutive Dealing Days (or, for the purposes of paragraph (D) of Condition 6.10 (Adjustment of Conversion Price) ten (10) consecutive Dealing Days) ending on the Dealing Day immediately preceding such date,

provided that, for the purposes of paragraph (D) of Condition 6.10 (*Adjustment of Conversion Price*), if at any time during the said ten (10) dealing-day period the Volume Weighted Average Price shall have been based on a price ex-dividend (or ex- any other entitlement) and during some other part of that period the Volume Weighted Average Price shall have been based on a price cum-dividend (or cum- any other entitlement), then:

(a) if the Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered do not rank for the dividend (or entitlement) in question, the Volume Weighted Average Price on the dates on which the Ordinary Shares shall have been based on a price cum- such dividend (or cum-such any other entitlement) shall, for the purposes of this definition, be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the date of first public announcement relating to such dividend or entitlement, in any such case, determined on a gross basis and disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made for or on account of tax, and disregarding any associated tax credit; or

(b) if the Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered do rank for the dividend (or entitlement) in question, the Volume Weighted Average Price on the dates on which the Ordinary Shares shall have been based on a price ex-dividend (or ex- any other entitlement) shall, for the purposes of this definition, be deemed to be the amount thereof increased by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the date of first public announcement relating to such dividend or entitlement, in any such case, determined on a gross basis and disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made for or on account of tax, and disregarding any associated tax credit,

and provided further that, for the purposes of paragraph (D) of Condition 6.10 (*Adjustment of Conversion Price*), if on each of the said ten (10) Dealing Days the Volume Weighted Average Price shall have been based on a price cum-dividend (or cum- any other entitlement) in respect of a dividend (or other entitlement) which has been declared or announced but the Ordinary Shares to be issued and delivered do not rank for that dividend (or other entitlement), the Volume Weighted Average Price on each of such dates shall, for the purposes of this definition, be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of any such dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the date of first public announcement of the terms such dividend or entitlement, in any such case, determined on a gross basis and disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made for or on account of tax, and disregarding any associated tax credit,

and provided further that, if the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share is not available on one or more of the said five (5) Dealing Days (or, for the purposes of paragraph (D) of Condition 6.10 (*Adjustment of Conversion Price*), the said ten (10) Dealing Days) (disregarding for this purpose the proviso to the definition of Volume Weighted Average Price), then the average of such Volume Weighted Average Prices which are available in that five (5) (or, for the purposes of paragraph (D) of Condition 6.10 (*Adjustment of Conversion Price*), ten (10)) Dealing Day period shall be used (subject to a minimum of two (2) such prices) and if only one, or no, such Volume Weighted Average Price is available in the relevant period, the Current Market Price shall be determined in good faith by an Independent Adviser;

"Day Count Fraction" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 4.1 (Interest Rate);

"Dealing Day" means a day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or any other relevant stock exchange or securities market is open for business on which Ordinary Shares, Relevant Securities, Relevant Shares, options, warrants or other rights (as the case may be) may be dealt in (other than a day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or such other relevant stock exchange or securities market is scheduled to or does close prior to its regular weekday closing time);

"Director" means any member of the board of directors of the Issuer from time to time;

"Distributable Items" means, with respect to and as at any Interest Payment Date, without double-counting, an amount equal to:

(a) the Distributable Profits of the Issuer, calculated on an unconsolidated basis, as at the last day of the then most recently ended financial year of the Issuer; either, plus

- (b) the interim Distributable Profits (if any) of the Issuer, calculated on an unconsolidated basis, for the period from the Issuer's then latest financial year end to (but excluding) such Interest Payment Date; or less
- (c) the interim net realised losses (if any) of the Issuer, calculated on an unconsolidated basis, for the period from the Issuer's then latest financial year end to (but excluding) such Interest Payment Date;

"Distributable Profits" has the meaning give to such term in section 736 of the Companies Act 2006 (as amended from time to time), or any equivalent or replacement provision;

"Eligible Conversion Shares" means all Conversion Shares in respect of which an Opt-Out Notice has not been received prior to the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the commencement of the relevant Conversion Shares Offer;

"Excess Amount" has the meaning given to such term in the definition of "Conversion Shares Offer Consideration";

"Exempt Newco Scheme" means a Newco Scheme where, immediately after completion of the relevant Scheme of Arrangement, the ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco (or depositary or other receipts or certificates representing ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco) are:

- (a) admitted to trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange on which the Ordinary Shares were admitted to trading immediately prior to the Newco Scheme; or
- (b) admitted to listing on such other EEA Regulated Market as the Issuer or Newco may determine;

"Extraordinary Resolution" has the meaning given to such term in the Trust Deed;

"Fair Market Value" means:

- (a) with respect to a Cash Dividend, the amount of such Cash Dividend;
- (b) with respect to a cash amount, the amount of such cash;
- (c) with respect to Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights that are publicly traded on a Relevant Stock Exchange of adequate liquidity (as determined in good faith by an Independent Adviser), (i) with respect to such Relevant Securities (to the extent constituting equity share capital), the arithmetic mean of the daily Volume Weighted Average Prices of such Relevant Securities and (ii) with respect to such Relevant Securities (other than to the extent constituting equity share capital), options, warrants or other rights, the arithmetic mean of the daily Closing Prices of such Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights, in the case of (i) and (ii), during the period of five Dealing Days on the Relevant Stock Exchange commencing on such date (or, if later, the first such Dealing Day such Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded) or such shorter period as such Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded; and

(d) with respect to Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights that are not publicly traded on a Relevant Stock Exchange of adequate liquidity (as aforesaid), the fair market value of such Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights as determined in good faith by an Independent Adviser, on the basis of a commonly accepted market valuation method and taking account of such factors as it considers appropriate, including the market price per Ordinary Share, the dividend yield of an Ordinary Share, the volatility of such market price, prevailing interest rates and the terms of such Relevant Securities, options, warrants or other rights, including as to the expiry date and exercise price (if any) thereof.

Save for the Fair Market Value determination referred to in the definition of "Conversion Shares Offer Floor Price", such amounts shall, in the case of (a) and (b) above, be translated (if expressed in a currency other than the Relevant Currency) into the Relevant Currency (if declared, announced, made, paid or payable in a currency other than the Relevant Currency, and if the relevant dividend is payable at the option of the Issuer or a Shareholder in any currency additional to the Relevant Currency, the relevant dividend shall be treated as payable in the Relevant Currency) at the rate of exchange (if any) used to determine the amount payable to Shareholders who were paid or are to be paid or are entitled to be paid the Cash Dividend in the Relevant Currency; and, in any other case, shall be translated into the Relevant Currency (if expressed in a currency other than the Relevant Currency) at the Prevailing Rate on that date. In addition, in the case of (a) and (b) above, the Fair Market Value shall be determined on a gross basis and disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made for or on account of tax, and disregarding any associated tax credit;

"Final Cancellation Date" means the date on which any Notes in relation to which no Conversion Shares Settlement Notice has been received by the Conversion Shares Depositary (or its designated agent(s)) on or before the Notice Cut-off Date shall be cancelled, which date is expected to be no more than twelve (12) Business Days following the Notice Cut-off Date and which will be notified to Noteholders in the Conversion Trigger Notice;

"First Reset Date" means 24 September 2031;

"Further Notes" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 16 (Further Issues);

"Group" means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken together;

"holder" (in relation to a Note) has the meaning given to such term in Condition 1.2 (Title);

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or independent adviser with appropriate expertise (which may be (without limitation) the Conversion Calculation Agent) appointed by the Issuer at its own expense;

"Initial Fixed Interest Rate" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 4.3 (Initial Interest Rate);

"Initial Fixed Rate Interest Period" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 4.3 (Initial Interest Rate);

"Insolvent Insurer Winding-up" means:

- (a) the winding-up of any insurance undertaking within the Group; or
- (b) the appointment of an administrator of any insurance undertaking within the Group,

in each case, where the claims of the policyholders and beneficiaries pursuant to a contract of insurance of that insurance undertaking which is in winding-up or administration may or will not be met (and, for these purposes, the claim of policyholders or beneficiaries pursuant to a contract of insurance shall include all amounts to which such policyholders or such beneficiaries are entitled under applicable legislation or rules relating to the winding-up of insurance companies to reflect any right to receive or expectation of receiving benefits which such policyholders or such beneficiaries may have);

"insurance undertaking" means an insurance undertaking or reinsurance undertaking whose data is included for the purposes of the calculation of the Solvency Capital Requirement of the Group pursuant to the Relevant Rules;

"Interest Calculation Agent" means a leading financial institution in London appointed by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 4.8 (*Interest Calculation Agent*) for the purposes of determining each Reset Rate of Interest;

"Interest Payment" means, in respect of any Interest Payment Date, the amount of interest which is (or would, but for cancellation in accordance with these Conditions, be) due and payable on such Interest Payment Date;

"Interest Payment Date" means 24 March and 24 September in each year, commencing on 24 September 2020;

"Interest Period" means the period from (and including) one Interest Payment Date (or in the case of the first Interest Period, from the Issue Date) to (but excluding) the next (or in the case of the first Interest Period, the first) Interest Payment Date (or, if earlier, the date on which accrued interest otherwise becomes due and payable pursuant to these Conditions);

"Interest Rate" means the Initial Fixed Interest Rate or the relevant Reset Rate of Interest, as applicable;

"Issue Date" means 24 June 2020;

"Issuer" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Issuer Winding-Up" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 3.3 (Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event);

"Liabilities" means the unconsolidated gross liabilities of the Issuer as shown in the latest published audited balance sheet of the Issuer but adjusted for contingent liabilities and for subsequent events, all in such manner as the Directors may determine;

"Mandatory Interest Cancellation Event" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Cancellation of Interest Payments);

"Margin" means 5.378 per cent.;

"Minimum Capital Requirement" means any of the Minimum Capital Requirement of the Issuer or the Group minimum Solvency Capital Requirement (as applicable) referred to in, or any other minimum capital requirement relating to the Issuer or the Group howsoever described in, the Relevant Rules;

"Newco Scheme" means a scheme of arrangement or analogous proceeding ("Scheme of Arrangement") which effects the interposition of a limited liability company ("Newco") between the Shareholders of the Issuer immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement (the "Existing Shareholders") and the Issuer, provided that:

- only ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco or depositary or other receipts or certificates representing ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco are issued to Existing Shareholders;
- (b) immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement the only holders of ordinary shares, units or equivalent of Newco or, as the case may be, the only holders of depositary or other receipts or certificates representing ordinary shares or units or equivalent of Newco (except for a nominal holding by initial subscribers, if applicable), are Existing Shareholders holding in the same proportions as immediately prior to completion of the Scheme of Arrangement;
- (c) immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement, Newco is (or one or more wholly-owned Subsidiaries of Newco are) the only shareholder of the Issuer;
- (d) all Subsidiaries of the Issuer immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement (other than Newco, if Newco is then a Subsidiary of the Issuer) are Subsidiaries of the Issuer immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement; and
- (e) immediately after completion of the Scheme of Arrangement the Issuer holds, directly or indirectly, the same percentage of the ordinary share capital and equity share capital of those Subsidiaries as was held by the Issuer immediately prior to the Scheme of Arrangement;

"Noteholder" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 1.2 (Title);

"Notes" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Notice Cut-off Date" means the date specified as such in the Conversion Trigger Notice, which date shall be at least twenty (20) Business Days following the Share Delivery Date;

"Notional Preference Shares" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 3.3 (Winding-up prior to a Conversion Trigger Event);

"**Opt-Out Notice**" means a notice delivered by a Noteholder to the Conversion Shares Depositary as described in Condition 6.7 (*Eligible Conversion Shares*);

"Ordinary Shares" means fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Issuer;

"Own Fund Items" means any own fund item referred to in the Relevant Rules;

"Paying Agents" means the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent, the Paying and Conversion Agents and the Registrar (and such term shall include any successor, replacement or additional paying agents appointed under the Agency Agreement);

"Paying and Conversion Agents" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Prevailing Rate" means, in respect of any currencies on any day, the spot mid-rate of exchange between the relevant currencies prevailing as at 12 noon (London time) on that date as appearing on or derived from Bloomberg page BFIX (or any successor page) in respect of such pair of currencies or, if such a rate cannot be so determined, the rate prevailing as at 12 noon (London time) on the immediately preceding day on which such rate can be so determined or, if such rate cannot be so determined, the rate determined in such other manner as an Independent Adviser shall in good faith prescribe;

"Principal Paying and Conversion Agent" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Prudential Regulation Authority" means the Bank of England acting as the Prudential Regulation Authority through its Prudential Regulation Committee;

"Qualifying Tier 1 Notes" means securities issued (including by way of exchange, conversion or otherwise) directly or indirectly by the Issuer that:

- (a) have terms not materially less favourable to an investor than the terms of the Notes (as reasonably determined by the Issuer in consultation with an independent adviser of recognised standing, and provided that a certification to such effect (including as to the consultation with the independent adviser and in respect of the matters specified in (b)(i) to (vii) below) signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer shall have been delivered to the Trustee (upon which the Trustee shall be entitled to rely without liability to any person and without further enquiry) prior to the issue of the relevant securities, or variation of the terms of the Notes so that they become such securities));
- (b) subject to (a) above:
 - (i) contain terms which comply with the then current requirements of the Relevant Regulator in relation to Tier 1 Capital;
 - (ii) bear at least the same rate of interest from time to time applying to the Notes and preserve the Interest Payment Dates;

- (iii) rank senior to, or *pari passu* with, the ranking of the Notes;
- (iv) preserve the obligations (including the obligations arising from the exercise of any right) of the Issuer as to redemption of the Notes, including (without limitation) as to timing of, and amounts payable upon, such redemption;
- (v) contain terms providing for the cancellation and/or suspension of payments of interest or principal only if such terms are not materially less favourable to an investor than the cancellation and/or suspension provisions, respectively, contained in the terms of the Notes;
- (vi) if such securities contain terms providing for or requiring the Issuer to effect principal loss absorption, require such loss absorption to be effected through conversion to ordinary shares rather than by way of principal write-down (save for any provision equivalent to paragraph (D) of Condition 6.15 (Change in Terms on Change of Control)); and
- (vii) preserve any existing rights under these Conditions to any accrued interest which has not been paid and any other amounts payable under the Notes which have not been paid (but without prejudice to any right of the Issuer subsequently to cancel any such rights so preserved in accordance with the terms of the Qualifying Tier 1 Notes); and
- (c) are listed or admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's International Securities Market or such other stock exchange as is a Recognised Stock Exchange at that time as selected by the Issuer and approved by the Trustee;

"Rating Agency" means each of Standard & Poor's Credit Market Services Europe Limited, Moody's Investors Service Limited, A.M. Best Europe Rating Services Limited, Fitch Ratings Ltd or any of their respective affiliates or successors;

"Rating Agency Compliant Notes" means securities issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer that are:

- (a) Qualifying Tier 1 Notes; and
- (b) assigned substantially the same equity content or, at the absolute discretion of the Issuer, a lower equity content (provided such equity content is still higher than the equity content assigned to the Notes after the occurrence of the Ratings Methodology Event) than that which was assigned by the Rating Agency to the Notes on or around the Relevant Issue Date and provided that a certification to such effect signed by two (2) Directors or other Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer shall have been delivered to the Trustee prior to the issue of the relevant securities (upon which the Trustee shall be entitled to rely without liability to any person and without further enquiry);
- a "Ratings Methodology Event" will be deemed to occur upon a change in methodology of any Rating Agency (or in the interpretation of such methodology) as a result of which the "equity content" (or such other nomenclature as may be used by the Rating Agency from

time to time to describe the degree to which the terms of an instrument are supportive of an issuer's senior obligations in terms of either leverage or total capital) assigned by that Rating Agency to the Notes is, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, materially reduced when compared to the "equity content" assigned by that Rating Agency to the Notes on or around the Issue Date or (if any further tranche(s) of the Notes has or have been issued pursuant to Condition 16 (*Further Issues*) and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes and the "equity content" assigned by the relevant Rating Agency on the issue date of such tranche is lower than the "equity content" assigned to the Notes on or around the Issue Date) the Relevant Issue Date;

"Recognised Stock Exchange" means a recognised stock exchange as defined in section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 2007 as amended or re-enacted from time to time, and any provision, statute or statutory instrument replacing the same from time to time;

"record date" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 8.1 (*Payments in respect of Notes*);

"Redemption and Purchase Conditions" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 7.2 (Conditions to Redemption and Purchase);

"Register" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 1.1 (Form and Denomination);

"Registrar" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Regulatory Clearance Condition" means, in respect of any proposed act on the part of the Issuer, the Relevant Regulator having approved or consented to, or having been given due notification of and having given non-objection in writing (if and to the extent applicable) to, such act (in any case only if and to the extent required by the Relevant Regulator or the Relevant Rules at the relevant time);

"Relevant Currency" means Sterling or (if different) the currency in which the Ordinary Shares or the Relevant Shares (as applicable) are quoted or dealt in on the Relevant Stock Exchange at such time;

"Relevant Date" means the date on which the payment first becomes due but, if the full amount of the money payable has not been received by an Agent or the Trustee on or before the due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of the money having been so received, notice to that effect has been duly given to the Noteholders by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*) and to the Trustee;

"Relevant Issue Date" means the later of (i) the Issue Date and (ii) the issue date of any Further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues);

"Relevant Jurisdiction" means the United Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes;

"Relevant Regulator" means the Prudential Regulation Authority or such successor or other authority having primary supervisory authority with respect to prudential matters in relation to the Issuer and/or the Group;

"Relevant Rules" means, at any time, legislation, rules, guidelines or regulations (whether having the force of law or otherwise) then applied by the Relevant Regulator to the Issuer, the Group or any Subsidiary of the Issuer engaged in insurance business, relating to own funds, capital resources, capital requirements, financial adequacy requirements or other prudential matters (including, but not limited to, the characteristics, features or criteria of any of the foregoing) and, without limitation to the foregoing, includes (to the extent then applied as aforesaid) Solvency II and any legislation, rules, guidelines or regulations of the Relevant Regulator relating to such matters;

"Relevant Securities" means any securities including, without limitation, shares in the capital of the Issuer, or options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase or acquire shares in the capital of the Issuer (and each a "Relevant Security");

"Relevant Shares" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 6.15 (Change in Terms on Change of Control);

"Relevant Stock Exchange" means in respect of the Ordinary Shares, any Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right or any other securities, the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange plc or, if at the relevant time the Ordinary Shares, any Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right are not at that time listed and admitted to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, the principal stock exchange or securities market (if any) on which the Ordinary Shares, any Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right are then listed, admitted to trading or quoted or accepted for dealing;

"Reset Date" means the First Reset Date and the Interest Payment Dates falling on each fifth (5th) anniversary thereafter;

"Reset Determination Date" means, in relation to a Reset Period, the day falling two (2) Business Days prior to the Reset Date on which such Reset Period commences;

"Reset Period" means the period from (and including) the First Reset Date to (but excluding) the next Reset Date, and each successive period from (and including) a Reset Date to (but excluding) the next succeeding Reset Date;

"Reset Rate of Interest" means, in respect of any Reset Period, the Reset Reference Rate in relation to that Reset Period, plus the Margin (rounded to three decimal places with 0.0005 rounded down);

"Reset Reference Banks" means five brokers of gilts and/or gilt-edged market makers selected by the Issuer;

"Reset Reference Rate" means, in respect of a Reset Period, the gross redemption yield (as calculated by the Interest Calculation Agent) of the Benchmark Gilt in respect of that Reset Period, being the arithmetic average (rounded up (if necessary) to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the bid and offered yields of such

Benchmark Gilt quoted by the Reset Reference Banks at 11.00 a.m. (London time) on the Reset Determination Date in respect of such Reset Period on a dealing basis for settlement on the next following dealing day in London. Such quotations shall be obtained by or on behalf of the Issuer and provided to the Interest Calculation Agent. If at least four quotations are provided, the Reset Reference Rate will be determined by reference to the rounded arithmetic mean of the quotations provided, eliminating the highest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the highest) and the lowest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the lowest). If only two or three quotations are provided, the Reset Reference Rate will be determined by reference to the rounded arithmetic mean of the quotations provided. If only one quotation is provided, the Reset Reference Rate will be determined by reference to the rounded quotation provided. If no quotations are provided, the Reset Reference Rate will be the previous Reset Reference Rate or (in the case of the first Reset Period) 0.247 per cent., where:

"Benchmark Gilt" means, in respect of a Reset Period, such United Kingdom government security customarily used in the pricing of new issues with a similar tenor having a maturity date on or about the last day of such Reset Period as the Issuer (on the advice of an investment bank of international repute) may determine to be appropriate following any guidance published by the International Capital Market Association at the relevant time (if any); and

"dealing day" means a day on which the London Stock Exchange (or such other stock exchange on which the Benchmark Gilt is at the relevant time listed) is ordinarily open for the trading of securities;

"Senior Creditors" means creditors of the Issuer:

- (a) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer (including, without limitation, all policyholders of the Issuer and all beneficiaries under contracts of insurance of the Issuer);
- (b) other creditors of the Issuer whose claims are, or are expressed to be, subordinated to the claims of other creditors of the Issuer (other than those whose claims constitute or would, but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital, constitute (i) Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer or (ii) claims otherwise ranking, or expressed to rank, pari passu with, or junior to, the claims of the Noteholders in a winding-up or administration of the Issuer occurring prior to a Conversion Trigger Event);

"Settlement Date" means:

- (a) where the Issuer has not elected that a Conversion Shares Offer will be conducted, with respect to any Note in relation to which a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice is received by the Conversion Shares Depositary or its designated agent on or before the Notice Cut-off Date, the date that is two (2) Business Days after the latest of:
 - (i) the Share Delivery Date;

- (ii) the date on which the Issuer announces that it will not elect for a Conversion Shares Offer to be conducted (or, if no such announcement is made, the last date on which the Issuer is entitled to give the Conversion Shares Offer Notice); and
- (iii) the date on which the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice has been received by the Conversion Shares Depositary or its designated agent;
- (b) where the Issuer has elected that a Conversion Shares Offer will be conducted, with respect to any Note in relation to which a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice is received by the Conversion Shares Depositary or its designated agent on or before the Notice Cut-off Date, the date that is two (2) Business Days after the later of:
 - (i) the date on which the Conversion Shares Offer Period expires or is terminated; and
 - the date on which the relevant Conversion Shares Settlement Notice has been so received by the Conversion Shares Depositary or its designated agent; and
- (c) with respect to any Note in relation to which a Conversion Shares Settlement Notice is not received by the Conversion Shares Depositary or its designated agent on or before the Notice Cut-off Date, the date on which the Conversion Shares Depositary delivers the relevant Conversion Shares or Conversion Shares Offer Consideration, as applicable, to the relevant Noteholder;

"Share Delivery Date" means, following the occurrence of a Conversion Trigger Event, the date on which the Issuer delivers the Conversion Shares to the Conversion Shares Depositary in accordance with these Conditions, which date is expected to be no more than fifteen (15) Business Days following the Conversion Date and which will be notified to Noteholders in the Conversion Trigger Notice;

"Shareholders" means the holders of Ordinary Shares;

"Solvency Capital Requirement" means any of the Solvency Capital Requirement of the Issuer or the Solvency Capital Requirement of the Group (as applicable) referred to in, or any other equivalent capital requirement relating to the Issuer or the Group (other than the Minimum Capital Requirement) howsoever described in, the Relevant Rules;

"Solvency Condition" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 3.2 (Solvency Condition);

"Solvency II" means the Solvency II Directive and any additional measures adopted pursuant to the Solvency II Directive (for the avoidance of doubt, whether implemented by way of regulation (including, without limitation, the Solvency II Regulation), directive, application of guidelines issued by EIOPA or otherwise);

"Solvency II Directive" means Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union of 25 November, 2009 on the taking-up and pursuit of the business of insurance and reinsurance (Solvency II);

"Solvency II Regulation" means Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/35 of 10 October 2014 supplementing Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the taking-up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II);

"Sterling" or "£" means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom and "pence" shall be construed accordingly;

"Subsidiary" has the meaning given to such term under section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006 (as amended from time to time);

"Taxes" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 9.1 (Payment without withholding);

"Tax Event" has the meaning given to such term in Condition 7.7 (*Redemption, substitution or variation at the option of the Issuer due to a Tax Event*);

"Tier 1 Capital" has the meaning given to such term for the purposes of the Relevant Rules from time to time;

"Tier 1 Own Funds" means subordinated notes, ordinary shares or any other share capital of any class which constitute Tier 1 Capital for the purposes of the Issuer or the Group, whether on a solo, group or consolidated basis;

"Transfer Agent" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Trust Deed" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions;

"Trustee" has the meaning given to such term in the preamble to these Conditions; and

"Volume Weighted Average Price" means, in respect of an Ordinary Share (or Relevant Share, as applicable) or Relevant Security, options, warrants or other rights on any Dealing Day, the order book volume-weighted average price of such Ordinary Share (or Relevant Share) or Relevant Security on the Relevant Stock Exchange in respect thereof as published by or derived from Bloomberg page HP (or any successor page) (using the setting "Weighted Average Line" or any successor setting) in respect of such Ordinary Shares (or Relevant Shares), options, warrants or other rights for the Relevant Stock Exchange in respect thereof on such Dealing Day (and for the avoidance of doubt such page for an Ordinary Share as at the Issue Date is LGEN LN Equity HP), or, if such price is not available from Bloomberg as aforesaid, in any such case, such other source as shall be determined in good faith to be appropriate by an Independent Adviser on such Dealing Day, provided that if on any such Dealing Day such price is not available or cannot otherwise be determined as provided above, the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share (or Relevant Share, as applicable), Relevant Security, option, warrant or other right, as the case may be, in respect of such Dealing Day shall be the Volume Weighted Average Price, determined as provided above, on the immediately preceding Dealing Day on which the same can be so determined

or determined as an Independent Adviser might otherwise determine in good faith to be appropriate.

References to any act or statute or any provision of any act or statute shall be deemed also to refer to any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof or any statutory instrument, order or regulation made thereunder or under such statutory modification or re-enactment.

References to "ordinary share capital" have the meaning provided in Section 1119 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and "equity share capital" has the meaning provided in Section 548 of the Companies Act 2006.

References to any issue or offer or grant to Shareholders or Existing Shareholders "as a class" or "by way of rights" shall be taken to be references to an issue or offer or grant to all or substantially all Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, other than Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, to whom, by reason of the laws of any territory or requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any other stock exchange or securities market in any territory or in connection with fractional entitlements, it is determined not to make such issue or offer or grant.

In making any calculation or determination of Current Market Price or Volume Weighted Average Price, such adjustments (if any) shall be made as the Conversion Calculation Agent or an Independent Adviser determines in good faith to be appropriate to reflect any consolidation or subdivision of the Ordinary Shares or any issue of Ordinary Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, or any like or similar event.

For the purposes of Condition 6, references to the "issue" of Ordinary Shares or Ordinary Shares being "issued" shall, unless otherwise expressly specified, include the delivery of Ordinary Shares, whether newly issued and allotted or previously existing or held by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, and Ordinary Shares held by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its respective Subsidiaries (and which, in the case of Condition 6.10(D), do not rank for the relevant right or other entitlement) shall not be considered as or treated as "in issue" or "issued" or entitled to receive the relevant dividend, right or other entitlement.

Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form

The following provisions apply to the Notes whilst they are represented by the Global Certificate, some of which modify the effect of the Conditions.

Initial Issue of Certificates

The Global Certificate will be registered in the name of a nominee (the "Registered Holder") for the Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and may be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Notes.

Upon the registration of the Global Certificate in the name of any nominee for Euroclear and delivery of the Global Certificate to the Conversion Shares Depositary, Euroclear will credit each subscriber with a beneficial interest in a principal amount of Notes equal to the principal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system (an "Alternative Clearing System"") as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or any such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of the Global Certificate and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Certificate, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the registered holder of the Global Certificate in respect of each amount so paid.

Exchange

The following will apply in respect of transfers of Notes held in Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System. These provisions will not prevent the trading of interests in the Notes within a clearing system whilst they are held on behalf of such clearing system, but will limit the circumstances in which the Notes may be withdrawn from the relevant clearing system.

Transfers of the holding of Notes represented by the Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2 (*Transfers of Notes and Issue of Certificates*) may only be made in part:

- (A) if the relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so; or
- (B) upon or following any failure to pay principal in respect of any Notes when it is due and payable; or
- (C) with the consent of the Issuer,

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to paragraph (a) or (b) above, the Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of the Registered Holder's intention to effect such transfer.

Amendment to Conditions

The Global Certificate contains provisions that apply to the Notes that it represents, some of which modify the effect of the Conditions set out in this Offering Memorandum. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Payments

All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the record date which shall be on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where "Clearing System Business Day" means Monday to Friday (inclusive) except 25 December and 1 January.

Calculation of Interest

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate and such Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, interest shall be calculated on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes represented by the Global Certificate, and not per Calculation Amount as provided in Condition 4 (Interest).

Meetings

For the purposes of any meeting of Noteholders, the holders of the Notes represented by the Global Certificate shall be treated as being entitled to one vote in respect of each £1,000 in principal amount of the Notes.

Trustee's Powers

In considering the interests of Noteholders while the Global Certificate is held on behalf of, or registered in the name of any nominee for, a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to the Global Certificate and may consider such interests, and treat such accountholders, as if such accountholders were the holders of the Notes represented by the Global Certificate.

Electronic Consent and Written Resolution

While any Global Certificate is registered in the name of any nominee for Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any Alternative Clearing System, then:

(A) approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer or the Trustee (as the case may be) given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per

cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding (an "Electronic Consent" as defined in the Trust Deed) shall, for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed at a meeting which is a special quorum resolution), take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all Noteholders whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent. The Principal Paying and Conversion Agent shall confirm the result of voting on any Electronic Consent in writing to the Issuer and the Trustee (in a form satisfactory to the Trustee) (which confirmation may be given by email), specifying (as of the deadline for the Electronic Consent): (i) the outstanding principal amount of the Notes and (ii) the outstanding principal amount of the Notes in respect of which consent to the resolution has been given in accordance with this provision. The Issuer and the Trustee may rely and act without further enquiry on any such confirmation from the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent and shall have no liability or responsibility to anyone as a result of such reliance or action. The Trustee shall not be bound to act on any Electronic Consent in the absence of such a confirmation from the Principal Paying and Conversion Agent in a form satisfactory to it; and

(B) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) has been validly passed, the Issuer and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer and/or the Trustee, as the case may be, by accountholders in the clearing system with entitlements to such Global Certificate or, where the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person for whom such entitlement is ultimately beneficially held, whether such beneficiary holds directly with the accountholder or via one or more intermediaries and provided that, in each case, the Issuer and the Trustee have obtained commercially reasonable evidence to ascertain the validity of such holding and have taken reasonable steps to ensure that such holding does not alter following the giving of such consent or instruction and prior to the effecting of such amendment. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. As used in this paragraph, "commercially reasonable evidence" includes any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system, or issued by an accountholder of them or an intermediary in a holding chain, in relation to the holding of interests in the Notes. Any such certificate or other document shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding for all purposes. Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear's EUCLID system or Clearstream, Luxembourg's Creation Online System) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the amount of such holding. None of the Issuer or the Trustee shall be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not authentic.

Notices

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate and the same is held on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication to the relevant accountholders rather than by publication as required by Condition 13 (*Notices*). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the second day after such notice is delivered to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as aforesaid.

The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly given or published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed.

Conversion

For so long as any Notes are represented by the Global Certificate and the same is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, any Conversion of such Notes will be effected in accordance with the Conditions and, if and to the extent necessary, in accordance with the standard operating procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Suspension Date following Conversion

In the case of Notes represented by a Global Certificate, any Conversion Shares Settlement Notice delivered prior to the day following the Suspension Date shall be void.

For the purposes of this provision, "Suspension Date" shall mean a date specified by the Issuer in the Conversion Trigger Notice or the Conversion Shares Offer Notice (and any notice of termination of the Conversion Shares Offer), as the case may be, as being the date on which Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall suspend all clearance and settlement of transactions in the Notes in accordance with its rules and procedures which date shall, in the case of a Conversion Shares Offer, be as proximate to the end of the Conversion Shares Offer Period as is reasonably practicable in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Clearing Systems

References herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, where the context admits, be deemed to include references to any other Alternative Clearing System(s) approved by the Trustee in which the Notes are, for the time being, cleared.

Use of Proceeds

The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used for the general corporate purposes of the Group.

Information on the Issuer and the Group

Introduction

The Issuer is the holding company of a group of companies engaged in five broad categories of business: Institutional Retirement (Legal & General Retirement – Institutional ("LGRI")), Individual Retirement (Legal & General Retirement – Retail) ("LGRR")), Investment Management (Legal & General Investment Management ("LGIM")), Capital Investment (Legal & General Capital ("LGC")) and Insurance (Legal & General Insurance ("LGI")). One of the Issuer's principal subsidiaries, Legal and General Assurance Society Limited, was incorporated in 1920, and the Issuer itself, the Group holding company, was incorporated in England and Wales as a public limited company in 1979, with registered number 01417162. The Group is a leading insurance and financial services group based in the United Kingdom with worldwide gross written premiums, including annuity business, of £15,203 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, LGIM's assets under management amounted to £1,196.2 billion. The Group has a number of wholly-owned operating subsidiaries, including in the United Kingdom and the United States.

The legal entity identifier of Legal & General is 213800JH9QQWHL099821.

The Business of the Group

The Group has five broad business areas which reflect its continuing operations. As announced in December 2017, its Mature Savings business is being sold to ReAssure Limited (a subsidiary of Swiss Re) ("**ReAssure**") and the sale is planned to complete in 2020. As announced on 15 January 2020, the expected transfer date of policies to ReAssure was scheduled to be 6 April 2020. This has been postponed, due to the rapidly changing situation with COVID-19, after the Group and ReAssure jointly approached the High Court to seek a delay to the proposed transfer until the situation is more stable. The sale of the Group's General Insurance business to Allianz was announced in May 2019 and completed in December 2019.

Institutional Retirement

LGRI provides pensions derisking solutions for defined benefit pension schemes and global reinsurance solutions.

Individual Retirement

LGRR helps customers manage their finances in retirement and has a lifetime mortgages business.

As at 31 December 2019, LGRR and LGRI had combined assets of £75.9 billion.

Investment Management

LGIM provides investment management for pension schemes and institutional clients and manages auto-enrolled pension schemes and retail investments. It has a successful real assets investment business. LGIM had assets under management of £1,196.2 billion as at 31 December 2019.

Capital Investment

LGC aims to increase the risk adjusted returns on the Group's shareholder assets and focuses on housing, infrastructure and SME financing. As at 31 December 2019, LGC had £2.9 billion of assets managed in direct investments. Over the whole Group, £25.7 billion had been invested as at 31 December 2019.

Insurance

LGI, with gross written premiums of £2.7 billion for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, provides life insurance products for United Kingdom and U.S. customers.¹ Its United Kingdom group protection business provides insurance cover for employees.

The Group

Despite the evolving situation with COVID-19, the Group remains well placed to deliver strong, attractive growth and returns in its core markets, which are aligned to its six, long-term, structural growth drivers: ageing demographics, globalisation of asset markets, investing in the real economy, welfare reforms, technological innovation and addressing climate change.

Group capital

Capital metrics

As at 31 December 2019, on a shareholder view, the Group had a surplus of £7.3 billion (31 December 2018: £6.9 billion) over its Solvency Capital Requirement, corresponding to a Solvency II capital coverage ratio on a shareholder view basis of 184 per cent. (31 December 2018: 188 per cent.).

As at 16 June 2020, the Group expects the shareholder solvency coverage ratio at HY2020 to be in a range of 162 to 167 per cent. and a shareholder surplus over the Solvency Capital Requirement of circa £6 billion. These estimates do not include the issuance of the Notes as contemplated in this Offering Memorandum and assume unchanged market conditions until the end of June 2020.

As at 31 December 2019, on a regulatory view the Group had surplus Own Funds of £7.436 billion (31 December 2018: £7.767 billion) and capital coverage ratio of 179 per cent. (31 December 2018: 189 per cent.). The Group's Solvency Capital Requirement as at 31 December 2019 was £9.439 billion (31 December 2018: £8.681 billion) and Minimum Capital Requirement was £2.088 billion (31 December 2018: £2.236 billion).

The regulatory structure of the Group's Own Funds as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

¹ The £2.7 billion figure for LGI's gross written premiums excludes £66m of gross written premiums relating to a residual reinsurance treaty following the disposal of the General Insurance business to Allianz in December 2019.

(£bn)	2019	2018
Ordinary share capital (gross of own shares)	0.149	0.149
Share premium account related to ordinary share capital	1.000	0.992
Surplus funds	0.443	0.394
Reconciliation reserve ¹	11.607	11.542
Subordinated liabilities	3.854	3.535
Total Basic Own Funds	17.053	16.612
Restrictions on Own Funds	(0.178)	(0.164)
Total Eligible Own Funds to cover the SCR	16.875	16.448
Total Eligible Own Funds to cover the MCR ²¹³	12.685	12.519

^{1.} Excluding £8m of other non available own funds

Reconciliation of the capital coverage ratio on a regulatory and shareholder basis is shown below:

(£bn)	2019	2018
Excess of assets over liabilities	13.207	13.077
Tier 2 subordinated liabilities	3.854	3.535
Eligibility restrictions	(0.186)	(0.164)
Solvency II Own Funds	16.875	16.448
Solvency Capital Requirement	(9.439)	(8.681)
Solvency II Surplus	7.436	7.767
Regulatory capital coverage ratio	179%	189%
Impact of amortisation of TMTP	-	(4%)
Impact of a recalculation of the TMTP	-	(4%)
Impact of exclusion of the contribution to SCR of With- Profits Fund and final salary pension schemes	5%	7%
Shareholder basis capital coverage ratio (as disclosed in March 2020)	184%	188%

In line with market practice, the Group manages the solvency ratio on a shareholder basis which excludes the contribution that the with-profits fund and final salary pension schemes would normally make to the Group position.

The shareholder solvency ratio is calculated by reducing the Group's Own Funds and Solvency Capital Requirement by the amount of the Solvency Capital Requirement for the with-profits fund and final salary pension schemes.

The regulatory solvency ratio is the position as published in the Group's Solvency & Financial Condition Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. It includes the Mature Savings business and final salary pension schemes.

^{2.} Excluding Own Funds from other financial sector and from the undertakings included via Method 2 – Deduction and Aggregation.

^{3.} Tier 2 funds eligible to meet the MCR are capped at 20% of the MCR, as specified in Article 82 of the Delegated Regulation.

The regulatory capital coverage ratio is the relevant ratio for the purposes of determining whether a Conversion Trigger Event has occurred, whether any Interest Payment is required to be cancelled or whether any redemption of the Notes is required to be deferred in accordance with the Conditions.

Available Distributable Items

As at 31 December 2019, the Issuer had audited retained earnings of £2.8 billion prior to any deduction relating to shareholder distributions in 2020. While the Issuer does not disclose a distributable items number in its annual report and accounts, the last 15 years of audited financial statements (from 2005 to 2019) demonstrate that the Issuer has generated over £2.3 billion of distributable profits (post shareholder distributions) as part of the overall retained earnings of £2.8 billion. The Issuer's Distributable Items from time to time may be higher or lower than the year-end retained earnings position: see the definition of "Distributable Items" in the Conditions and the risk factor entitled "As a holding company, the level of the Issuer's Distributable Items is affected by a number of factors, and insufficient Distributable Items will restrict the Issuer's ability to make interest payments on the Notes".

Management

As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Directors of the Issuer, their functions and their principal outside activities (if any) are as follows:

		Principal outside activities
Chairman	Sir John Kingman	Royal Opera House Covent Garden Foundation (Trustee) National Gallery (Trustee and Deputy Chairman) UK Research and Innovation (Chairman) Tesco Bank (Non-Executive Director)
Executive Directors		
Group Chief Executive	Nigel Wilson	-
Chief Financial Officer	Jeff Davies	_
Chief Executive Officer, LGC	Kerrigan Procter	_
Chief Executive Officer, LGIM	Michelle Scrimgeour	Investment Association (Director) FCA Practitioner Panel (Member)
Non-Executive Directors		
Independent Non-Executive Director	Philip Broadley	AstraZeneca PLC (Non-Executive Director) Eastbourne College (Director and

Principal outside activities

Trustee)

London Library (Treasurer)

Independent Non-Executive

Director

Lesley Knox

Dovecot Studios Limited (Non-

Executive Director)

Genus plc (Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair of the

Remuneration Committee)

The Black Stork Charity (Director)
Grosvenor Group Limited Pension

Fund (Trustee)

National Galleries of Scotland

Foundation (Trustee)

Independent Non-Executive

Director

Toby Strauss

Macmillan Cancer Support (Trustee)

Pacific Life Re Limited (Director)

Senior Independent Non-

Executive Director

Julia Wilson

3i Group plc (Director)

Independent Non-Executive

Director

Henrietta Baldock

Hydro Industries Limited (Non-

Executive Chairman)
Investec plc (Director)
Investec Limited (Director)

Independent Non-Executive

Director

George Lewis

Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan (Non-

Executive Director)

Canadian Film Centre (Director)
Anglican Diocese of Toronto (Director)
United Way of Toronto and York

Region (Member and Patron)

AOG Group (Non-Executive Director)
Cenovus Energy Inc (Non-Executive

Director)

The business address of each of the above Directors is One Coleman Street, London EC2R 5AA.

None of the Directors of the Issuer have any potential conflict between their duties to the Issuer and their private interests or other duties.

Contact Details

The Issuer's registered office is located at One Coleman Street, London EC2R 5AA. The switchboard number of its registered office is +44 (0)20 3124 2000 and its website is https://www.legalandgeneral.com/. The information on the Issuer's website does not form part of this Offering Memorandum.

Description of the Ordinary Shares

1. Share capital

The Issuer's share capital as at the date of this Offering Memorandum comprised 5,965,572,140 fully paid Ordinary Shares of 2.5 pence each.

2. Memorandum and Articles of Association

The Issuer's articles of association (the "**Articles**") were adopted by special resolution of the Issuer on 26 May 2016. A summary of the material provisions of the Articles in respect of the Ordinary Shares is set out below.

3. Object of the Issuer

The objects of the Issuer, in accordance with section 31(1) of the Companies Act 2006, are unrestricted.

4. Limited liability

The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the Issuer respectively held by them.

5. General

There are no limitations imposed by English law or the Articles restricting the rights of non-residents of the United Kingdom or non-citizens of the United Kingdom to hold or vote in respect of shares of the Issuer. The Board may, however, determine that the right to elect for any scrip dividend shall not be made available to (or that other arrangements shall be made in relation to) holders of Ordinary Shares resident in any territory where the Board believes that such exclusion (or alternative arrangement) is necessary or expedient in relation to legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory, or the Board believes that for any other reason the offer should not be made to them.

6. Shares

Ordinary Shares shall rank *pari passu* in all respects with each other and have the same rights (including voting and dividend rights and rights on a return of capital) and restrictions as set out in the Articles.

7. Voting rights

Subject to the Articles and to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the time being attached to any class of shares (as to which there are none at present), the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 shall apply in relation to voting rights. At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) a poll is demanded in accordance with the Articles.

On a vote on a resolution on a show of hands at a general meeting, every proxy present who has been duly appointed by one or more members entitled to vote on the resolution has one vote. A proxy has one vote for and one vote against the resolution if the proxy has been duly appointed by more than one member entitled to vote on the resolution and the proxy has been instructed by, or exercises his discretion given by, one or more of those members to vote for the resolution and has been instructed by, or exercises his discretion given by, one or more other of those members to vote against it.

On a poll vote, votes may be given personally or by proxy and a member entitled to more than one vote need not use all their votes and a member entitled to more than one vote need not use all their votes or cast all the votes they use in the same way.

In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.

No member shall, unless the Board otherwise decides, be entitled in respect of any share held by them to attend or vote (either personally or by proxy) at any general meeting of the Issuer or upon a poll or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings or polls unless all calls or other sums presently payable by that member in respect of that share have been paid.

8. General meetings

An annual general meeting shall be held in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions at such place as may be determined by the Board. Other general meetings shall be held whenever the Board thinks fit or on the requisition of shareholders in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Subject to the applicable statutory provisions, an annual general meeting shall be called by at least 21 clear days' notice and all other general meetings shall be called by not less than 14 clear days' notice or by not less than such minimum notice period as is permitted by the applicable statutory provisions.

Notice of a general meeting must be given in hard copy form, in electronic form, or by means of a website, and must be sent to every member and every director. It must state the time and date and the place of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting. As the Issuer is a traded company, the notice must also state the website address where information about the meeting can be found in advance of the meeting, the voting record time, the procedures for attending and voting at the meeting, details of any forms for appointing a proxy, procedures for voting in advance (if any are offered), and the right of members to ask questions at the meeting. In addition, a notice calling an annual general meeting must state that the meeting is an annual general meeting. Accidental omission to give any notice of a meeting or the accidental omission to send or supply any document or other information relating to any meeting to, or the non-receipt (even if the Issuer becomes aware of such failure to send or supply or non-receipt) of any such notice, document or other information by, any person entitled to receive the notice, document or other information shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

The requisite quorum for general meetings of the Issuer shall be two members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting.

Each director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting whether or not he is a member. The chairman of the meeting may invite any person to attend and speak at any general meeting where he considers that this will assist in the deliberations of the meeting. A proxy shall be entitled to speak at any general meeting of the Issuer.

9. Dividends

Declaration of dividends

The Issuer may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends in accordance with the respective rights of the members, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. Such dividends are known as final dividends and become a debt payable to shareholders when they are approved by the shareholders.

Cancellation of dividends

Any dividend declared shall, at any point prior to its payment, be cancellable by the Board if the Board considers, in its sole discretion, that such cancellation is or may be necessary or appropriate (i) as a result of any applicable law or regulation or (ii) in order otherwise to meet any applicable capital or solvency requirement.

Notwithstanding the terms of any ordinary resolution of the Issuer or resolution of the Board, any distribution declared by such ordinary resolution or resolved to be paid by such Board resolution shall be payable subject in each case to the condition that it shall not have been cancelled by the Directors prior to its payment (whether or not such conditionality is expressly provided for in the relevant resolution). If the Directors act in good faith, they shall not incur any liability to the members of the Issuer or any of them in respect of any decision by the Board to cancel a distribution in accordance with the Articles.

Fixed and interim dividends

The Board may pay such interim dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the financial position of the Issuer and may also pay any dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled by the Board whenever the financial position of the Issuer, in the opinion of the Board, justifies its payment. If the Board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to the holders of any shares for any loss they may suffer in consequence of the payment of an interim or fixed dividend on any other class of shares ranking *pari passu* with or after those shares.

Calculation and currency of dividends

Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide:

(A) all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the share in respect of which the dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated as paid up on the share;

- (B) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the share during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid; and
- (C) dividends may be declared or paid in any currency.

The Board may decide the basis of conversion for any currency conversions that may be required and how any costs involved are to be met.

Method of payment

The Issuer may pay any dividend or other monies payable in cash in respect of shares by bank or other funds transfer system (including, in the case of uncertificated shares, by means of the facilities and requirements of a "**relevant system**" (a computer based system, and procedures, which enable title to units of a security to be evidenced and transferred without a written instrument pursuant to the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 or any relevant regulations made pursuant to the Companies Act 2006)). Such payment may be made to or through such person as the holder (or joint holders) may direct in writing. The Issuer shall have no responsibility for any sums lost or delayed in the course of payment by any such system or other means or where it has acted on any such directions and the making of payment by any such system or other means shall constitute a good discharge to the Issuer.

The Issuer may also pay any dividend by cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument sent by post addressed to the holder at their registered address. Every cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument shall, unless the holder (or joint holders) otherwise directs, be made payable to the holder or, in the case of joint holders, to the holder whose name stands first on the register in respect of the shares, and shall be sent at their risk and payment of the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument by the financial institution on which it is drawn shall constitute a good discharge to the Issuer.

In respect of the payment of any dividend or other sum, the Board may decide, and notify the holder (or joint holders), that:

- (A) one or more of the means of payment described in the paragraphs above will be used for payment and, where more than one means will be used, a holder (or joint holders) may elect to receive the payment by one of the means so notified in the manner prescribed by the Board;
- (B) one or more such means will be used for the payment unless a holder (or joint holders) elects for another means of payment in the manner prescribed by the Board; or
- (C) one or more of such means will be used for the payment and that holders will not be able to elect to receive the payment by any other means.

The Board may for this purpose decide that different methods of payment may apply to different holders or groups thereof.

No interest on dividends

Subject to the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any shares, no dividend or other moneys payable by the Issuer on or in respect of any share shall bear interest against the Issuer.

Amounts due on shares may be deducted from dividends

The Board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to a member by the Issuer on or in respect of any shares all sums of money (if any) presently payable by the member to the Issuer on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the Issuer. Sums so deducted can be used to pay amounts owing to the Issuer in respect of the shares.

Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board for the benefit of the Issuer until claimed. Any dividend or other sum unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the date when it was declared or became due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Issuer unless the Board decides otherwise and the payment by the Board of any unclaimed dividend or other sum payable on or in respect of a share into a separate account shall not constitute the Issuer a trustee in respect of it.

Uncashed dividends

The Issuer may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or to employ any other means of payment, including payment by means of a relevant system, for any dividend payable on any shares in the Issuer which is normally paid in that manner on those shares if in respect of at least two consecutive dividends payable on those shares the cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments have been returned undelivered or remain uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same are valid or that means of payment has failed. In addition, the Issuer may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or may cease to employ any other means of payment if, in respect of one dividend payable on those shares, the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument has been returned undelivered or remains uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same is valid or that means of payment has failed and reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new postal address or account of the holder. Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Issuer must recommence sending cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments or employing such other means in respect of dividends payable on those shares if the holder or person entitled by transmission requests such recommencement in writing.

Scrip dividends

The Board may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the Issuer, offer any holders of Ordinary Shares (excluding any member holding shares as treasury shares) the right to elect to receive Ordinary Shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part, to be determined by the Board) of any dividend specified by the ordinary resolution. The Board may, however, determine that the right to elect for any scrip dividend shall not be made available to (or that other arrangements shall be made in relation to) holders of Ordinary Shares resident in any territory where the Board believes that such exclusion (or alternative arrangement) is necessary or expedient in relation to legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the requirements of any

recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory, or the Board believes that for any other reason the offer should not be made to them.

Dividends in specie

Any general meeting declaring a dividend may, upon the recommendation of the Board, by ordinary resolution direct, and the Board may in relation to any interim dividend direct, that it shall be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and in particular of paid up shares or debentures of any other company.

10. Return of capital

If the Issuer is in liquidation, the liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution of the Issuer and any other authority required by the Companies Act 2006 and every statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) from time to time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the Issuer (the "Companies Acts"):

- (A) divide among the members *in specie* the whole or any part of the assets of the Issuer and, for that purpose, value any assets and determine how the division shall be carried out as between the members or different classes of members; or
- (B) vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of members as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall think fit but no member shall be compelled to accept any assets upon which there is any liability.

11. Capitalisation of reserves

The Issuer may, upon the recommendation of the Board, at any time and from time to time pass an ordinary resolution to the effect that it is desirable to:

- (A) capitalise all or any part of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including retained earnings) at the relevant time whether or not the same is available for distribution; and
- (B) set free for distribution the amount to be capitalised among the members or any class of members who would be entitled to it if it were distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions, on the footing that it is applied either in or towards paying up the amounts unpaid at the relevant time on any shares in the Issuer held by those members respectively or in paying up in full shares, debentures or other obligations of the Issuer to be allotted and distributed credited as fully paid up among those members, or partly in one way and partly in the other.

For the purposes of (A) and (B) above (i) a share premium account and a capital redemption reserve, and any reserve or fund representing unrealised profits, may be applied only in paying up in full shares of the Issuer that are to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up and (ii) where the amount capitalised is applied in paying up in full shares that are to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up, the Issuer will also be entitled to participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares of the relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of members to the distribution will be calculated accordingly. The Board may authorise any

person to enter into an agreement with the Issuer on behalf of the persons entitled to participate in the distribution and the agreement shall be binding on those persons.

12. Transfer of shares

Subject to any applicable restrictions in the Articles:

- (A) any member may transfer all or any of their uncertificated shares by means of a relevant system in such manner provided for, and subject as provided in, the Companies Acts, and accordingly no provision of the Articles shall apply in respect of an uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting of a transfer by an instrument in writing or the production of a certificate for the share to be transferred; and
- (B) any member may transfer all or any of their certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or in any other form which the Board may approve.

The instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly paid share) the transferee. All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be retained by the Issuer.

Registration of a transfer of an uncertificated share may be refused in the circumstances set out in the Companies Acts, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to be transferred exceeds four.

The Board can decline to register any transfer of any share which is not a fully paid share. The Board may also decline to register any transfer of a certificated share unless:

- (A) the instrument of transfer is duly stamped or duly certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be exempt from stamp duty and is left at the registered office (or such other place as the Board may from time to time determine) accompanied by the certificate for the share to which it relates and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the right of the person signing the instrument of transfer to make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is signed by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that person so to do;
- (B) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and
- (C) in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be transferred does not exceed four.

The transferor of a share shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is entered into the register in respect of it.

13. Alteration of share capital

The Issuer may exercise the powers conferred by the applicable statutory provisions to:

- (A) increase its share capital by allotting new shares;
- (B) reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve and any share premium account in any way;
- (C) sub-divide or consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital;
- (D) redenominate all or any of its shares and reduce its share capital in connection with such redenomination;
- (E) issue redeemable shares; and
- (F) purchase all or any of its own shares including any redeemable shares.

Any resolution authorising the Issuer to sub-divide its shares or any of them may determine that, as between the shares resulting from the sub-division, any of them may have any preference, advantage or deferred or other right or be subject to any restriction as compared with the others.

Whenever as a result of a consolidation, consolidation and sub-division or sub-division of shares any members of the Issuer would become entitled to fractions of a share, the Board may deal with the fractions as it thinks fit. In particular the Board may sell the shares representing the fractions for the best price reasonably obtainable to any person (including the Issuer) and distribute the net proceeds of sale in due proportion among those members and the Board may authorise some person to transfer or deliver the shares to, or in accordance with the directions of, the purchaser. For the purposes of effecting the sale, the Board may arrange for the shares representing the fractions to be entered in the register as certificated shares. The transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall their title to the shares be affected by any irregularity in, or invalidity of, the proceedings relating to the sale.

14. Authority to allot shares and grant rights and disapplication of pre-emption rights

The Issuer may from time to time pass an ordinary resolution authorising, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, the Board to exercise all the powers of the Issuer to allot shares in the Issuer or to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Issuer up to the maximum nominal amount specified in the resolution. The authority shall expire on the day specified in the resolution (not being more than five years from the date on which the resolution is passed).

Subject (other than in relation to the sale of treasury shares) to the Board being generally authorised to allot shares and grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Issuer in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, the Issuer may from time to time resolve, by special resolution, that the Board be given power to allot equity securities for cash as if section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 did not apply to the allotment. Unless previously revoked, that power shall (if so provided in the special resolution) expire on the date specified in the special resolution of the Issuer.

15. Variation of rights

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, all or any of the rights attached to any existing class of shares may from time to time (whether or not the Issuer is being wound up) be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths in nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. All the provisions of the Articles as to general meetings will (with any necessary modifications) apply to any separate general meeting, but so that:

- (A) the necessary quorum shall be two persons entitled to vote and holding or representing by proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares), but at any adjourned meeting the quorum is one holder entitled to vote and present in person or by proxy (whatever the number of shares held by the holder);
- (B) every holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be entitled on a poll to one vote for every share of the class held by them (subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any class of shares); and
- (C) any holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote may demand a poll.

The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to those shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking *pari passu* with them or by the purchase or redemption by the Issuer any of any of its own shares.

16. Disclosure of interests in shares

If the holder of, or any person appearing to be interested in, any share fails to comply with any statutory notice in respect of those shares (a statutory notice) within the relevant period (being a period of 14 days following service of a statutory notice) or, in purported compliance with a statutory notice, has made a statement which is false or inadequate in a material way, the Issuer may give the holder of those shares a further notice (a restriction notice) to the effect that, from the service of the restriction notice, those shares (the default shares) will (notwithstanding any other provision in the Articles) be subject to some or all of the following restrictions:

- (A) if the default shares in which any one person holds, or is shown in any register or record kept by the Issuer under the Companies Acts as having an interest in, comprise in total at least 0.25 per cent. in number or nominal value of the shares of the Issuer (calculated exclusive of any shares held as treasury shares), or of any class of such shares (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class held as treasury shares), in issue at the date of service of the restriction notice:
 - (i) the shares shall not confer on the holder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at any general meeting of the Issuer or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the Issuer

or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings:

- (ii) the Board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the shares and the holder shall not be entitled to receive shares in lieu of dividends;
- (iii) the Board may decline to register a transfer of any of the shares which are certificated shares, unless such a transfer is pursuant to an arm's length sale; or,
- (B) if the default shares in which any one person holds, or is shown in any register or record kept by the Issuer under the Companies Acts as having an interest in, represent less than 0.25 per cent. of the issued shares of the class, the shares shall not confer on the holder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at any general meeting of the Issuer or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the Issuer or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings.

For the purpose of enforcing the relevant restriction referred to in subparagraph (iii) above, the Board may give notice to the relevant member requiring the member to change the relevant shares held in uncertificated form to certificated form by the time stated in the notice and to keep them in certificated form for as long as the Board requires. The notice may also state that the member may not change any of the relevant shares held in certificated form to uncertificated form. If the member does not comply with the notice, the Board may issue instructions to change the relevant shares held in uncertificated form to certificated form.

Any new shares in the Issuer issued in right of any shares subject to a restriction notice shall also be subject to the restriction notice, and the Board may make any right to an allotment of the new shares subject to restrictions corresponding to those which will apply to those shares by reason of the restriction notice when such shares are issued.

Any holder of shares on whom a restriction notice has been served may at any time request the Issuer provides (in writing) the reasons why the restriction notice has been served, or why it remains uncancelled, and within 14 days of receipt of such a notice the Issuer shall provide that information.

If after the service of a restriction notice in respect of any shares the Board is satisfied that all information required by any statutory notice relating to those shares or any of them from their holder or any other person appearing to be interested in the shares the subject of the restriction notice has been supplied, the Issuer shall, within seven days, cancel the restriction notice. The Issuer may at any time at its discretion cancel any restriction notice or exclude any shares from it. The Issuer shall cancel a restriction notice within seven days after receipt of a notice in writing that the relevant shares have been transferred pursuant to an arm's length sale (a sale is an "arm's length, sale" if the Board is satisfied that it is a bona fide sale of the whole of the beneficial ownership of the shares to a party unconnected with the holder or with any person appearing to be interested in such shares and shall include a sale made by way of or in pursuance of acceptance of a takeover offer and a sale made through a recognised investment exchange or any other stock exchange outside the United Kingdom).

17. Uncertificated shares – general powers

Subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Companies Acts, the Board may permit title to shares of any class to be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate and title to shares of such a class to be transferred by means of a relevant system and may make arrangements for a class of shares (if all shares of that class are in all respects identical) to become a "participating class" (a class of shares, the title to which is permitted to be transferred by means of a relevant system). Title to shares of a particular class may only be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate where that class of shares is at the relevant time a participating class. The Board may also, subject to compliance with the Companies Acts, determine at any time that title to any class of shares may from a date specified by the Board no longer be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate or that title to such a class shall cease to be transferred by means of any particular relevant system.

In relation to a class of shares which is a participating class and for so long as it remains a participating class, no provision of the Articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is inconsistent in any respect with: (i) the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form; (ii) the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of a relevant system; (iii) any provision of the Companies Acts; and (iv) the exercise of any powers or functions by the Issuer or the effecting by the Issuer of any actions by means of a relevant system.

If, under the Articles or the Companies Acts, the Issuer is entitled to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, forfeit, re-allot, accept the surrender of or otherwise enforce a lien over an uncertificated share, then, subject to the Articles and the Companies Acts, such entitlement shall include the right of the Board to:

- (A) require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice in writing to change that share from uncertificated to certificated form within such period as may be specified in the notice and keep it as a certificated share for as long as the Board requires;
- (B) appoint any person to take such other steps, by instruction given by means of a relevant system or otherwise, in the name of the holder of such share as may be required to effect the transfer of such share and such steps shall be as effective as if they had been taken by the registered holder of that share; and
- (C) take such other action that the Board considers appropriate to achieve the sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-allotment or surrender of that share or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

Unless the Board otherwise determines, shares which a member holds in uncertificated form shall be treated as separate holdings from any shares which that member holds in certificated form. However shares held in uncertificated form shall not be treated as forming a class which is separate from certificated shares with the same rights.

Unless the Board otherwise determines or the Companies Acts otherwise require, any shares issued or created out of or in respect of any uncertificated shares shall be uncertificated shares and any shares issued or created out of or in respect of any certificated shares shall be certificated shares.

18. Borrowing powers

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Issuer to borrow money and to mortgage or charge all or any part of the undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital of the Issuer, to issue debentures and other securities and to give security, whether outright or as collateral security, for any debt, liability or obligation of the Issuer or of any third party.

The Board shall restrict the borrowing of the Group so as to secure (but as regards subsidiary undertakings of the Issuer only in so far as by the exercise of the rights or powers of control the Board can secure) that the aggregate principal amount from time to time outstanding of all borrowings by the Group (exclusive of borrowings owing by one member of the Group to another member of the Group) shall not at any time without the previous sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Issuer exceed an amount equal to ten per cent of the total of members' funds (including minority interests, technical provisions (net of reinsurance and deferred acquisition costs) and the fund for future appropriations as shown in the last audited balance sheet). However, no debt incurred or security given in respect of moneys borrowed in excess of the aforementioned limit shall be invalid or ineffectual except in the case of express notice being given at the time the debt was incurred or the security given that the limit had been or was exceeded.

19. Change of name

The Board may change the name of the Issuer.

20. Forfeiture of shares

If any call or instalment of a call remains unpaid on any share after the day appointed for payment, the Board may at any time serve a notice on the holder requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest which may have accrued and any expenses incurred by the Issuer by reason of such non-payment.

If the notice is not complied with, any share in respect of which it was given may, at any time before payment of all calls or instalments and interest and expenses due in respect of it have been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to that effect and the forfeiture shall include all dividends declared and other moneys payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before the forfeiture. The Board may accept the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited and, in that event, references in the Articles to forfeiture include surrender.

Until cancelled in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts, a forfeited share shall be deemed to be the property of the Issuer and may be sold or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was, before forfeiture, the holder or to any other person upon such terms and in such manner as the Board shall decide. The Board may for the purposes of the disposal authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer to the designated transferee. The Issuer may receive the consideration (if any) given for the share on its disposal. At any time before a sale or disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled by the Board on such terms as the board may decide.

21. Mandatory takeover-bids, squeeze-out and sell-out rules

The Issuer is subject to The City Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the "City Code"). Other than as provided by the City Code and Chapter 3 of Part 28 of the Companies Act 2006, there are no rules

or provisions relating to mandatory bids and/or squeeze-out and sell-out rules relating to the Ordinary Shares.

22. Untraced members

The Issuer may sell any certificated shares in the Issuer on behalf of the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale if:

- (A) the shares have been in issue either in certificated or uncertificated form for 12 years and at least three cash dividends have become payable on the shares during that period;
- (B) no cash dividend payable on the shares has either been claimed by presentation to the paying bank of the relevant cheque or warrant or been satisfied by the transfer of funds to a bank account designated by the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares or by the transfer of funds by means of a relevant system at any time during that 12 year period;
- (C) the Issuer has caused two advertisements to be published, one in a newspaper with a national circulation and the other in a newspaper circulating in the area in which the last known postal address of the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares or the postal address at which service of notices may be effected under the Articles is located, giving notice of its intention to sell the shares and a period of three months has elapsed from the date of publication of the advertisements or of the last of the two advertisements to be published if they are published on different dates;
- (D) so far as any director of the Issuer at the end of the "**relevant period**" (that is, the period beginning 12 years before the date of publication of the advertisements referred to in sub-paragraph (C) above and ending on the date when all the requirements of these sub-paragraphs ((A) (D)) have been satisfied) is then aware, the Issuer has not at any time during the relevant period received any communication from the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares.

The net proceeds of the sale shall belong to the Issuer and, upon their receipt, the Issuer shall become indebted to the former holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares for an amount equal to the net proceeds unless and until forfeited under the Articles. No trust shall be created in respect of the debt and no interest shall be payable in respect of it and the Issuer shall not be required to account for any moneys earned from the net proceeds which may be employed in the business of the Issuer or as it thinks fit. If no valid claim for the money has been received by the Issuer during a period of six years from the date on which the relevant shares were sold by the Issuer under the Articles, the money will be forfeited and will belong to the Issuer.

23. Lien

The Issuer shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all amounts payable to the Issuer (whether presently or not) in respect of that share. The Issuer's lien on a share shall extend to every amount payable in respect of it. The Board may at any time either generally or in any particular case waive any lien that has arisen or declare any share to be wholly

or in part exempt from the provisions of the Articles. The Issuer may sell, in such manner as the Board may decide, any share on which the Issuer has a lien if a sum in respect of which the lien exists is presently payable and is not paid within 14 clear days after a notice has been served on the holder of the share or the person who is entitled by transmission to the share, demanding payment and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be sold. The net proceeds, after payment of the costs, of the sale by the Issuer of any share on which it has a lien shall be applied in or towards payment or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists so far as it is presently payable, and any residue shall (subject to a like lien for debts or liabilities not presently payable as existed upon the share prior to the sale and upon surrender, if required by the Issuer, for cancellation of the certificate for the share sold) be paid to the person who was entitled to the share at the time of the sale.

24. Winding up

On a winding-up of the Issuer, the Ordinary Shares rank equally in all respects and distributions of the Issuer's assets to holders of Ordinary Shares will be made in accordance with applicable insolvency laws.

25. Admission to trading of the Ordinary Shares

The Ordinary Shares have a premium listing on the Official List of the FCA and are admitted to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange's regulated market for listed securities (established in 1698). The FCA is the competent authority in respect of the listing of securities on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market. Price and trading information is available on the London Stock Exchange's website which is continually updated with a 15 minute time delay. The trading prices of the Ordinary Shares and daily trading volumes are published on the London Stock Exchange's website and in the London Stock Exchange's Daily Official List, as well as on the Issuer's website. The ISIN of the Ordinary Shares is GB0005603997. Further information about the London Stock Exchange can be obtained from the website of the London Stock Exchange at www.londonstockexchange.com.

Regulatory Overview

The Issuer is the ultimate parent company of the Group. Its principal activity is managing its investments in its subsidiaries, providing loans to its subsidiaries, raising funds for the Group and the receipt and payment of dividends. In the United Kingdom, the Group's business is subject to FSMA, and the Group is dual-regulated, i.e. subject to regulation and supervision by both the PRA (as regards prudential and organisational requirements) and the FCA (as regards conduct of business requirements). The PRA has direction over the parent undertaking and, as all other subsidiaries in the Group sit directly or indirectly under the Issuer, the PRA acts as the supervisor of the Group. The FCA has responsibility for regulating conduct of business activities carried out in the United Kingdom only.

In addition to FSMA, the Group must also comply with the rules and guidance of the PRA and the FCA under FSMA. Important sources of these rules and guidance are set out in the PRA Rulebook (the "**PRA Rulebook**") and the FCA Handbook of Rules and Guidance (the "**FCA Handbook**").

The Group's principal operations are in the United Kingdom. Companies within the Group may be subject to regulation by government agencies in the jurisdictions in which they operate. The nature and extent of such regulation varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

United Kingdom regulatory environment

The PRA and the FCA have extensive powers to supervise and intervene in the affairs of the firms they are responsible for regulating, for example, if they consider it appropriate in order to protect policyholders against the risk that the firm may be unable to meet its liabilities as they fall due, that the Threshold Conditions (see further below) may not be met, that the firm or its parent has failed to comply with obligations under the relevant legislation or rules, that the firm has furnished them with misleading or inaccurate information or that there has been substantial departure from any proposal or forecast submitted to the relevant regulator.

The PRA and the FCA also have the power to take a range of informal and formal disciplinary or enforcement actions in relation to a breach by a firm of FSMA or the rules in the PRA Rulebook or FCA Handbook, including private censure, public censure, restitution, fines or sanctions and the award of compensation. The PRA (or FCA where relevant) may also cancel or vary (including by imposing limitations on) the firm's authorisation, including in the case of an insurer cancelling permission to write new policies, thereby putting the firm into run-off.

The Financial Services Act 2012 also conferred new powers on the PRA and FCA. For example, the PRA has the following powers that can, in certain circumstances, be applied directly to qualifying parent undertakings where those parent undertakings are not themselves regulated:

- (A) power of direction;
- (B) a rule-making power for information gathering; and
- (C) a supporting disciplinary power to fine or censure a qualifying parent undertaking for breaches of a direction or an information rule.

Permission to transact business

Subject to the exemptions provided in FSMA, no person may effect or carry out contracts of insurance (referred to below as carrying on "insurance business") in the United Kingdom unless authorised to do so under FSMA by the PRA. The PRA has authority to grant regulatory permission to provide insurance for one or more of the classes of business recognised by the EU insurance directives. In deciding whether to grant authorisation, both the PRA and the FCA are required to determine whether the applicant satisfies the requirements of FSMA, including the applicant's ability to meet a set of "Threshold Conditions". These are the minimum conditions that must be satisfied (both at authorisation and on an ongoing basis) in order for a firm to gain and to continue to have permission to undertake regulated activities in the United Kingdom. The PRA and FCA are each responsible for assessing a set of Threshold Conditions. At a high level, the PRA Threshold Conditions require an insurer's head office to be in the United Kingdom, for the business to be conducted in a prudent manner (and in particular that it maintains appropriate financial and non-financial resources), that the insurer is fit and proper and appropriately staffed and that its group is capable of being effectively supervised.

Although there is a degree of cross-over with the FCA's Threshold Conditions, the FCA considers them from a customer perspective and in addition includes a condition relating to the insurer's business model and the need for the strategy for doing business to be suitable for its regulated activities. As dual-regulated firms, insurance companies are required to satisfy both the PRA's as well as the FCA's Threshold Conditions.

Once authorised, in addition to continuing to meet the Threshold Conditions for authorisation, firms are also required to comply with the high level Fundamental Rules (for the PRA) and Principles for Businesses (for the FCA) and the requirements of the PRA Rulebook and FCA Handbook (see further below).

FCA Handbook and PRA Rulebook

The FCA's approach to regulation and the standards it requires firms to maintain are set out in the FCA Handbook. Similarly, the PRA Rulebook sets out the PRA's rules and other provisions. FSMA, the FCA Handbook and the PRA Rulebook and secondary legislation made under FSMA are also used to implement the requirements contained in a number of EU Directives (applicable throughout the EEA) relating to financial services and to insurance businesses in particular.

Solvency II

Solvency II is the EU-wide regime for the prudential regulation of insurance and reinsurance undertakings. Originally adopted by the European Parliament and Council in 2009, Solvency II became effective on 1 January 2016. Solvency II is a framework directive; most of the details of the rules are set out in the Solvency II Regulation. Solvency II has been transposed into national law; in the United Kingdom, this has been done primarily through the PRA Rulebook. EIOPA has issued supervisory standards, recommendations and guidelines intended to enhance convergent and effective application of Solvency II and to facilitate cooperation between national supervisors. EIOPA guidance is not binding on supervisory authorities although there is a 'comply or explain' requirement in relation to the guidance. The PRA has confirmed that it intends to comply with the EIOPA guidelines.

One of the key aims of Solvency II is to introduce a harmonised prudential framework for insurers promoting transparency, comparability and competitiveness amongst European insurers.

Solvency II has three pillars that have guided how the Group manages risk and how it reports to regulators, policyholders and shareholders:

- (A) Pillar I relates to the quantitative requirements and introduces a risk based methodology to calculating the Group SCR. Insurers are required to calculate the level of capital required based on their unique risk profile.
- (B) Pillar II incorporates qualitative governance requirements, including the way the risk management function operates within the business and how key systems and controls are documented and reviewed.
- (C) Pillar III relates to enhanced and standardised disclosure requirements, including increased transparency of the risk strategy and risk appetite of the business.

Solvency II classifies different forms of capital into three 'tiers' which distinguish between forms of capital based on its ability to absorb losses. Tier 1 capital, such as common equity and retained earnings, is the highest quality of capital and must be able to absorb losses on a day-to-day, 'going-concern' basis. Tier 2 capital, such as subordinated debt, is of a lower quality and only needs to absorb losses on insolvency. Tier 3 capital is the lowest quality of capital permitted and has only limited loss-absorbing capacity.

As well as calculating the SCR, insurers must also calculate the MCR. The MCR is the quantity of capital below which policyholders would be exposed to an unacceptable level of risk which would result in withdrawal of the insurer's authorisation by the regulator. Together, the SCR and MCR act as trigger points in the 'supervisory ladder of intervention' introduced by Solvency II.

Subject to the United Kingdom's exit from the EU and any potential changes to United Kingdom legislation, Solvency II will continue to develop the way the Group manages risk and capital. In April 2020, the Issuer submitted its Solvency and Financial Condition Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 to the PRA, which provides a standardised disclosure of performance, risk management and capital position.

Taxation

United Kingdom Taxation

The comments below, which are of a general nature and are based on current United Kingdom law and HM Revenue & Customs published practice, describe the United Kingdom withholding tax treatment of payments of interest in respect of the Notes and the United Kingdom stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax treatment of issue and transfer of the Notes. They are not exhaustive. They do not deal with any other United Kingdom taxation implications of acquiring, holding or disposing of Notes. Some aspects may not apply to certain classes of person (such as persons connected with the Issuer) to whom special rules may apply. The United Kingdom tax treatment of prospective Noteholders depends on their individual circumstances and may be subject to change in the future. Prospective holders of Notes who are in any doubt as to their tax position or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom should consult their own professional advisers. In particular, prospective Noteholders should be aware that the tax legislation of any jurisdiction where a Noteholder is resident or otherwise subject to taxation may have an impact on the tax consequences of an investment in the Notes including in respect of any income received from the Notes. The comments below are made in relation to the Notes prior to any Conversion of the Notes into Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Conditions. No advice is given about the tax consequences of the ownership of any Conversion Shares following a Conversion Trigger Event.

The Notes will constitute "quoted Eurobonds" provided they are and continue to be (i) listed on a recognised stock exchange (within the meaning of section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 2007 ("ITA")) or (ii) admitted to trading on a "multilateral trading facility" operated by an EEA-regulated recognised stock exchange (within the meaning of section 987 of the Act) or, on and following IP completion day (as defined in the European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020), operated by a regulated recognised stock exchange (within the meaning of section 987 of the ITA, as amended from IP completion day by the Taxes (Amendments) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019). The ISM is a multilateral trading facility operated by an EEA-regulated recognised stock exchange and, following IP completion day, a regulated recognised stock exchange for the purposes of section 987 of the Act. Whilst the Notes are and continue to be quoted Eurobonds, payments of interest by the Issuer on the Notes may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.

In other cases, absent any other relief or exemption (such as a direction by HM Revenue & Customs that interest may be paid without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax to a specified Noteholder following an application by that Noteholder under an applicable double tax treaty), an amount must generally be withheld on account of United Kingdom income tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.) from payments of interest on the Notes.

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax

The Finance Act 2019 introduced a new regime for hybrid capital instruments (the "**HCI rules**"). The Issuer will make a hybrid capital election in respect of the Notes pursuant to section 475C of the Corporation Tax Act 2009 and the Issuer believes that the instrument is not issued in consequence of, or otherwise in connection with, any arrangements, the main purpose, or one of the main purposes of which, is to secure a tax advantage. Consequently, the Issuer expects that the HCI rules should apply to the Notes such that they would benefit from the exemption from all stamp duties contained in the HCI rules.

Even if the HCI rules did not apply to the Notes, no UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax should be payable on the issue of the Notes and no stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax should be payable on the transfer of Notes within a clearing system (such as Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) without a written instrument of transfer provided that no election is or has been made by the relevant clearing system under section 97A of the Finance Act 1986 (a "97A election") that applies to the Notes. However, if a 97A election were to apply to the Notes in the future, transfers of the Notes within the relevant clearing system could, unless the HCI rules or another exemption applies, be subject to stamp duty reserve tax, generally at the rate of 0.5 per cent of the consideration given under the agreement to transfer the Notes.

No liability to UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax will generally arise on a cash redemption of Notes, provided no issue or transfer of shares or other Notes is effected upon or in connection with such redemption.

FATCA Withholding

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting or related requirements. The Issuer believes that it is a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including the United Kingdom) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. If an amount were to be deducted or withheld from payments on the Notes as a result of FATCA, the Issuer would not be required to pay additional amounts on account of such deduction or withholding. Noteholders should consult their own tax advisers regarding how FATCA may apply to their investment in the Notes.

Subscription and Sale

Pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 22 June 2020 (the "Subscription Agreement"), the Joint Lead Managers have jointly and severally agreed with the Issuer, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe (or procure the subscription) for the Notes at 100.00 per cent. of their principal amount less commissions. In addition, the Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Joint Lead Managers for certain of their expenses in connection with the issue of the Notes. The Subscription Agreement entitles the Joint Lead Managers to terminate it in certain circumstances prior to payment being made to the Issuer.

United States

The Notes and any Ordinary Shares which may be delivered upon Conversion of the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that, except as permitted by the Subscription Agreement, it has not offered, sold or delivered and will not offer, sell or deliver the Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Issue Date within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells the Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of the Notes within the United States by a dealer that is not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Terms used in these paragraphs have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

United Kingdom

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:

- (a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Prohibition on marketing and sales of Notes to EEA and UK Retail Investors

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retail investor in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision, the expression retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

- (a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); or
- (b) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "IMD"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "FIEA"). Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as amended)) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan.

Singapore

Each Joint Lead Manager has acknowledged that this Offering Memorandum has not been registered as an offering document with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.

Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than:

- (a) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA;
- (b) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA; or
- (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

- (i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
- (ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- (iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;
- (iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- (v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018 of Singapore.

Notification under Section 309B(1) of the SFA and the CMP Regulations 2018: In connection with Section 309B of the SFA and the CMP Regulations 2018, unless otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all persons (including all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA)), that all Notes issued are prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Canada

No prospectus has been filed with any securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Notes have not been, and will not be, qualified for sale under the securities laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof and no securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada has reviewed or in any way passed upon this Offering Memorandum or the merits of the Notes and any representation to the contrary is an offence.

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that it has not offered, sold or distributed and will not offer, sell or distribute any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Canada or to or for the benefit of any resident of Canada, other than in compliance with applicable securities laws and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

- (a) (any offer, sale or distribution of the Notes in Canada has and will be made only to purchasers that are (i) "accredited investors" (as such term is defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions ("NI 45-106") or, in Ontario, as such term is defined in section 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario)) and "permitted clients" (as such term is defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations), (ii) purchasing as principal, or are deemed to be purchasing as principal in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws, and (iii) not a person created or used solely to purchase or hold the Notes as an "accredited investor" as described in paragraph (m) of the definition of "accredited investor" in section 1.1 of NI 45-106;
- (b) it is either (i) appropriately registered under applicable Canadian securities laws in each relevant province or territory to sell and deliver the Notes, (ii) such sale and delivery will be made through an affiliate of it that is so registered if the affiliate is registered in a category that permits such sale and has agreed to make such sale and delivery in compliance with the representations, warranties and agreements set out herein, or (iii) it is relying on an exemption from the dealer registration requirements under applicable Canadian securities laws and has complied with the requirements of that exemption; and
- (c) it has not and will not distribute or deliver the Offering Memorandum, or any other offering material in connection with any offering of the Notes, in or to a resident of Canada other than in compliance with applicable Canadian securities laws

General

None of the Issuer or any Joint Lead Manager has made any representation that any action will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Joint Lead Managers or the Issuer that would permit a public offering of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Offering Memorandum (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any other offering or publicity material relating to the Notes (including roadshow materials and investor presentations), in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Each Joint Lead Manager has agreed that it will comply, to the best of its knowledge and belief, with all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes this Offering Memorandum (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any such other material, in all cases at its own expense. No Joint Lead Manager has been authorised to make any representation or use any information in connection with the issue, subscription and sale of the Notes other than as contained in this Offering Memorandum or any amendment or supplement to them.

General Information

General

It is expected that admission of the Notes to trading on the ISM will be granted on or around 25 June 2020. Notes so admitted to trading on the ISM are not admitted to the Official List of the FCA. The London Stock Exchange has not approved or verified the contents of this Offering Memorandum.

The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in the United Kingdom, in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes. The issue of the Notes was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 20 May 2020.

The yield to (but excluding) the First Reset Date of the Notes is 5.626 per cent. per annum, calculated on a semi-annual basis. The yield is calculated as at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg.

No Significant Change and No Material Adverse Change

Since 31 December 2019, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and its subsidiaries.

Since 31 December 2019, there has been no material adverse change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and its subsidiaries.

Documents on Display

For the period of 12 months starting on the date on which this Offering Memorandum is made available to the public, copies of the following documents will be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the head office of the Group at One Coleman Street, London, EC2R 5AA:

- (a) the Agency Agreement and Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Certificate);
- (b) the Articles of Association of the Issuer;
- (c) the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts, the 2018 Annual Report and Accounts and the 2019 Solvency and Financial Condition Report;
- (d) a copy of this Offering Memorandum together with any supplement of this Offering Memorandum; and
- (e) the Announcement.

Auditor

The accounts of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2018 and for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been audited by KPMG LLP ("KPMG"), Chartered Accountants (members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales) and Registered Auditors (authorised and regulated by the FCA for designated investment business) in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board, and have been reported upon without qualification. KPMG, whose registered office is 15 Canada Square, London E14 5GL, has no material interest in the Issuer.

Litigation

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Offering Memorandum which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or the Group.

Joint Lead Managers transacting with the Issuer

Certain of the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business.

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or Issuer's affiliates. Certain of the Joint Lead Managers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially the Notes. Any such short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of the Notes. The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

Security Codes

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records). The International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) is XS2190956941, the common code is 219095694 and the Classification of Financial Instruments (CFI) is DBFQPR. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of the Issuer is 213800JH9QQWHL099821.

The ordinary shares of the Issuer are listed on the Official List of the FCA and trade on the London Stock Exchange under the symbol "LGEN". The ISIN for the ordinary shares of the Issuer is GB0005603997. Information about the past and future performance of the ordinary shares of the

Issuer and their volatility can be obtained from the website of the London Stock Exchange at www.londonstockexchange.com.

PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE ISSUER Legal & General Group Pic

One Coleman Street London EC2R 5AA United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0)20 3124 2000

TRUSTEE

PRINCIPAL PAYING AND CONVERSION AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

Fifth Floor 100 Wood Street London EC2V 7EX United Kingdom

Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

REGISTRAR

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Agency and Trust Department
Reuterweg 16
60323 Frankfurt
Germany

CONVERSION CALCULATION AGENT

Conv-Ex Advisors Limited

30 Crown Place London EC2A 4EB United Kingdom

STRUCTURING ADVISORS

Barclays Bank PLC

5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf London E14 4BB United Kingdom

Merrill Lynch International

2 King Edward Street London EC1A 1HQ United Kingdom

JOINT LEAD MANAGERS

Barclays Bank PLC

5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf London E14 4BB United Kingdom

Merrill Lynch International

2 King Edward Street London EC1A 1HQ United Kingdom

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square London E14 5LB United Kingdom

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

25 Bank Street London E14 5JP United Kingdom

NatWest Markets Plc

250 Bishopsgate London EC2M 4AA United Kingdom

AUDITOR OF THE ISSUER

KPMG LLP

15 Canada Square London E14 5GL United Kingdom

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer
Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London EC1Y 8YY
United Kingdom

To the Joint Lead Managers and the Trustee

Linklaters LLP
One Silk Street
London EC2Y 8HQ
United Kingdom